Classroom Spaces:

Where the walls stop, and education begins

By Lauren Primuth

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of

the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy (Curriculum and Instruction)

at the UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN-MADISON 2018

Date of final oral examination: 8/13/2018

The dissertation is approved by the following members of the Final Oral Committee:

Mary Louise Gomez, Professor, Curriculum and Instruction Dawnene Hassett, Assistant Professor, Curriculum and Instruction Thomas Popkewitz, Professor, Curriculum and Instruction Beth Giles, Professor, Curriculum and Instruction Richard F. Young, Professor, English

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iv
Abstract	v
Chapter 1: Introduction, Problem Statement and Literature Review	1
Introduction	1
Literature Review	3
Context	6
Language and Perception	8
Figured worlds	
Third Space through Other's Perspectives	21
Education as an Event	24
Space	27
Architectural	31
Time	32
Boundaries	34
Public and Private	35
Binaries	37
Co-constructed Atmosphere	38
Related to Classroom: Conclusion	39
Linguistic Landscaping Introduction	42
Language as a Social Construct of Space	
Linguistic Landscape	
Author and Audience	
Audience	48
Author	51
Language Placement	52
Positioning of Language	
Language Choice	
Language Policy	
Shaping Neighborhoods and Communities	
The Classroom as an Event	
Actors and Agents	61
Interactions Shape the Classroom	
Control in the Classroom	
Classroom boundaries: Real or imagined	67
Classrooms as Communities	
Intersection of Physical and Social	
Conclusion	
Narrative Analysis Introduction	
Narrative and ESL Classroom Spaces	
Narratives vs. stories: Blurred but separate	
Master Narratives	
Narrative	
Hybridity and third space	
Third Space (My definition)	

Story	91
Narrative and Identity	95
Identity and Negotiation	96
Identity through Juxtaposition	98
Memory as Identity Formation	100
Author Function	101
Researcher Identity	103
Time and Narrative Inquiry	
Narrative and counter-stories	108
Narrative and power	
Cultural capital	
Operationalizing Methodology	118
Population	
Method	
Survey	
Interviews	
Analysis	131
Conclusion	
Introduction to Data	134
Survey	136
Demographics	
Duration	
Exploration of Survey Data	141
Who does most of the speaking in your classroom?	
Where do you feel most comfortable learning English?	
What makes is easiest for you to learn in a classroom?	
Did you notice any signs or posters in your classroom?	
Description of the Signs and Posters.	
Meg	
Ly	
Serena	
Selena	
June	
Ellen	
Conclusion	
Chapter 5: Data Analysis-Understanding the stories	
Introduction	
Isolation	
Interactions	
Classroom Organization	
Decorations	
Furniture/ Positioning	177
Movement	179
Class Size	181
Teacher Perception	

Knowledge185
Attitude
Past, Present and Future Classrooms
Past
Present
Future
Conclusion
How do students experience their educational spaces, both the physical space and beyond
the physical?
How does a linguistic landscape help us understand the social construction of space? 199
How does the linguistic landscape include and/or exclude students from the spaces where a
classroom is co-constructed?
How can exclusion be minimized to ensure students are in control of their own spaces and
education?
How can spaces be shaped to meet the needs of students from their own lived experiences?
Conclusion
Bibliography
Appendix A
Appendix B

Acknowledgements

I want to say thank you to my family, blood and chosen, who have all endured this journey with me, spending countless hours hearing me yammering about educational spaces.

To my mom, who was my ever-present cheerleader, emotional support and hopeful pillar in my cloud of frustration. To my dad, who read pages upon pages, saying "It's interesting," and patiently continued to look for errant commas and misspelled words. To my sister, Haley, who helped me print, learned to work the scary stapler and provided endless support. To my sister, Taylor, who listened to me talk about writing, took me shopping and provided needed laughs when writing got too hard. To my cousin and my cousin-in-law, your support and tireless listening has been so invaluable. To my advisor, you are simply an amazing woman! And, finally to my dog, Bentley, who sat patiently on my lap as I wrote late into the night, panicked and frantically erased and then re-wrote, you are my true writing buddy. And, my other dog, Louie, my first emotional support dog, who did not eat any pages, but ate any leftover stress snacks.

Thank you all of helping me through this journey. Each of you shaped me and it helped me shape this work of research.

Abstract

Throughout their own educational history students and teachers understand their position within a space through their lived experiences. Spaces cannot be limited to just the physical, but are a layering of multiple spaces including linguistic, cultural, social, physical and temporal spaces. Each of these layers interact to create a classroom environment that can enable students to experience education as an event and to be co-constructors of their own third space—a space where shared knowledge and meaning-making are possible.

Using the stories of participants in a multi-modal study, it is possible to understand how ESL students perceive of their education from where they began their educational journey, in their home countries, to where they are currently experiencing their education, at Lake City University. The stories were shared through a survey and then further explored through semistructured interviews. This data was combined to create cohesive stories that shared the experiences of each participant. These stories were then analyzed for common themes and what that meant about the perception of the spaces and the impacts these spaces had on the educational experiences of each participant.

Each of these experiences and perceptions from the participants provide the researcher a means to understand how the shaping of space through linguistic landscapes, architectural structures and community formation enable access to the third space. The third space is where students can be active participants in creating a space where their educational goals have the potential to be reached. Understanding the past experiences of participants may help us to create spaces where equity can be created, allowing for all knowledge to be shared and students to construct environments where education is an event rather than a performance of skills.

Chapter 1: Introduction, Problem Statement and Literature Review

Introduction

Educational spaces, known as classrooms, are the prescribed spaces where learning is to occur. However, learning occurs beyond the classroom and for many reasons, the learning done outside of the classroom seems more effective at allowing students to reach their goals in life. For students learning a second language, specifically English for this meta-analysis, the classroom can either reinforce the past educational experiences or diverge from the past educational experiences (Lefebvre, 1991). What this means is that not all students' educational experiences in the classroom have been positive, especially when learning English. The spaces for learning in some ways dictated what students felt about the topics they were learning and the educational space itself. These experiences from the past combine to create a perception of what the future will hold. However, these perceptions of what the future will hold, do not account for the differences that will exist in a new context. These students need to understand that in a new space, education can be different. In order to help student divorce themselves for their past experiences as dictators of their future learning, there needs to be a change made to the space. This change to the space could act as a visual and spatial reminder that the space for education is not the same, so the event of education will not be the same.

The goal of this study is to understand how the perception of educational spaces impacts students, either enabling or disabling them from learning their second language.

The research questions that have guided this study include the following:

1. How do students experience their educational spaces, both the physical and beyond the physical?

- 2. How does a linguistic landscape help us understand the social construct of space?
- 3. How does the linguistic landscape include and/or exclude students from the spaces where a classroom is co-constructed?
 - a. How can exclusion be minimized to ensure students are in control of their own spaces and education?
- 4. How can spaces be shaped to meet the needs of students from the lived experiences of students?

Since this study revolves around the concept of space and there is no fixed definition of educational space, it is necessary to understand the different perspectives that exist to construct space. Educational spaces are often grouped with other social spaces to define them. However, educational spaces are not like other social spaces. Educational spaces are more complex than other social spaces, because learning comprises complex social interactions. In educational spaces, there is an inherent understanding of social order, hierarchical knowledge and many different experiences, which all combine to create complex interpersonal dynamics. The inter-/intra- personal dynamics that are at play create a level of complexity. This complexity is what makes educational spaces different from other social spaces.

In addition to educational spaces being more complex, adding a language as both the topic of study and the mode of study further adds to the complexity of the space. Language in a classroom can be inclusive or exclusive by its use and mere presence. Therefore, the linguistic landscape can be an important shaper of the space. It needs to be understood that this linguistic landscape is part of this social construct, which is manifesting in the educational space, adding to the complexity of the social space.

Although educational spaces are different from social spaces, they share similarities. These similarities are what allow education spaces to be understood as an extension of social space. By extension of social space, it is meant that there are some accepted behaviors within a classroom that are inherently understood, such as you must wear clothing and you must not poke your neighbor in the eye. Beyond these conventions of social spaces educational spaces begin to diverge, because education is an event, where participants: students and teachers, are active participants in reaching the educational goals of not just themselves, but their classmates.

Therefore, this study aims to help us understand educational spaces. Though the focus is on architectural understandings of space and guided by it as my study progressed, it became evident the linguistic underpinnings of space were the most appropriate for my data analysis. By understanding these spaces, it is possible to impact how an educational space may change by drawing awareness to the many complexities that are at play: language, social order, hierarchical knowledge and experiences.

Literature Review

Educational spaces often have been included with explorations of social spaces within the fields of linguistics and architecture. When space has been attended to in educational research, it focuses on the other aspects of space beyond the physical such as figured worlds, context and the third space. There is a hole that exists between the understanding of the educational space, as a space that is more complex than a social space, in architectural theory and linguistic landscaping research, and the physical space in educational research.

Therefore, to understand the space and the experiences of the learners, it is necessary to conceptualize how the context creates the space and the space creates the context. It is within this quest for community-building, sharing and finding where the walls stop, and the learning

begins. The exploration of how the space matters for the learner becomes important as the space enables or disables the goals of the classroom community and the learners. As the community forms their narrative, the experiences of the students shape the space as well as the experiences of the teachers. And, the goals of the space are formed through the experiences of these individuals (Gomez, 2010; Gutierrez, 2008). These goals and experiences of the students matter for how they accomplish their education. The education that students receive is built upon and within the space.

Since the existing research in education explores ideas such as context/s, the figured world and the third space as tools, when talking about space, it is necessary to understand how these three concepts interweave to talk about where students learn. Each of these concepts does not fully describe the spaces where ESL students experience their education. However, the concepts of context/s, figured world and other constructions of the third space, create parts of a definition that will be used to talk about the third space for post-secondary ESL student. So, this meta-analysis will first explore the concept of context and how this idea is integral to the understanding of the third space within this meta-analysis. Then, the idea of figured worlds will be explored to understand how these are utilized to under the difference between the reality that is experienced and the contrived reality that is constructed. Finally, other concepts of the third space will be explored, to show where they fall short and what can be used to construct a definition of the third space that will fit the research and how to conceptualize third space in the future.

Since space is the subject, it is helpful to understand how the idea fits with concepts such as place, location, context, planes and realms. These terms will be used throughout the literature review to situate a definition of space and the third space that will construct how learners understand their educational surroundings. Space is more than just a physical construction. Space is multi-layered and includes "realms" related to temporal, linguistic, social, cultural and the physical (Lefebvre, 1991). It is important to differentiate the idea of place and space. Place is the location and the physical manifestation of a location: a room, a building or a park. Space, here, is meant to encompass the physical and non-physical shapers of a space. This distinction helps to delineate the distinction between these two entities. Physical spaces do not pay homage to the complexity that is inherent within spaces. Spaces are not just places, but they are constructed, interacting with the histories, culture and social traces that are left in the places as time passes (Lefebvre, 1991). This term realms may be interchanged with planes and layers. Each of these realms works to create space.

The educational context is a transparent overlay within every classroom, but its function in multicultural, multilingual space/s needs to be recognized. The educational contexts of classrooms tie with the idea of a figured world and the third space. These ideas form the basis for the multi-layered, multi-dimensional spaces. Figured worlds, third space and context, in a manner, take part in the construction of the space. In some ways, these each function as a layer. It is possible that the figured world and context are parts of the fabric of a space and these concepts are necessary to understanding how students experience their environments. The students are the builders and constructers of space and figured worlds (Holland, Lachicotte, Skinner & Cain, 2001). These environments and spaces are co-constructed and ever changing. The actors', teachers' and students' experiences within these environments and through these figured worlds speaks to how education shapes these students but is also shaped by the students. To ignore any one component, denies the importance of the physical space and its effects on students in terms of their classroom as an experience on the path to education.

Context

Context is an elusive topic. It is like space, surrounding us, but it is not visible in the same sense that a physical space is visible. The contexts that surround us shape us and our experiences. In some ways context could be considered the baggage that each student brings with them into their space of education. This means that their past experiences become fronted as they are confronted with the new experience of acquiring a second language in a space that is as foreign as the language (John, 2016). Therefore, the understanding of a context helps to understand where a student comes from both in terms of their language level but in their experiences within a classroom as well (Dornyei, 2003).

Contexts become important as classroom spaces are discussed. In some ways context dictates wherein and how students engage with the act of education. Context, as Gomez (2010) pointed out, is tied to the students' history, past experiences and community. Experiences define how an individual relates to the context at any given point in time. As it was important for preservice teachers (Gomez, 2010; Pacheco, 2012), so too is it important for students. Their contexts from their lives are brought into the space where they will engage with the new and different.

Although the physical realm is often fixed within a space, the context is mobile and malleable. Since the context changes, it is no surprise that the physical space changes with time (Lefebvre, 1991). A space, as a physical construction, transects times, making it fixed. This means that a physical space is not unchanged, but it exists throughout time, like a pillar. Context, however, is malleable within time. The context is changing as the students change. These changes are reflected in the classroom. These are unlike physical locations, which can withstand time, in the case of famous monuments and buildings, although their appearances may change.

Context is always shifting. It changes as the person changes and as their life provides them with new experiences. In reality, context is never stable.

Therefore, it is important to understand how an individual's previous lived experiences relate to their current positioning in their context. The experiences that an individual has will not change despite the passage of time, but what may change is the perception of these experiences (Andrews, 2014; Nelson, 2001). To understand this, it is helpful to examine nurses' experiences in *Damaged identity: Narrative repair* (Nelson, 2001). In this exploration the nurses' experiences with doctors and other individuals that held more power, dictated how they experienced their reality in their contexts. It defined how they perceived of themselves and other actors within the hospital setting. It created an othering, which was a context of difference within a community of practice. A community of practice consists of individuals who are actors within the same community, working toward the same goal (Holland et al., 2001; Pennington, 2004). This context used the history of the individuals to define what the expectations for a future context might be, thus shaping the context through the past.

Additionally, the relationships of power that were present for the doctors and nurses closely mirrors the relationships between teachers and students within the classroom. These spaces are rife with power dynamics that are enacted repeatedly. And, it is the hierarchical power structure, which shapes the spaces inadvertently (Bourdieu, 1991). These power structures impact the physical space in how the space is organized. In *Discipline and Punish*, the idea of controlling the mind through controlling the body is pervasive "the body that is manipulated, shaped, trained, which obeys, responds, becomes skillful and increases its forces" and "[a] body is docile that may be subjected, used, transformed and improved" (Foucault, 1975, p. 136). This same idea has bled into educational spaces. Students are instructed to sit and listen, become

docile (Foucault, 1975), in traditionally teacher-centered classrooms. They are being controlled through their bodies, so that their minds may be accessed. That is not to say that corporal punishment is being used, as it once was in education, but students are taught to be complacent so that knowledge may be imparted to them. This control of the body as a means to control the mind, has shaped the educational spaces. It, being the control, is expressed as a power relationship. The controller is not just the teacher, but the educators who are higher on the hierarchical educational chain. These power dynamics are shaped through the physical space, where teachers and students are positioned, in a panopticon sense "[t]he panoptic mechanism arranges spatial unities that make it possible to see constantly and to recognize immediately" (p. 200) and "to induce in the inmate [student] a state of conscious and permanent visibility that assures the automatic functioning of power" (Foucault, 1975, p. 201). Such positioning impacts beyond the first physical space to the social, cultural and linguistic planes of space. These dynamics must be carefully considered when classrooms are shaped, because they are creating a context by the positioning of the students within the classroom space. It may appear that students and teachers are subconsciously unaware of their surroundings. However, their subconscious awareness of their positioning within the modalities of space impact the goals of the classroom. These goals in turn have impacts on the contexts of the classroom, allowing or disavowing community formations.

Language and Perception

Language, like context, is present within educational language spaces. Educational spaces often include language in its written and spoken forms. When looking at a blackboard, written language may come to mind, but an educational space is full of language in its many forms. In a classroom, written language may manifest in the form of a poster, rules on the board or the books that litter the space. But, language as a backdrop for a space is not just written but spoken and heard. And, this use of language beyond the written words shapes spaces as much as the writing does (Backhaus, 2009). These linguistic tokens, verbal and written, evolve a space and make them welcoming or unwelcoming, especially in a language classroom. If some languages beyond the target language are used and preferred or dispreferred within the classroom setting, then the space can include or exclude students that do not identify with these languages. This creates a space that does not promote language and learning goals but reinforces the dominant narratives that are present throughout society (Backhaus, 2009; Gorter 2006b; Shohamy & Gorter, 2009). These language narratives allow for the acquisition of language to either be easy or difficult.

Creating the space is just one aspect of language learning. When learning a language one mark of acquisition is to describe the surroundings. This means that students of any level are being evaluated. They are first being measured for their ability to interpret what they see. Then, students are evaluated concerning their ability to articulate their perceptions. In a manner of speaking, they are interacting with their space through their perception of it. Vygotsky (1978) talks about child language acquisition in relation to description of spaces and place. He uses the descriptions of children's surroundings to discuss the development of children in how they describe the spaces around them. This is a mark of development on multiple levels, as children have to master the language to describe objects, which is the first level of development in this case. The second and more complicated measure of development, which is reached sequentially, is not just describing the physical objects in a space, but the actions that are potential in these spaces. This sequential development speaks to mental development and language development. Without sufficient language development, children are unable to produce the concepts that they have reached mentally to talk about the action potential within a space. So, according to

Vygotsky, language development must take place simultaneously with this conceptual, mental development.

These articulations of the descriptions of the spaces for language learners are a mark of language development, but also are a mark of perception within the spaces. Language learners, especially child language learners, are sponges and absorb the environment, turning it into the medium for language development. But their ability to relate the space to themselves and language development speaks not only to their fluency within the language, but mastery of the cultural and social spaces as they adapt their language to be appropriate for their surroundings.

Despite Vygotsky's (1978) research being focused on the development of children and their language, these same markers can be used to understand the language development patterns of adults. Vygotsky's exploration of children's language and conceptual mental development closely mirrors the progression that language learners make when learning their second language. Adults, unlike children have already reached the mental developmental milestones in their native language, but they must also reach the same conceptual and language markers in their second language. To clarify this concept, it is possible to look at how L2 learners of English acquire verb tenses. To start, these L2 learners are first taught the simple present verb tense (ex: I am a woman). The simple present tense talks about states and habitual actions, but these learners initially learn it as a manner of describing the states of people and objects, which requires them to be aware of their surroundings. This allows them to make simple sentences that are descriptive. The next phase in learning the verb tenses of English is the present progressive tense (ex: I am writing). This verb tense is used to describe on-going actions and predict future events. Beginning L2 learners, however, only learn the use of on-going action use for this verb tense. It is a difficult transition for these L2 learners to make initially. And, this distinction closely

mirrors the language and development that children must go through in order to describe and understand their surrounds. Their language use integrates the social and cultural understanding implicit through language use, thus inadvertently shaping the space.

Ultimately, L2 learners like children developing their first language can interpret their surroundings or context but lack the language capacity to externalize what they are developing. By externalizing here, it is meant that individuals do not have the language and grammar, vocabulary or cultural knowledge to express what they are experiencing in a verbal manner of language. This becomes important for understanding context because contextual understanding is necessary for learners to internalize what they have observed and experienced (Vygotsky, 1978). As Vygotsky (1978) states, context and input are essential to development.

In order to develop, a learner must first perceive of where they are in terms of development and where they are physically, socially and culturally. There are multiple contexts that are constantly at work for these L2 learners. Unlike children, adults have the ability to articulate the socially defined constructs that exists within their physical space. They are able to understand what the social and cultural standards are for their given context. Ultimately this helps these adult learners to not just gain vocabulary for that context, but also to judge the appropriateness of that language using metrics that are derived within their contexts.

This makes context a necessary component of adult language learning. In some ways context becomes interchangeable with space here. Space is a context of sorts since it has multiple layers that correspond with their physical attributes, social space, cultural space and linguistic space. But context here resonates more with the tenents of Vygotskian philosophy, which explains that the context of input is just as important as the input itself. Context and space act as the foundations for what and how students perceive of their environments. Space and context become the passive actors within environment that go unnoticed but are important for understanding the undertones that are created and reinforced within an environment (Gee, 2004). Ultimately, space in the physical helps to control how the context is presented and manipulated.

Learners may not understand how where they sit impacts their status within a classroom, thus manipulating their contexts (Fernandes, Huang & Rinaldo, 2011). To provide an example, a student that sits in the back may possess less educational capital because they have created a social standing within the classroom community that says they lack engagement and through stereotyping only the underperforming students sit in the back creating a context, where the teacher and other students view this particular student as "trouble." The context of a mere position in a classroom creates an implicit understanding of the personality of these students. These contexts and spaces produce a narrative that is separate from what the actor of the story might tell. The student may inscribe a narrative that does not include the context and space that is created through an outside observer. But, the context nevertheless does not leave the situation. It can only be re-defined through understanding or manipulation of the space and context. Thus, narrative is wrapped within spaces and context as a manner to define or re-define the existing and promote equity.

The presence of equity becomes essential for a classroom as an event and for engagement to occur. These classroom events are not necessarily tied to the act of educating but understanding within the classroom as a space. These perceptions of the space and the narrative that it tells, speak to how the context within a classroom is shaped. And the shaping of these

12

spaces is essential for creating contexts where each learner has value and attributes to add to the community of the classroom.

The formation of a community is a perception that is reinforced by language (Bhabha, 1994). And, the perception of belonging or not is shaped by the language that is used within the space. These same features also are reinforced through the power dynamics in the classroom that are not just constructed by the teacher's relationship to the students but the students' relationships to each other (Bourdieu, 1991; Markee, 2004; Kasper, 2004; Mchoul, 1978; Wagner, 2004). The perception of placement within a classroom is often expressed through language. And, language and its perceptions can create equity or shut down possibilities for its enactment within a classroom.

Equity is a context that is necessary but needs to be carefully created through coconstruction of the third space, manipulation of the physical space and understanding within the spaces of the social, cultural and linguistic realms. But, equity is essential for engagement to occur in a classroom. Without an environment where a context creates equity students will be limited in their engagement and potentially could disengage from their goals in a classroom.

Figured worlds

To separate context and how it is constructed through the individuals who live their lives within and through the space makes a space just a physical place. Each of these traces shapes the space. And, it is through these left behind traces that individuals take their contexts and meld them with perception to create a figured world, which manifests in classrooms.

And, to truly understand a classroom space, it means that a space can by defined through a figured world. Now, a figured world and a context appear to overlap, and in some respects, they do (Holland et al., 2001; Smagorinsky, 2001; Wang & Hoffman, 2016). Context is built through the experiences of the individuals. It is told and understood. But, it is not singular. A context is a collective (Fernandes, Huang & Rinaldo, 2011). It belongs to the community, much like a narrative belongs to the community (Clandinin &Connelly, 2000). However, a figured world is more individual. It is constructed by the individual. This distinction becomes important to understand the space of a classroom, because it is not just the community understanding of the space that needs to be considered, but also the individual's perspective on their surroundings and placement within it. Their understanding of their placement allows them to explore the paradigms of their realms, positioning themselves to be the individuals they would like to be (Bourdieu, 2003). And, it allows them to shape their learning experiences to meet not just their space, but their goals within the classroom and beyond. A figured world becomes how the students shape the spaces within the many layered realms of a space.

There are two realms that exist within our understanding of lived experiences "a conceptual world that differs for the everyday" (Holland et. al, 2001, p. 50) and "[t]he real and the not-real... are positioned in relation to one another, linked by a thread of ongoing change and perpetual becoming" (Andrews, 2014, p. 6). There is the reality that is experienced in everyday lived experiences and then the experience that is constructed through the context which is envisioned. This relates to the idea of context in two ways because context is both constructed and experienced.

When context is constructed it relates to the idea of narrative inquiry and the stories that are told about ourselves (self-told) and are told about us (other-told). This means that the context that is constructed may or may not match reality (Andrews, 2014; Clandinin & Connelly, 2001). Constructed context is dependent upon the perception of the individual experiencing their reality. This relates directly to the lived experiences discussed by Clandinin and Connelly (2000). A lived experience is one that the individual is actually experiencing. Through the experience they are constructing a context that is integral to their creating their figured world as an expression of their lived experiences (Holland et al., 2001). It is through the construction of a figured world that individuals determine what they are experiencing and begin to navigate their experiences formulating a narrative that makes sense of their daily existence. Within these figured worlds, social and cultural constructions begin to form the infrastructure of what the experiences mean (Holland et al., 2001). It is through the activity that an understanding of the figured world is created.

To understand figured world at their base, it is necessary to understand the pillars of what it means to construct a figured world. Holland et al. (2001) describe figured worlds as:

- 1. Communities of practice
- 2. Constructions of now, but relevant to time and place historically
- 3. Constructions of social hierarchy
- 4. Cohesive communities within larger "mixed" communities
- 5. Structured around activities
- 6. Independent of physical space

Each of these tenets of the figured world helps to describe the construction of such a space from both within and outside of the space. In a manner of speaking a figured world is a type of bubble whereby the actors of the world are simultaneously acting within the world and constructing their world (Pennington, 2004). It is a push and pull that creates the interactions necessary for understanding the space and for the appropriate action within that space. Much like the rules that are socially learned behaviors that shape a classroom, providing an understanding

for what is acceptable and not. These actions are tied to the idea of power and knowledge, because without these concepts the entire infrastructure of the figured world would dissolves.

This construction and pillars of a figured world are integrally tied to the concepts of how power and knowledge are tied within educational spaces. Thus, the individual with the most "desired" knowledge has the most power in the classroom. The relationship between power and knowledge in the classroom is tied through the interplay of cultural capital and symbolic capital (Bourdieau, 1991). Cultural capital is the idea of "knowledge, skills and other cultural acquisitions, as exemplified by educational or technical qualification," but this concept must be combined with the idea of symbolic capital "accumulated prestige or honour" to understand how the idea of knowledge and power interplay within a classroom expressed through a figured world (Bourdieau, 1991, p. 14). These figured worlds then play out in the classroom. It is necessary to understand how power and knowledge relate to the understanding of classroom interactions, which develop context.

"The dominant culture contributes to the real integration of the dominant class (by facilitating the communication between all its members and by distinguishing them from other cases); it also contributes to the fictious integration of society as a whole, and thus to the apathy (false consciousness) of the dominated classes; and finally it contributes to the legitimation of the established order by establishing distinctions (hierarchies) and legitimating these distinctions" (Bourdieau, 1991, p. 167).

Power and knowledge are tied to the structures that rule our communities both of practice and lived communities. This means that power is tied to social status. It is power that provides the social order that has traditionally made classrooms function. There "is" inherent respect for the dominant class: teachers, in educational spaces. This is imposed through concepts such as

cultural capital and symbolic capital. These two forms of capital combine to form power within a figured world. This is how individuals are situated within a social space, which carries over the educational space. "For symbolic power is that invisible power which can be exercised only with the complicity of those who do not want to know that they are subject to it or even that they exercise it" (Bourdieau, 1991, p.164). Students understand their relative positioning in the classroom through their positioning of capital as a function of power.

The easiest manner to understand this is in the business world. The CEO has the most power and because of that has the highest social status within the community of the business. This is then tied to the concept of knowledge. A CEO understands their business better than any other individual who is in possession of knowledge within the company. Much institutional knowledge is housed within the individual with the most power. This is akin to a spoke and wheel metaphor. The center of the wheel holds all of the knowledge; this center is the CEO in the business analogy. The spokes are the workers within that company. They each hold a specific set of knowledge but ultimately relate that knowledge back to the center and the center relates that knowledge back to the spokes of the wheel. It is a reciprocal knowledge of a sort, but the individual spokes only hold their own institutional knowledge. In this way the power knowledge relationship is managed. It allows for power to not only be distributed, but managed. This concept of power relating to knowledge to create a community and therefore a context, helps to create a figured world derived from the action. But this figured world, much like the third space, which will be explored further, is co-constructed.

Without the reciprocity of knowledge between the spokes and center, then the community would fall apart, like the wheel. Each part needs to share the burden of distributing the knowledge and upholding the power dynamics for the system to function. This figured world of shared construction and shared responsibility speaks to the necessity of social constructs defined through action (Holland et al., 2001). This is not to say that this distribution of power is just or preferable, merely that most communities of practice are formed through these means. They are productive and understandable through their structure and co-construction. But, as soon as the reciprocity of shared responsibility is undermined, then the system will not function to its greatest potential. This is similar to how the structure works throughout Discipline and Punish (Foucault, 1975), in that as social and power hierarchies are maintained, the system functions. Without the structures of society and inherent power dynamics, the system would not have the foundation to function "the 'physics' of power, the hold over the body, operate according to the laws of optics and mechanics, according to a whole play of spaces, lines, screens, beams, degrees and without recourse, in principle at least, to excess, force or violence" (Foucault, 1975, p. 177). This is not to say that the structure is without flaws or that the social hierarchy apparent within the current educational or social structure is preferable, merely that a structure is necessary for education to operate. In a manner, it is easier to visualize this as a building. A building has a structure of steel that acts as a skeleton for all of the floors, windows and exterior materials are affixed to and it is through the skeleton that the building stands and withstands the perils of the world. Education, in much the same way, needs this structure to stand and withstand the sands of time and shifts in perception. But this structure is what is the base for the figured world to be affixed. The exterior is merely how the figured world is comprehensible.

The structure and its formation are important to understanding how the community functions. When the structure is unknown the rules of the figured world become obscured and that is when social violations occur. But, it is through the shared understanding and the coconstructed knowledge that a doctrine of society is defined much as John Locke defines through the social contract. And, in this case the doctrine of this society is a community, which is a figured world.

Now that the idea of a community is defined within this social structure and how the rules play out, it is important to understand how this relates to the idea of school communities and educational spaces. Because schools are considered "communities of practice," it is possible to see that they are figured worlds (Bourdieu, 1991; Pennington, 2004). A community of practice relates to the idea that individuals are in a community space, in this case a classroom, where they are all subscribing to the same goal, making them a community of practice. This idea of community of practice comes into play throughout narrative inquiry in Clandinin and Connelly (2000), Andrews (2014), Gomez (1999) to name but a few and within the larger scope of figured worlds in Holland et al. (2001).

Communities of practice are what define the worlds that are lived in and the spaces that are occupied (Bourdieu, 1991). And community of practice begins to define what is meant by a figured world. Ultimately, communities of practice, figured world and spaces (affinity or otherwise (Gee, 2004)) all inhabit the same plane, but each perception of what a space is constructs their actors differently. Communities of practice figured world and spaces are all part of the changing dynamics of classroom spaces. The figured world here is the distinction between perception and reality. And, this distinction forms a boundary. These boundaries are present within educational spaces. It is how dynamics and knowledge are shaped within these spaces.

This idea of boundaries is a thread that is present throughout existing research and this meta-analysis. Boundaries are what help us to define, liberate and make sense of the world both physical and non-physical around us. However, it is important to remember that a boundary is not a hard and fast line between ideas (Tschumi, 1996). It is more like a line on a map. A line on

a map may look impenetrable, but in reality, this line is only perceived through looking at a representation of a physical space. When standing at a border in the physical world, such as the one that exists between Wisconsin and Illinois, there is no line or wall. It is understood that one state ends, and another begins, but this border is blurry. This blurry boundary between states closely mirrors the boundary between perception and reality. The perception of the self and an individual's place within the community is what builds the figured world. And, it is how students understand themselves within their educational environments, positing them not just physically within in the space, but in the community of the classroom. The distinction here between perception and reality is not clearly defined but overlapping. However, this is not to say that a boundary does not exist. Because the two can overlap, intertwine and interact, but remain two separate realms inhabiting the same location. So, this distinction between perception and reality helps to form the figured world and community of practice that resides within the context of a figured world.

But beyond the scope of reality and perception, to the community of practice within the figured world, this all becomes significant in understanding the concept of the third space. The third space is both similar and dissimilar from the figured world. To say the two are equivalent removes the component of shared understanding and co-construction that is ever present in the third space (Benson, 2010; Saudelli, 2012). The third space is fraught with historical narratives and lingering tensions of power and knowledge because the physical space is fixed as time moves (Bhabha, 1994; Lefebvre, 1991). The figured world does not have these same tensions and lingering historical narratives because they are not fixed within the time structure. A figured world does not manifest itself through a physical space, despite being in a physical space. The figured world, like context, often is part of the concept of the third space, but a third space moves

beyond each of these, to a concept beyond time and beyond place. But in order to fully understand the third space, an understanding of how the figured world is developed by the participants, helps to create a lens to understanding contexts. Understanding both figured worlds and context helps to understand the third space as a space of co-construction.

Like many concepts in education, context as constructed through figured worlds is not vastly different from the third space. And, like other intertwined concepts, separating the two results in a nuance of sorts being lost, but when parsed, the two showcase how their formation is ultimately the distinction between the concepts. This allows for an understanding of how context and the third space may be used to frame how and when we use them in understanding the functions and actions within a classroom space. The construction of a third space and the understanding of context may be witnessing the same classroom as an event, but the perspective will vary greatly, since the two have different roles. Third spaces are constructed so there is an actor component necessary for their formation, whereas context is understood as a passive concept. This distinction, although small, helps to frame the theory behind understanding the role of students in these ever-shifting events and environments.

Third Space through Other's Perspectives

To understand space, it is necessary to think of a classroom as a sort of topography, a kind of layered map if you will. These maps have many layers each a transparent film overlaying the next to create a sort of dimension on the flattened page. These dimensions speak to how the topography, when drawn and explained becomes a flattened version of itself. This mirrors the dimensions that are present in a classroom. A classroom is not a single layer: flattened, whereby students in their multi-dimension forms are implanted to "learn." This thought process on many

levels degrades the complexity of the classroom topography and environment that is continually constructed, negotiated and re-constructed.

It is within this construct of classroom space as a topography of multilayered dimensions that the concepts of hybridity and the third space emerge (Bhabha, 1994). Although there have been many who have explored the third space and what it means for the educational world, none have tackled what the third space means in constructing spaces from the backdrop of education: the classroom.

The classroom as a physical place is always seen, but rarely acknowledged. It tends to literally fade into the background. However, these spaces where students learn needs to be explored for the impact it may have on students. Perhaps through the negotiation of the third space and the creation of a hybrid world, students and teachers can make the spaces into something that is less negative. Rather than it being a place that just exists and is dealt with, but it becomes a third space where wonder and engagement are possible through the making of an educational environment where co-construction can occur and re-define social boundaries inherent in the classroom. It is through education as an event and product of co-construction between teachers and students and manipulation of the physical realm that engagement for students can occur.

In order to fully understand what the third space and hybridity means in relation to the classroom environment, it is necessary to look at the multiple perspectives that have already have examined and what the third space means in their contexts. The third space is ultimately not a physical space, it is a conception of where ideas, information and negotiation can occur (Aaen & Dalsgaard, 2016). It is a blended land where there are no walls, but constructions of expectation and negotiations of the complexities that continually change when education is evolving.

The third space is defined differently depending on the field and the context. The fact that the third space is malleable depending on its context speaks to the nature of the third space. The third space is a type of hybridity (Bhabha, 1994). It is an intensely flexible entity that allows it to be constructed and negotiated to meet the needs of the individual who is exploring it. That is not to say that any of the definitions that will be explored are wrong, merely that they are not the correct fit for the context: classroom spaces as events in education environments. The scope of the third space is large, which means that the function will change. The third space depending on the definition that is used can range from a tool (as seen in Gutierraz's work) to a physical manifestation (Lefebvre, 1991; Tschumi, 1996). It can also be a blurred boundary that exists beyond the realm of the physical into a cultural space seen through linguistic landscapes. The definition for the third space is incredibly important for understanding what the goal will be for the participants.

In the field of education, specifically literacy, the third space is defined through a more Vygotskian perspective, where the third space is not what an individual knows, but what they will know with the help of a tool (Gutiérrez, 2008; Vygotsky, 1978). In the post-colonial, poststructural world, the third space revolves around the idea of negotiation. It has nothing to do with a physical space, but entirely with the mental negotiation of time and cultural lineage (Bhabha, 1994). Finally, architectural theory explains the third space as a melding of the physical and nonphysical, the social and cultural constructions within a space (Lefebvre, 1991; Tschumi, 1996). Each of these conceptions of the third space and their impacts on students delves into the importance of the third space and its construction on educating as an event.

Although each of these spaces has a use within a specific context, the context that is being constructed within the scope of this research will fall within the realm of hybridity, where pieces of the definitions will be used to create a third space definition that borrows from multiple fields. It will have ties to the traditions constructed in literacy but will also speak to the disenfranchised individuals that Bhabha (1994) uses within his construction of the post-colonial narratives. In addition, the architectural construction of the third spaces becomes incredibly important as the physical melds with the social construction of space. The hybrid nature of the definition will speak to the co-construction inherent within the third space and how individuals experience it "neither the one nor the other" (Bhabha, 1994, p. 25).

Education as an Event

Each of these definitions, figured world and context, interweaves to create a new definition of the third space. The third space is a tool of sorts (Gutiérrez, 2008; Vygotsky, 1978). It is a tool in the sense that it is where co-construction can occur. It is not the traditional notion of a tool as in the "Zone of Proximal Development" (Gutiérrez, 2008; Vygotsky, 1978). This tool is where the knowledge is shared like a vessel. And, it is the vessel like nature that helps to transport ideas, that makes the third space tool like. Without the tool like nature, it would not be possible to co-construct knowledge. It is architectural because of the transactions that occur between the physical, cultural, temporal and social realms (Bhabha, 1994; Lefebvre, 1991; Tschumi, 1996). Each of the definitions provides a facet for understanding how the third space fits into the classroom space. It is the amorphous layer that touches all other aspects of space. It is where students and teachers "play" when constructing their space. It is where learning is not a chore, but an event of co-construction.

The third space is a common subject of talk in education and beyond the field. It has become a buzzword of sorts delineating this amorphous concept of where students "learn." But this term, which is ever present in educational research from literacy studies to language studies to math has an ever-revolving door of definitions. However, these definitions all hold truth when dissecting how space beyond just physical concepts become integral to student engagement within the spheres where their learning is an event and they are not just passive participants but actors within these multilayered realms.

The concept of space plays well with the conception of the third space, but not all of the definitions, which have been constructed to fit with the idea of educational spaces for language learning, align with the idea of a third space being co-constructed through distributed expertise and manipulated through modulation of the physical realm (Brown et al., 1997). Some of the definitions focus merely on the concept of a third space as an extension of tool use (Vygotsky, 1987) rather than the non-physical realm, which is drawn in research related to linguistic landscapes and architecture. To truly define a third space in all of its complexity, it is necessary to understand the base of what is meant by space, educational space and the third space. Ultimately, the third space is a realm that is comprised of the physical and non-physical features that define an environment (Aaen & Dalsgaard, 2016; Burns, 2009). Space bleeds into the realm of virtual and Gee (2004) argues this concept helps define space.

Space is where interaction occurs, and play is free to develop. And, it is through interaction that a context is defined within the realm of society and culture (Vygotsky, 1978). Play is where discovery meets experience to create a new understanding (Dewey, 1938). These foci of interaction and play help define what is meant by education being an event, which unfolds within a space. The environment then becomes the backdrop for understanding wherein these intersections occur. Intersections are where space is defined and moves beyond the binaries. Space is multimodal and multidimensional. What is meant by multimodal is that space is not only physical but virtual (Gee, 2004) and technology and its iterations beyond the smartphone and computer, but in how Foucault (1984) conceptualizes technology as innovation beyond device is imperative to understanding how the multimodality of classroom space comes into being. What is meant through the designation of multidimensional is how spaces cannot be defined through two dimensional renderings of a space, as in architectural plans, or even in the concept of the third-dimension, where lived experiences take place, but in the interactional realms of possibility. Multidimensional is more robust and adaptive to changing paradigms and the fluctuations of reality.

But, in considering how these dimensional spaces come into being it is best to define through what is and what is not, understanding the binaries can and will be problematic. Space is both fixed and not fixed. It ties to communities of practices (Bourdieu, 1991) and figured worlds (Holland et al., 2001), but it is subtly different from each of these. But, each of these concepts weave together to form a third space whereby students are engaged in becoming fully autonomous learners, students and actors in the world of education. The third space is where learning occurs and does not belong to any dichotomy of terms "a language of learning makes it particularly difficult to grapple with questions of purpose" (Biesta, 2010, p. 5). A third space is never fixed but always in flux, influenced by its actors and the changes to a physical landscape. It is just one dimension in the multilayered nature of space.

Space

In order to understand an educational space, it is necessary to begin at the very basic level of what is a space. It seems like a very obvious answer as everyone is currently residing in a space, but the difficulty lies in what makes a space and what makes a space different from a figured world or a community of practice or a context. Within the discussion of figured world and community of practice there is an underlying concept of membership (Bourdieu, 1991; Gee, 2004; Holland et al., 2001). The idea of a membership can be problematic because not all individuals who are in a space feel as though they are members of the same community (Gee, 2004). A space does not require membership, but a constructed educational space requires individuals to "buy-into" the space. There may be different levels of membership within a space and different levels of engagement. But there needs to be some of both of these in order for an educational space to be constructed effectively. It is important to also note that there may be multiple communities within a classroom space as well as many different communities of practice that are perpetually being constructed and negotiated (Pennington, 2004). But there is a larger community that may dominate the classroom and that is the classroom community, which the students and teachers construct through distributed expertise (Brown, 1992; Brown et al., 1996; Wenger, 1991). The knowledge that is shared between the teachers and their students and vice versa is transactional (Rosenblatt, 2005) and it is this shared understanding that makes a community of belonging. Without this transaction, the community could not be formed because there would not be "buy-in."

So, space is the housing places for figured worlds, community of practice and context. A space is larger in scope than these other components of environment. But in order for a space to

be more than a physical place, it is important to understand the components of space. Gee (2004) talks about spaces as including each of the following:

- 1. A portal
- 2. A shared interest
- 3. Conventions of interaction
- 4. Shared knowledge or distributed expertise

Gee (2004) defines space as having these components that are its foundations. So, it is important to understand the function of each. A portal is a manner to enter and/or exit a space (Gee, 2004). This would act like a door in a physical space, but it could also be a window. This becomes more complicated when a non-physical space is being discussed such as a third space. The portal is constructed through individuals being brought into the community and given a voice to express their opinions or ideas. This portal is woven with the idea of a shared interest and can be seen in virtual spaces, such as online community games (Gee, 2004).

However, shared interest in a classroom does not equate to a community, since the shared interest is bestowed upon students by the instructor (Gee, 2004). This means that despite sharing the same physical space, not all individuals will feel that they are part of the community. This idea of community building to access learning is dependent upon construction of a third space, wherein knowledge can be co-constructed and shared (Brown et al., 1997). A third space appears to be a means of join students physically in classroom to promote the idea of community.

Although this portal is not the only means to access an environment, it is a means to creating the foundation for a community in the classroom. If equity is developed within the physical spaces of a classroom, it is possible that this equity could and would transfer to a more metaphoric third space. And, this transference from the first to the third would facilitate a

community atmosphere, which is necessary for a shared interest to be formed, but also for shared knowledge or distributed expertise to be constructed (Gee, 2004).

The idea of shared knowledge and distributed expertise is essential for communities of practice to be formed (Brown et al., 1997; Holland et al., 2001). Distributed cognition is the idea of shared knowledge that is constructed by participants (Brown et al., 1997). In any community there are experts and novices. Each individual is an expert in their specific area and each individual can be a novice in any other area. It is through distributed cognition that new knowledge is created (Brown et al., 1997). In a traditional classroom the expert/ novice relationship is the shared relationship between teachers and students. But, this hierarchical power/ knowledge relationship is challenged in a classroom space in the post-secondary world and can be challenged within any educational setting. And, it is through the recognition of the reorganization of knowledge distribution and the recognition that power dynamics are not entirely hierarchical that a community can be formed within a classroom. Ultimately, this may be done through the manipulations of the shared third space. And, this manipulation can only be accomplished through the sharing of knowledge in classroom spaces and the recognition that all types of knowledge are privileged, not just those ideals that are held by the individual with the most power (Brown et al., 1997).

The idea of shared knowledge is a pillar in the formation of the third space in creating a classroom that is progressing toward shared goals. Students have different skill levels and these skill levels are shared and explored giving credence to the different types of knowledge within the classroom and creating environments where equity is constructed. And, it is through this equity in knowledge and the sharing of expertise that students gain social capital within the classroom (Bourdieu, 1991). Having cultural capital within a classroom creates a community, but

29

also redistributes the cultural wealth independent of the social capital that exists for these students beyond the walls of the school and classroom. When a community is created there is an interactional code that is created, and the students and the teachers subscribe to this code.

An interactional code or as Gee (2004) describes it conventions of interaction govern the classroom behaviors of students and teachers. However, these rules are created and re-affirmed through behaviors and their responses from other members of the classroom community. Ultimately, this means that the social capital is assigned within this space and the "wealth" is redistributed so that there may be less bias within the classroom space. This is essential as students need to move beyond their stations outside of the classroom and reassert their places within these newly defined spaces. This allows these individuals to break free from their positioning in the outside world and gain the knowledge that they need. When the interactional code is re-created and social capital is re-distributed students understand that their knowledge and experience have value. And, when they are recognized for the value that they may bring to a space for education, then these students are more apt to subscribe to the community of practice and form a community within the walls of a classroom. Through this community formation, education as an event can occur. But as always, the question remains of how to create these types of third spaces. It is through re-distribution of cultural capital, shared community spaces, a manner to access these spaces and potentially the re-designing of a physical space.

Re-designing a space changes the story that is being told within the walls of a classroom. And, students and teachers may begin to understand how their positions within a society are not mirrored within the community and third space that is constructed in a classroom. Students and teachers will begin to redefine their understanding of what it means to participate in a classroom as an event and education as a means to change their narrative.
Architectural

As has been explored, classrooms are not just places, but spaces that are shaped and shared by many individuals. These individuals in the classroom happen to be students and teachers. And, few recognize how complicated a classroom is just by looking at it devoid of the multilayered overlays that a community brings to a space. Space is a multilayered construction, never more so than in a classroom, where language is being taught. When space is mentioned beyond the context of theory, it is most often associated with the physical construction of a place. It is walls and items within a space that give a space its meaning to the outside observer. However, this is a limiting view of what architectural space means. To limit a space to its physical construct only defines what a space, perceived of as a place, can be observed as and its intended use (Lefebvre, 1991). For example, a classroom appears to be a place for learning, where the teacher rules and the students follow apt and ready for knowledge. But, this can be turned sideways when students are allowed to hold the floor and define their own learning as Dyson (1997) explores. Students are allowed to construct their own forms of literacy, teaching others the value of literacy and what it means to be literate. Recognizing that places are not flat but dynamic, changing as the viewpoints vary.

Dynamic perception of spaces allows for a space to be open to changing a narrative of what the intention of a space may be used for. And, this kind of viewpoint assumes that places are interacting with the many dimensions beyond their physical to create spaces. Some of the components that interact within the construction of space are the elements of time, history, context, culture, society, social interactions and most importantly, people. To ignore these facets of a space is to flatten the robust interactions that are at play within these spaces. Spaces like literacy are transactional, giving and taking to create a co-constructed knowledge unique to the space (Rosenblatt, 2005).

Time

As will be discussed in more depth in a later chapter, time is a shaping force. It shapes the narratives that individuals tell, but also shapes the perceptions of places that people encounter thus impacting the stories they may tell within a space. When these stories are told, they shape the space into a function that is appropriate for the space's place in the historical narrative. This applies to how education has evolved, changing not just the interactions of the classroom, but the physical arrangement as well.

To understand how education has changed over time, it is important to think of the great thinkers who have shaped education and the movements in education. The mind was once perceived as a muscle that must be trained to retain information (Pinar, Reynolds, Slattery & Taubman, 2008). The classroom then changed to a teacher-centered approach that focused on imparting knowledge to empty vessels (Pinar, Reynolds, Slattery & Taubman, 2008). Finally evolving to more student-centered approaches that ranged from experiential learning, to cognitive approaches, to approximations of authentic tasks (Pinar, Reynolds, Slattery & Taubman, 2008), each of these evolutions has shaped education. But, what has continued to lack as evolution in education has occurred, is the classroom. The classroom has remained relatively the same. It is as if the linear time has passed, education and its many new iterations have occurred, but a classroom as a physical organization has not changed. It is always: desks, notebooks, pencils, teachers, students and a board. It may be time to allow the linear progression of time to change the landscape of where education occurs to meet the needs of a changing education era.

If buildings are allowed to evolve, so too should education. For example, let us assume that a building passes through linear time. The building stands in time and the time moves around it. The building does not change in the sense that it is still a structure that is standing. The context around the building changes (Lefebvre, 1991). The people that interact with the building change. Their values may be different, and their goals may be different. Ultimately, the interaction between the building and the people will change the building. There will be a legacy that is left within the building. The narrative of the building, however, will change. The atmosphere and aura of the building will change. For example, warehouses as buildings still stand. They once housed industrial aged technology and were pillars of the industrial revolution but have changed to house hip millennials as lofts. The building interacts with time, existing as a pillar, but forever being changed by the passage of the time and the interactions with the contexts that change as linear time passes (Lefebvre, 1991).

In viewing a physical space as just a structure, it does not speak to the multi-dimensional nature of the space. A classroom that has not progressed remains just a place, not a space. A space that is physical is not just a structure, but a space for interaction. A physical space interacts with time. It engages with the historical realities that pass through it and by it. It creates a legacy for a person in the current time that inexpiably links them to past individuals who have stood in the same place. The context may change, and the physical decorations differ but the space as a structure creates a passage through time that links the past and present (Foucault, 2003;

Lefebvre, 1991). The history makes the space and changes the space from just a structure to an event through the passage of time.

Boundaries

Time is a boundary, in much the same way, a wall is boundary in a classroom. However, time is not an impenetrable boundary as a wall is. Time is a permeable boundary that allows for play in the remembrance and flexibility in the shaping of the future. And, education as an evolution of the changes in theory, needs to move beyond the boundaries. It needs to take the walls around what is rigid practice in lieu of allowing for flexibility within the boundaries. In order to change these boundaries within the timeline of education, the shaping of a physical space can allow for changes in social capital (Bourdieu, 1991) and open a portal into a community (Gee, 2004). These changes allow for the boundaries to act as lines on a map not roadblocks to education.

Although it has been understood that education is pervasive throughout society, the many boundaries and gatekeeping devices have not allowed it to reach all students equally. In order for it to truly reach every possible student, it needs to be recognized how education does not start and stop in a classroom, but is part of a society, culture and community (Dyson, 1997). Education ultimately blurs the boundary between public and private spaces. Linguistic landscapes, the spaces where language is constantly influx and is represented through written and verbal means, defining spaces as belonging to different language groups, which ignores the boundary between public and private (Burns, 2009). Public and Private

The idea of public and private spaces is important to understanding classroom dynamics because public and private are inclusive and/or exclusive of students. Ideally, classroom spaces would be public spaces, welcoming all to contribute. All spaces can be public and private allowing for inclusivity and exclusivity. But, a classroom needs to encapsulate both the public and private dynamic, making them open, creating spaces for social interaction (Burns, 2009). These spaces could enable students to grow and express themselves. However, spaces for education tend to blur what is public and what is private.

Since public and private spaces do not appear to have a clear demarcation such as library is a public space, but the area where a person is sitting becomes a private space. This blurry boundary often defines how public and private interact. So, to say that schools are the blurring of private and public spaces stems not just from the students who have private lockers or desks in public spaces, but it is changed by the interaction of topics that are covered in education. It is important to understand that common spaces, those that are produced in education, are not free spaces (Burns, 2009). This means that spaces for education may be shared, but that does not make them free of regulation. Classroom are tightly bound to social constructions. And, these constructions create a border around a space making it inclusive by rejecting hegemony or exclusive by reinforcing hegemonically dominant narratives (Bhabha, 1994; Burns, 2009). But it is these social constructions which are blurring in a classroom that make a classroom both a free space and a conscripted space.

As teachers and student begin to recognize how a space can reinforce or reject these norms which are instilled in society but emphasized in education, do classrooms becomes the environment for changing narratives. And, these narratives can be changed through the redefining of social narratives within private spaces that gain strength to move beyond the small scope of a classroom to a more dominant narrative found in a public shared spaced. This same evolution of narrative is constructed through linguistic landscapes, which are a manifestation of language on physical structures (Backhaus, 2009). And, accessing a first space: the physical, is just a portal to access the third space: co-constructed knowledge (Gee, 2004). A classroom is a physical portal that acts a means to access the third space. But it is through the understanding of the dichotomy of the public and private binary that classrooms become the ground for the minority in the form of English as a Second Language (ESL) students to change what their education story includes and how they define themselves in the public space.

This understanding of common not being equivalent to public/open spaces, defines how education blurs this murky area between public and private. Education is not just about the regurgitation of facts, ultimately schools work to make education practical, defining societal norms and imparting cultural values. This blurring is especially true within English as a Second courses. The subject is the medium and the subject often overlaps with the dominant language's culture. To clarify, if a student is learning American English, then the values of American culture are being transmitted along with the language. So, the blurring of public and private becomes the point of convergence. The public message is the language, but the private becomes an overlay as students learn what behaviors are preferred and dispreferred within their American classrooms. For example, interaction is encouraged as well as discussion of topics. The students' expectations are to be active within their classroom spaces. For some cultures, this is a drastic departure from their educational upbringing. And, here this blurring of public and private is one wherein students engage in the event that is education, making the third space and its changing definition more important. And, to recognize the classroom as an access point becomes pivotal to

understanding how the ever present, but rarely recognized place helps students to affiliate and include or disaffiliate and exclude.

Binaries

Spaces are often defined through what they are not. This means that a sort of binary is constructed to define where individuals learn and where they experience their language environment. Gutiérrez (2008) points out the binary that is constructed for marginalized students in the K-12 system is one wherein they neither fit into the community of their home nor the community of their classmates. She makes a case for the distribution of the spaces as home and classroom. Meaning that students and teachers need to carve out a space wherein they belong. A classroom is a perfect space for such re-definition in a binary if the environment is created where students are the focus and the teacher is the facilitator (Moursund, 2003). When a classroom refines the binary that students may have felt previously, it changes their engagement in the classroom and can make them active participants in their learning rather than passive vessels (Krajcik & Shin, 2014; Thomas, 2000). One way to manipulate these binaries is to change the hierarchical power dynamic by changing the physical space of the classroom (Bourdieu, 1991). Despite these binaries creating a black and white distinction between what spaces are intended for and their actual use, the manipulation of the space can change the affiliation in the space. Ultimately these binaries create a space that exists within the walls. But binaries are social constructs, which can only be modified when attention is drawn to them.

Many social constructs are reinforced through language and the landscape that surrounds the language. In cases where there is an official language for a country, the landscape prioritizes the dominant or preferred language, whereas the minority language is scrubbed from the landscape both physically and metaphorically (Backhaus, 2009; Cenoz & Gorter, 2006; Shohamy & Gorter, 2006; Spolsky, 2006). This narrative creates a binary of sorts that perpetuates the social constructions in society. To provide a more concrete example, think of places where the minority population or dispreferred population is trying to gain power, an example of this would be Israel. The Palestinian population and Israeli populations are perpetually battling for linguistic, cultural, social and physical space (Gorter, 2006a; Gorter, 2006b; Pennycook, 2006; Trumper-Hecht, 2006). This battle for linguistic space mirrors the ongoing social battle and even fuels the problems in the society. A binary is created between these two warring populations. And, this binary is what inadvertently creates an us and them narrative.

Such binaries are perpetuated in the ESL classroom as new information that is culturally specific is valued above the previous knowledge from the home country's culture and society. If such knowledge is continually condemned, it creates an environment where minority students (ESL) are less valued—even liminal (Burns, 2009). They may hide in plain sight by blending into the physical landscape of a classroom, i.e. hiding in the back of the room. Such binaries reinforce cultural and social narratives. It becomes the role of the classroom community to remove the binary, reject the hegemony and move beyond the limiting view of two to pluralistic acceptance (Gutierraz, Baquedano-Lopez, Alverez & Chiu, 1999).

Co-constructed Atmosphere

One way to move towards pluralistic acceptance is through co-creating an atmosphere that has buy-in and promotes equity. The idea of equity within the classroom space is one that needs to be actively attended to. Teachers and students need to be aware of the inherent hegemonic constructions that are at play within the spaces where learning is to occur. Benson (2010) explains that the third space can be a space wherein the disenfranchised can have a voice. It is through the third space and the co-constructed knowledge that multi-directional learning can occur. As Benson notes, "[a] teacher is not the sole conveyor or producer of knowledge. Students have control of the learning process as well" (2010, p. 556).

The idea that students have control over their learning process can only ensue if and only if there is equity in the classroom. One way to ensure equity within a space is to produce an environment that is safe (Schamroth Abrams, 2012). This means providing agency to the individuals within the space and allowing them to share without fear of persecution for their opinions being disparate from the majority opinions (Benson, 2010). Such opinions although not always received well can be the means to innovation.

In order to redefine this social interaction, this understanding is necessary. And, to change the social order within a classroom space to allow for the co-construction of ideas and knowledge is to utilize the third space. But, as has been mentioned previously, there needs to be a portal to access this new concept of a third space. It needs to change the narrative that has been perpetuated within student's previous educational histories, where the teacher is the conveyor and producer of knowledge (Aaen & Dalsgaard, 2016). One way to do this is to radically change how the classroom physically looks to help students and teachers draw the line between past and present, creating a boundary. This boundary must be constructed not just by the teacher but the students to promote the new dynamics that are being instilled within the classroom.

Related to Classroom: Conclusion

Classrooms are the mediating spaces for students to construct their identities. They are the spaces that allow the students to discover and learn in an ideal world or they can reinforce all of the negative stereotypes about them that exist beyond the walls of the classroom. The boundaries that exist around the classroom in the form of walls is the physical, but the social and cultural boundaries that are constructed by the actors (students and teachers) within the space are able to simultaneously exclude and include. There is the capacity with the co-constructed social and cultural spaces to make the space one where possibility abounds, and the traditional power dynamics can be mitigated, excluding the external factors imposed by other cultures and society beyond the boundaries of the space. Such inclusive practices can be encouraged through the formation of a portal to the third space (Gee, 2004), which allows for community formation and free spaces (Burns, 2009; Gutiérrez, 2008).

These spaces implicitly can be shaped by the creation of public and private spaces that allow for language expressions. These expressions of language enable students to feel the safety to make mistakes, but not be persecuted for their challenges. This is essential as language classrooms need to be inclusive to allow for expression in any and all language/s. But, such practices will allow for the equity within a space to be distributed and move beyond the hegemony that is apparent in environments that do not allow for the freedom of language choice (Kalua, 2009).

Ultimately, it is through the recognition that spaces need to be flexible to allow for students and teachers to function at their best levels. In order to allow for optimal functioning to occur, control needs to be distributed so that everyone has ownership of their own education (Benson, 2010). It is part of this co-constructed language environment that allows for a space to be open to free expression. And, it is the language and how it is allowed that an understanding of the power dynamics, which are a social construct, become apparent. When the traditional pillars of power are removed in a classroom, the space changes, and students have equity with their teacher and distributed cognition is possible. Knowledge is equal, changing the narrative from

one where certain knowledges are privileged allows for a safe space to be created (Schamroth Abrams, 2012). When this expression of changes in power occurs, it allows for students to reidentify. But, none of this is possible without an entry into the third space, where the building of a new aspect of the multi-layered nature of space needs to occur.

To access this space, the physical space needs to change its appearance, divorcing it from the past conceptions of what a classroom should be. However, not much is known about how a space should look and be organized to allow for students and teachers to co-construct knowledge. It is apparent that the current configurations do not lend themselves to the current goals of language education. The needs of learners and teachers are changing, as the goals of education evolve. As evolution in the theories that underpin education occur, so too should the spaces where students and teachers live their education experiences change.

Chapter 2: Theoretical Framework: Linguistic Landscaping

Linguistic Landscaping Introduction

Words flood the world around us. They are spoken and written. Everywhere an individual turns words are present, infiltrating the world surrounding each individual. These words are written on billboards, decorating t-shirts, heard over the radio and overheard from conversations caught in passing. Each of these words creates a world curated by letters and sounds leading to meaning, orchestrating a symphony in a linguistic landscape that surrounds each individual. When examining the spaces that surround each individual, these words create a masterpiece landscaping the backdrop of human existence. Linguistic landscapes, also known as linguistic "cityscapes" implicitly shape how each individual views the world (Spolsky, 2009). Words create a space in both the physical sense of the word, but also as an event that bridges the space between physical, social and mental.

A place is usually thought of as a physical representation of a space. If an individual mentions a classroom, an educational space, the image that is brought to mind is a classroom. Although there is not one representation of a classroom, since the organization of a classroom is represented differently historically and cannot be defined, as a unifying theme culturally, there is a stereotype that persists through the globalized spread of media. This stereotypical classroom portrayed in the media has very real objects present in it. These objects become part of the physical construct that is a classroom. Some of these objects may include desks, chairs, blackboards, pens and pencils. Although a person is not an object, they interact with the space as actors playing upon the physical and social spaces, transforming the shell of a physical space into an event. In an educational event these actors are the teachers and students, begging the question if a classroom would exist as an event without these pivotal actors.

Because this image of the classroom exists as both a social construction and physical space, there is a sense that the place is shaped by its physical constructs: walls, doors and windows as much as by the people within the space. It is possible to say that the space is shaped through its external borders, walls, and its internal objects, things. And, it is through this dichotomy of internal and external, that the push and pull of what is space begins. Space cannot only be a dichotomy of juxtapositions, but is more than just a three-dimensional representation, it is a series of relationships that define it through what it is and what it is not. Ultimately, space is physical, social and cultural (Lefebvre, 1991). It is shaped as much by how it is made physically, as well as, its social and cultural relationships (Lefebvre, 1991).

A physical space or architectural space, as it will sometimes be referred, is manipulated by the physical aspects presents both within, objects, and beyond the barriers, walls, that define the space. But to understand a space, as only a physical representation flattens what it means to be a space from a multimodal and multifaceted conception of space into a mere three-dimensional shadow of what it could be. A space is more than what an individual can touch or feel; it cannot be objectified into its mere components. A space is made of more than just the physical, the atmosphere and the social components shape it. These non-physical representations of space impact its construction making a space more than a box with objects, but a living-breathing organism that requires attention. A space is made living through the negotiation and renegotiation of its actors and societal values.

Language as a Social Construct of Space

A space is shaped by many factors. The primary shaper of a space beyond the physical construct is social. Social shaping is directly related to language. Language is, at its core, a social construct. Language change is motivated by people and manipulated by the politics that surround

it (Blommaert, 2010). This comes into play when looking at languages spoken in different regions and by different communities of people. Most countries have an official language, decided by the government. This may or may not be the same language that the general population chooses to speak within that country. The United States is a prime example of languages chosen by the people. The United States does not have an official language, but it has a preferred language: English. However, there are many areas in the United States that reflect a different language choice, such as Cajun French or Spanish. The languages are chosen by people in sociopolitical contexts and reflected in the desires of society. The idea of language choice moves beyond the choice of spoken language, but is reflected in signage and symbols, linguistic tokens, that litter a community (Blommaert, 2010). It is through this use of written language, beyond the spoken language, that it is possible to visually see language in more than just the fleeting moment of its use. Instead, language is experienced asynchronously through the linguistic shaping of a space.

The languages that individuals choose to use at a given time are fleeting. Language practices change through dialects and register. A dialect of a language is tied to a region and is not represented in any type of signage, unless it is merely the phonemic representation of the language, meaning the sounds of a language. Regional dialects represent different accents of the same language, a southern twang compared to a flattened newscaster of the Midwest in the United States. Unlike the lack of dialect representations on linguistic token, register, also known as vocabulary, does shift in both written and spoken language. Register refers to the vocabulary that an individual chooses to use (Agha, 2004). The register that individuals use is indicative of their status within a society and to whom they are addressing. This means that a student will speak differently to their friends than to a professor; writing an e-mail to a professor will reflect this difference in register compared to sending a text to a friend. Each of these instances are a reflection of language practices

and are a reflection of the societal norms associated with socioeconomic status and relational power, a distinction of friend versus professor. Language reflects social structure. To use language to shape a societal space then is not hard to imagine.

Language changes a space, morphing it into a new place. Language moves beyond just a social construct to a manifestation of societal norms. A social construct as it is meant here is something created by individuals in society, whereas societal norms are values upheld by a society. To provide an example of each, a social construct is gender and a societal norm is taking turns when speaking or chewing with your mouth closed in the western world (Ford, Fox & Thompson, 1996; Hymes, 1972). This can be reflected in the written language in the environments surrounding individuals, through signs.

In a manner of speaking the selection of a language, through the use of signs and language choice, shapes a space. This shaping helps to create community spaces. Communities, although not bounded by walls or physical barriers, become a space, where a society begins to take shape through the use of signs and language choice, known as linguistic landscaping (Gorter, 2006b). A community is the affiliation of people to a specific group and through this affiliation not just proximity a community is created. A speech community is any group of people that share the same code, meaning language or language variety, and subscribing to the societal norms prescribed within the community (McKay, 2005). Understanding how a speech community functions further defines how language functions and shapes a space. The inclusion into a community becomes a form of membership into a space through affiliation (Cook, 1999). A community, although present in a place, is not set as a physical space. To provide an example, neighborhoods where single cultures reside, like Chinatown in Chicago and New York, are both places and communities. This means they are blocks in a city, a place, and a community residence, space. The community has

transformed the place into a space where they belong. They have created this space through their affiliation into the group, language use and proximity to one another. It is outwardly symbolized through linguistic tokens found on signs, which are also a part of linguistic landscaping (Backhaus, 2006). Language becomes a crucial manner for how a place is shaped socially.

Linguistic Landscape

Language is a transforming social construct. It is necessary to examine how it functions within the space, internally and how it creates borders to define a space, externally. Language use and linguistic landscapes become social manifestations of a space. The linguistic landscape, defined as:

The language of public road signs, advertising billboards, street names, place names, commercial shop signs, and public signs on government buildings combines to form the linguistic landscape of a given territory, region, or urban agglomeration. (Landry & Bourhis, 1997 p.25)

Linguistic landscapes to put it simply are any form of language that is used in the context of an urban or rural space to transfer a message. The signs and symbols that are present in the world help to construct a linguistic landscape that showcases language use and the intention of a community. This community and its values help to shape a society and social space.

Signs both public and private are part of a linguistic landscape. A public sign is one that is considered a top-down construction, meaning that it is mandated by a position of authority, such as a government (Gorter, 2006 p. 3). A bottom-up sign is considered a sign that comes from individuals in society and they are not official (Gorter, 2006 p. 3). The language use on signs designates the language use within a space in the official and unofficial sense. In many ways the signs that are top-down reflect the desires of individuals in power, upholding linguistic hegemony,

through government policies. Linguistic hegemony is the use of a dominant language, such as English, to suppress the use of an "inferior" language, such as a regional language. The bottomup signs reflect the language in use from individuals using the language in society.

However, one caveat of using written linguistic tokens, meaning signs and symbols, to reflect the language of a society reflects only those individuals that are literate and ignores languages that exists as verbal representations, such as the Navajo language (Spolsky, 2009). Some languages are more common as oral languages and the written forms of the language are rarely used in lieu of a more common written language, in the case of the Navajo language, the preferred written language is English (Spolsky, 2009). These linguistic tokens, any representation of language in its written form, help to define a space through the use of language on the sign (Backhaus, 2006). These signs create a linguistic landscape.

A linguistic landscape can be any written language used within a space but is not limited to just words but may include images, which are displayed within a public place explaining many features in a community including but not limited to demographic, socio-economic level and languages present (Shohamy & Gorter, 2009). Traditionally this includes pictorial and wordfocused texts, but the definition could be expanded to include auditory landscapes. From a level of theory linguistic landscapes document through the use of text and images: identities, social values and relationships, within and beyond a community which is the definition that will be used to construct a linguistic landscape as a societal space (Huebner, 2009)

Through understanding the language use within a society by assessing a linguistic landscape, it is possible to construct a social space. This space may not have walls and does not exist as a physical construction, but it is shaped by the members of a community reflecting their

language use. As such, language and linguistic landscapes become indicative of societal desires, often reflecting the diversity of language in a space.

Author and Audience

Through the use of multiple languages on a sign, language diversity becomes visible within the scope of a space. When considering a linguistic token in a linguistic landscape, the intended audience matters "[t]he forms that language takes in the LL is influenced in part by the agents' perception of the intended audience" (Huebner, 2006). One of the most important aspects of the audience is their language use. In addition to the audience being important for the message that a sign portrays, so too is the author of the sign. Both author and audience work together to present a message, which reflects how a society uses language, thus shaping their space.

Audience

In order for a sign to be effective in shaping a linguistic landscape and societal space, it must have an intended audience. The audience is the reader of the sign. Much like any other form of a written text, the reader and the text interact (Rosenblatt, 2005). This means that a reader brings their own meaning from their experience to what they read. This impacts how the sign is understood, which is important for understanding how language shapes a space.

When looking at the language on a sign the intended audience becomes very important. The language background of the reader is impactful for both the author and the reader. When looking at top-down signs, ones that come from governments, the intended audience shapes the message that is being presented, in much the same way that the audience of a bottom-up sign is perceived. The author, the government, selects the language for the sign, targeting a certain speech community. The intended audience interacts with the author, through both the author's and audience's choice of language, and it is reflected in the choices that the author makes for their linguistic token.

The background of the speech community is reflected in the messages and languages used on the signs that are present within a linguistic landscape. Ultimately language choice relates to the language background of the readers as being monolingual or bilingual (Spolsky, 2009). When the term "bilingual" audience is used, it is not meant to imply that the audience only speaks two languages, but multiple languages. This understanding of the audience shapes how the language is used and the message that is presented on the sign. In a linguistic token that assumes a monolingual audience the message may be presented in two different languages, but the content will remain the same (Barni & Bagna, 2009). This is often seen in governmental signs that are transmitting important information to their audience. However, in some bottom-up signs the message may assume a bilingual audience. When this type of audience is targeted the message may be different, depending on the language, or the words may play off of one another in the different languages. This was the case in Japanese signage where the audience was bilingual and the message in Japanese and English combined to make a new and more complete message (Barni & Bagna, 2009). Thus, the intended audience and author must work together to create a message that is appropriate. When an author assumes their reader is monolingual or bilingual, it changes how and what is included in the message. This speaks to the diversity amongst a population in their language choice.

When a sign includes either a singular monolingual message or a combined bilingual message, the language use says something about the population who is exposed to the sign. It also speaks to the function of a sign. A top-down sign that includes multiple languages, but the same message in each, implies that language is of no importance, but the message is of utmost

importance (Malinowski, 2009). This is often seen in airports announcing gates or safety messages. No language is allotted more prestige, because the message is the entity carrying the power. Although, it could be argued the language presented first or at the highest level speaks to the preferred language in the area. However, in the case of message over language, the message becomes the focal point.

The different languages represented on the sign, where the message remains constant, speaks to the language diversity within a community. For example, in airports in the United States it is possible to see English, Spanish, Chinese, Arabic and French. Each of these languages speaks to the clientele frequenting an international airport. Because English is the first, it says that it is the preferred language in the country, but each language is represented equally, through the space allotted and time the message may be seen on a scrolling screen, saying that in the domain of an international airport, each language shares the same space and has equal value. By presenting the same message, it becomes clear that the intended audience does not possess equal language skills in the preferred language and their native language. When this type of linguistic token is used, and equal size is given to each language, the sign does not attempt to isolate a specific audience, but targets as many individuals as possible. Thus, the message is more important than the status of the language.

The presentation of the message over the language cannot be said to be the same when the signs are bilingual. When a sign changes the message as the language changes, it speaks to the audience of the sign as possessing equal abilities in both the dominant language in a country and another language (Huebner, 2009). This could be seen through the cases of signs in Thailand. In Thailand, most of the population possesses knowledge of the official language: Thai and a working knowledge of English (Huebner, 2009). As such, the bilingual linguistic token, speaks to a specific

audience. It targets a population possessing two languages, in effect, excluding monolinguals in either language. Implicitly, this speaks to the type of population that the author seeks through the use of their linguistic token in the form of a sign. By making this selection, the author is implying that it values certain language practices over others. It is through this choice of audience and language practices that both the message and author shape a space as belong to some, while excluding others.

Author

Although, each sign has an author the author is less important to the meaning of the sign. When discussing author function in current western societies, the role has changed. The role of the author is reflective of the desires of a society (Foucault, 1984). Throughout history author function has evolved from a position where the name of the author attached to a document imbued a certain status to the writing, since it had the backing of an author with notoriety (Foucault, 1984). However, this conception has changed, especially when thinking of a linguistic landscape, in the sense of an author being an individual. Although individuals may make signs, they are functioning through the desires of a society, acting as a messenger. It matters less who the individual, being a singular person, is when thinking about the message that a sign portrays. The individual becomes representative of who is the creator of the message or policy represented through a linguistic token, especially when thinking about top-down signs. The individual creator of a sign could be a mere conduit of a governmental message. Thus, the individual does not matter, but their representation of the message for the government does.

The concept of anonymity in signs is important when considering authorship in a linguistic landscape. Signs do not have clear authors, especially when considering graffiti. The author becomes the proxy, exhibiting the social conflict present within a community that joins multiple social structures and cultural identities. Thus, a linguistic landscape is shaped by many people as a collective representation of the society. The message becomes more important than the author (Foucault, 1984; Hassett, 2006).

The fact that the message is fronted, meaning it becomes the focus, showcases how language becomes a conduit for societal values. The language carries the messages of society. The author is merely the individual who holds the metaphoric pen. The author and agent are not the same (Malinowski, 2009). The separation of author and agent in this case means that the author becomes a scribe, not the creator of the message. The actor in this case is society. So, it is possible for the author to remain anonymous because they are acting on behalf of the agents, society. Thus, anonymity in some ways reaffirms author function. The message is more important than the creator, thus making the author a conduit for the desires of a society. The fact that message over creator exists in linguistic landscaping demonstrates how this use of language creates a social space, shaping how communities choose to dictate their language use. Language becomes a gatekeeper, excluding some speech communities, while welcoming other speech communities with open arms. It is through inclusion and exclusion that a community is shaped, and societal values are formed, by positing what is important and what is not.

Language Placement

Although it may appear straightforward to analyze a simple token of a linguistic landscape, it is necessary to understand the way words and pictures come together to create meaning. Each linguistic token is an interaction between the message presented and its intended meaning for an audience (Huebner, 2009). This interaction of message and audience creates a complex secondary meaning and begins to shape a space using linguistic tokens as the metaphoric fence posts.

Looking at and analyzing linguistic tokens encompasses more than words but how the placement of the sign impacts the reader. For example, signs in the entry of a grocery store may not be noticed unless someone wants to notice them. However, a sign hanging above an aisle in a grocery store will be seen by more people by virtue of its content and function. Another aspect that is impactful to a linguistic token is size, which can be problematic as Huebner (2009) points out, larger signs garner more attention than smaller ones. Another problem that needs to be addressed deals with how to define a linguistic token or sign: a linguistic token or sign will be defined as written text that exists within a space (Blackhaus, 2006). When using a linguistic landscape to shape and define a space, encompassing a large range of linguistic tokens from handwritten signs to professionally designed advertisements, provides a more complete understanding of the language used within and beyond the space.

Not just considering what types of linguistic tokens will be used to define, but also the impact that the elements of a sign help to describe a space. The placement and size impact the message that is gleaned from a sign, defining the status of a language within a given community. Signs are indicative of the communities that they represent "[a linguistic landscape] carries crucial sociosymbolic importance as it actually identifies - and thus serves as the emblem of societies, communities and regions" (Ben-Rafael, Shohamy, Amara & Trumper-Hect, 2006, p.8). In other words, signs are the products of their community. Linguistic tokens can take on the values of a society and project them to members within the community, helping them to subscribe to the values put forth, or exclude members that are not part of the community.

Positioning of Language

Meaning on a linguistic token is not just created through the message presented but by the words and images. The positioning of the content also becomes significant for making meaning beyond just the words. Signs often function through juxtaposition, contrasting, left versus right, top versus bottom, and center versus margins (Kress & van Leeuwen, 1998). In these cases, text and images on the left represent known information, whereas entities on the right suggest new concepts (Kress & van Leeuwen 1998). Top versus bottom juxtaposition posits the top as being ideal and the bottom as real (Kress & van Leeuwen, 1998). Finally, the center versus the margins layout, which is an uncommon layout used in the Western world, allows the center to be the focus of information, making it the most relevant (Huebner, 2009). The margins then would be peripheral information, which is less important than the information in the center (Huebner, 2009). Placement of images and texts helps the audience to understand more than just the message. They are able to discern wherein the most important information rests within the message. Helping the message to take on more than just meaning, but to warn, persuade or inform based on the placement of the message, helps the audience to recognize the subliminal message.

The placement of text and images on a sign presents a message within a message, so too does language choice on a sign. A linguistic token speaks to the audience of the sign, sharing not just a message, but also the wills of a society and the policies that exist within the realm of the community (Huebner, 2006). These semiotic structures used in the linguistic token to convey a secondary meaning, begin to socially shape the space. An overt message has many moving parts, but the secondary message speaks to the social and cultural values that are targeted through linguistic tokens. All of the juxtapositions in placement of language suggest different ideas related to the value of the message.

Language Choice

Not only is the placement of language important, but also the choice of language in the placement. Language use on signs speaks to how the language is viewed by the author as an individual and a collective representation of the society. A language that is placed in a position that is more central speaks to the position the language holds in society (Malinowski, 2009). This is directly tied to the linguistic hegemony present within a society. Linguistic hegemony and linguistic dominance exhibit how languages are viewed relationally to one another (Blommaert, 2010). Understanding the relationships between languages within a speech community and more general community helps to structure the space language is shaping. When one language is placed on linguistic token in a position that begets the power it possesses within the speech community, it speaks to the dominance that language has over another. For example, in the French-Canadian province of Quebec, there are language laws surrounding the use of both French and English, the two official languages of Canada. In Quebec it is a requirement that all signs must include French (Backhaus, 2009). This requirement was then amended to add to the regulations on the placement of French in relation to other languages, if they were placed together on a linguistic token (Backhaus, 2009).

In essence, the requirement for French inclusion and positions of prominence on linguistic tokens shapes the province of Quebec, reinstating French as the language of preference and positioning it as the dominant language. In a manner of speaking, French is reappropriating its narrative, taking back a position that was once precariously positioned in relation to another language, English, that possess more capital in the current world as a lingua franca. Language placement within a linguistic landscape shapes the social perceptions of language, either initially affirming or reaffirming a language's position within a community and space. The idea of language shaping a space could be viewed as a circular argument as the language shapes the landscape, while simultaneously shaping itself, gaining power through pervasiveness.

The power behind language can be shaped by a society, through the construction of the message and the semiotic values associated with text. Much of the meaning present in linguistic tokens is not only related to the content of the message, language, but is gleaned through the semiotic values chosen to represent a secondary message. How and where a language is placed takes on a secondary discourse (Kress & van Leeuwen, 1998). The secondary discourse is one that is understood through the symbolism of how the message is presented, for example writing that is red in color has a different meaning than the same word that is blue in color (Huebner, 2009; Kress & van Leeuwen, 1998). Red often symbolizes anger or frustration, whereas blue represents a calmer demeanor. Red and blue are opposing in the sense that one can be used to denote cold, whereas red is often synonymous with fire. The color that is chosen for the writing on a sign can help the message to standout or fade into the background. Black words on a white page are more visible than yellow letters on a white page. This mainly has to do with the contrasts present within colors. As such, these semiotic tokens must be taken into account when considering how a linguistic token represents its message (Huebner, 2009). These benign elements of design speak volumes about how to perceive a language in terms of its position in a society. When a language is more visible on a sign when compared to another, it denotes how that language is viewed by the society. It has more importance; therefore it should be more visible. It could also express the popularity of the language within a community, meaning a more common language that is more prominent visually will reach a larger audience.

Language Policy

An audience and their chosen language shape language policies. The position of some languages within a society is not questioned. They belong to the country and the country subscribes to their use and forms a speech community. This speech community is unshakeable in its values and language use. In such countries, there is not ambiguity as to language choice and the policies that surround language use in education, policy, linguistic tokens and speech have the opportunity to be more flexible (Backhaus, 2009). Two countries, Canada, specifically Quebec, and Japan, provide a backdrop for how two differing language policies can be enacted. In Japan, the native population for the most part speaks Japanese as their first language. It is the language that is taught in schools and most individuals outside of the country assume the population would speak Japanese. There is no question as to the dominant language in a place like Japan. In comparison, Canada, as a country, has more ambiguity. It possesses and provides equal merit to its two official languages: English and French. However, the policies that surround the use of French in the province of Quebec, where language revival is desired and constantly in flux, maintains strict policies surrounding the language use on the linguistic tokens in the province. Several laws have been enacted to mandate the use of French on any and all visible signs within the province. These policies are a response to the changing population present in an area that views their language affiliation as part of the national identity. Since much of the population in French Canada is bilingual or a monolingual English speaker, the position of French is precarious. Much of the population speaks French but can easily transition to English. The precarious status of French requires a stricter control of the linguistic landscape, so as to maintain the position of French within the speech community. Much of the population may subscribe to a French speech community, but they may equally affiliate with an English-speaking community as well. Japan, however, has a more relaxed policy, allowing English on top-down signs to accommodate the growing international population (Backhaus, 2009). Although, the majority of Japanese natives are still monolingual Japanese speakers, or additive bilinguals, meaning a language is added to their first language, there are concessions being made to accommodate the changing population. Despite these accommodations, Japanese remains the dominant and preferred language in the country.

The policies related to visible language use shape how a country perceives of the dominant language and its position in relation to other languages. Strict policies reflect the precarious position a language holds in a community, whereas a more accommodating policy speaks to perceived language dominance. The perceived threats that languages pose to each other within a social space, reflected on linguistic tokens and in the policies that dictate them, shape how languages are used and situated.

Shaping Neighborhoods and Communities

Language shapes space, dividing areas into communities (Gorter, 2006b; Huebner, 2006). Although, it is possible to socially shape a language in the fleeting moments that a language is spoken, but the tokens that exist in a linguistic landscape begin to create boundaries and borders, fencing in areas and excluding individual languages. In a manner of speaking, language begins to construct a space not just in the metaphoric space but begins to leave physical evidence through signs and symbolism, of what speech community possesses an area (Huebner, 2006; Lefebvre, 1991). Through the use of linguistic tokens, speech communities begin to stake their claim to certain domains, asserting their right to speak and be heard, reclaiming their culture capital through claiming geographic space. Carving out a space through language, leaving linguistic markers begins to form boundaries. Although, these boundaries may only exist through social understanding, the boundaries are no less real in their inclusion of some and exclusion of others. A boundary by definition begins to define, much like a wall. A linguistic token can begin to act in much the same way, fencing a space containing a speech community, welcoming only those that affiliate with that speech community (Huebner, 2006). It is possible to see the boundaries of speech communities in any space where multiple speech communities exist. A linguistic token like a billboard marks the exit from one speech community into another. When experiencing such transitions, it is possible to understand that the space is beginning to be created through the language visible and images that interact with those words to create culture (Hagan, 2007). These divisions delineating language and culture are visible in spaces where conflict exists, such as Israel (Gorter, 2006b).

The constant battle for space has created a decades long battle of ownership in Israel. One manner that each community has situated itself is through the use of language in its visible form. In Israel the battle for space and recognition has created a rich linguistic landscape filled with both top-down and bottom up linguistic tokens (Gorter, 2006b). Handwritten notes, private business signs and even graffiti exhibit the desire for validation through language, peppering walls, windows and street corners. Top-down signs add to the conflict for linguistic rights through providing messages in multiple languages, while excluding some. The use of language on these linguistic token reveals the conflict present between communities as their speech communities fight for the limited space that is owned by all and none at the same time.

Social space is fluid and the shape of a linguistic landscape mirrors the fluidity, changing with the tides of power (Cenoz & Gorter, 2006). Languages shape a city, dividing neighborhoods

(Gorter, 2006b; Huebner, 2006; Backhaus, 2006). The shaping of a cityscape through languages allows some areas to become modern, where others are reminiscent of past powers, lingering in an era where a language was in power, but has been replaced. The vestiges of power remain in language through the signs present in each space. For example, in Thailand, the area that is shaped by the Chinese characters, which litter the linguistic tokens, point to a past generation, where Chinese was the language of power and status (Huebner, 2006). However, the tides have shifted and the language in vogue is English. This shift in modernity expressed through language use on linguistic tokens, maintains the remembrance of the past, but allows for a new and different future. Language in this case not only shapes the cityscape, but also enables multiple eras to exist at the same time. Language allows there to be a past, present and future in language use through linguistic landscaping.

The Classroom as an Event

A physical space is composed of the objects and the boundaries that surround these objects. The boundaries may be blurred between the physical and social realms surrounding space as an event. This is reflected in the work of architect and academic, Tschumi (1996), who states that the distance between the object and the space itself is often questioned (p. 59). The fact that there is a question of if a distinction exists between the physical and the non-physical worlds demonstrates how intertwined these two halves are. Because they are so intertwined, discussion of the physical cannot be easily separated from the non-physical space, when discussing the classroom as an event. The non-physical construction of a space relates to intangible forces that act upon a space to make it an event. Examples of intangible forces are social constructions, language use and pre-existing knowledge. These intangible forces combine with the physical elements of a space to transform a space from a place to an event.

This space and construction of the classroom as an event can impact not just how well students learn, but also their desire to learn. The physical classroom space has a huge impact on how students learn and ultimately how successful they are in and beyond the classroom (Jamieson, 2003). The physical space of the classroom may seem standard, but there are aspects of the classroom that become non-standard in their physical form. Some of the physical items in the classroom, that impact the environment are such items as the walls, the desks or tables, chairs, blackboards or whiteboards, technology, students and even the teachers themselves. Each of these components may seem standard, but the variation among them, greatly impacts the classroom as an event. Although, the physical may appear to stay constant, the space and experiences are unique for each learner as Piaget posits concerning natural learning environments (Erneling, 2010). In this way, it is nearly impossible to hold any component, in an authentic space, constant, so the variety of these physical components becomes the only constant. In this sense, authentic is meant as an artifact that is real and has not been manipulated. Therefore, discussion of the classroom as an event includes variables concerning all actors, physical or otherwise.

Actors and Agents

When discussing actors or agents, the idea of figured worlds becomes important for understanding how we have defined the spaces through their social constructions. A figured world is "a socially and culturally structured realm of interpretation in which particular characters and actors are recognized, significance is assigned to certain acts, and particular outcomes are valued over others" (Holland et al., 1998, p. 52). In a figured world where the values present within society and culture shape the actions of the actors, this bleeds into the realm of reality. Both society and culture shape how individuals behave within their social spaces. This is enacted within the classroom as an event. Students behave according to the rules and regulations set about by those in power in the immediate environment: teachers. This is where the panopticon as a social construction comes into effect. The panopticon as a physical construction of space impacts how the shaping of a learning space takes place, which is how a classroom transforms from a mere space to an event. It is through the intersection of the physical realms and social constructions that events are formed.

Each of these physical elements interacts with mental aspects of learning. It, in some manner, has some impact on the mental components of learning. Understanding how the physical impacts the mental is an important component of examining the classroom as an event. In fact, there may be reason to believe that a recognized space cannot exist independent of its context (Tschumi as cited by Migayro, 2014, p. 167). Context becomes part of the social construction of space. The inability to separate space from context closely mirrors Vygotskian beliefs about learning and social contexts and how they are not easily separated. The classroom is very obviously a social context, and learning cannot take place independent of its social contexts (Vygotsky, 1978). Meaning, to look at a space as only the physical components that make it, rejects the importance of non-physical factors. The components that are not tactile impact individuals within a space without consciously being realized. This multifaceted space is constructed through the interactions of individuals, creating a social space. A social space is a production created by man and recognized by man (Lefebvre, 1991). A space is a composite of the physical and social. A space as an event becomes the blurring of the physical and social. It is possible to say that interaction is part of the production of space, a blurring of the tactile and non-tactile.

Interactions Shape the Classroom

The only context that is relevant in interaction are those that are talked into being in the space of an interaction (Seedhouse, 2004). This principle of context being relevant when talked into being is a guiding principle for ethnomethodology, a manner to analyze and interpret conversations or linguistic interactions. So, the linguistic components also mirror the social ones. In this social environment, learners interact with learners and teachers interact with learners. Each of these interactions becomes part of both the physical and social realms (Lefebvre, 1991); physical in where the interaction takes place, but non-physical in the space that language does not occupy a physical form, although some have argued otherwise (Tschumi, 1996).

These interactions and how they shape the environment help to establish and define interactions. With adult learners, it is important to understand how teachers and students walk a delicate tightrope, where they must balance power dynamics in order to make learning happen. This is done through both interactions and control of the physical. Foucault (1975) mentions how historically control of the body is one manner to control the mind through organization and structure. The teacher ultimately controls the bodies of the student, but it is unique when dealing with adults because there is a certain amount of sovereignty inherent in adults who are choosing and paying to learn. At any given time, a student, as an adult, has the right to leave, even if they do not perceive that as their right, having been culturally indoctrinated with social rules of the classroom. Some believe that the role of schools is just to teach students the rules and regulations of society (Rivlin & Weinstein, 1984). These social rules are complicated by the implications of second language learners in a language classroom, where social norms are different for not just each student who belongs to a different cultural group, but also for the teacher who in a second language setting comes from a different cultural background than the students. Regulating and

managing these social rules is one aspect of the learning environment. These regulations and negotiations are manifested in the physical space, but the discussion of social norms lies in the social and non-physical realm of the classroom. However, these regulations also manifest themselves in the power dynamics in a learning event. These power dynamics oftentimes reveal themselves in the physical realms by the placement of bodies and objects.

Control in the Classroom

Returning to the physical structuring of the classroom, it is best to look at the control and ordering of the bodies within the walls of the classroom. In this way, it is possible to see how the ordering of bodies in a certain way at a certain time is important for control and discipline (Foucault, 1975). In some manners Foucault (1975) argues that discipline creates a byproduct of control, but that it is not the end goal. Such an understanding is important, because then power, which is interwoven with control and discipline, is not as easily separated. Despite the lack of separation, power continues to be a governing factor of discipline and control. These three pillars of human existence: power, discipline and control, exist in a balance, which helps the social and physical realms to exist.

The existence of the social and physical realms influences how we order bodies through the control of time. The timetable becomes important in the ordering of the bodies. Foucault (1975) discusses the regulation of time as a manner to structure order. The structuring of time is non-physical but takes hold in the physical realm as we move bodies from one place to the other. As Tschumi (1996) points out the boundary between the social and architecture of space as a representation, are not neatly separated (p. 59). Time or the temporal realm, exists in the nonphysical realm, but the control of it and the monitoring of it is physical through clocks and bells. The temporal realm also affects the physical realm. Clearly the temporal realm has a place in both the physical and non-physical environments.

Time can be discussed as a control of movement in the physical realm. It often, in academic settings, manifests itself as a bell or a clock, as students and teachers witness the passage of it. Time may not be a physical object, but people continue to interact with it. In schools, there are often bells that indicate the start and end of classes and when the bell chimes, freedom of movement is re-established to the students. By controlling the physical movement of students and teachers in some regards, power is established as to who moves when and where (Foucault, 1975). This control of movement at a fixed time helps us to some degree understand the interactions that take place among students, concerning the physical and temporal realms. This is merely one type of interaction that affects the learning space as an event.

Interactions are an inherent part of learning, especially language learning. Interactions between students and teachers are important but must be controlled by allowing for grouping of students. This control is imperative for order in the classroom, so that learning outcomes may be achieved and students may feel that a structure is in place.

Structure can take the form of language organization, as in the order of speech in interactions. Interaction is important in classrooms and is a major component of how learning takes places. It would appear that teachers are in control of the interactions that take place, but as Mori (2004) points out the language classroom focus has changed from "predominately teacher-fronted" to a more student center approach. Who is in control of the interactions actually relies on the students but maintains the guise that the teacher is in control. It is through this deception that the structure of interaction takes place, while power dynamics are maintained.

Power and interaction comes into being through a physical manifestation of the spatial environment (Mchoul, 1978). This means that people of power are positioned in a superior role, the teacher, to those that are considered inferior, students. In the case of a classroom, the teacher stands at the front of the room facing the sitting students. This structure allows for the teacher to physically represent his position as expert in the classroom, whereas the students are sitting allowing them to represent themselves as novices. This also maintains the panopticon, which Foucault (1975) discusses as a manner to observe all behavior, in order to promote discipline and order. The teacher at the front of the room can observe all behavior of the students. This power structure is further defined by the limiting of physical movement in the classroom. The teacher is the only member of the classroom community that has unrestricted movement. Students, even adult ones, are obliged to move or not move depending on the expectations of the teacher. The freedom to move about is solely held by the teacher in the language classroom, unless students are designated to move about (Mchoul, 1978). Through the positioning of the teacher and the unrestricted movement, the teacher is reinforced as being the holder of power and can, thus, distribute and enforce order and discipline.

The physical manifestation of power in the language classroom situated through spatial orientation constructs a different style of turn taking then is present in a casual conversation. The teacher, who sits in the hierarchically superior position in the classroom, has the ability to self-select or to continue a turn. The teacher also has the ability to other-select a student to take a turn, meaning the teacher asks a student to answer. The students at the end of a turn may select the teacher when they are done taking their turn. However, a teacher may self-select at any point (Mchoul 1978). This ability for the teacher to select who is taking a turn enables them to hold a
turn longer despite natural breaks, such as pauses, which typically indicate the end of a turn. This structuring of interaction strengthens the power dynamic and controls the order in the classroom.

Classroom boundaries: Real or imagined

The structure of a physical place is produced through boundaries, "to define space (make a space distinct) literally meant to 'determine boundaries'" (Tschumi, 1996, p. 30). These boundaries in the school setting can be walls, physical, and the separation of people into groups, cliques or grade levels, non-physical. These groups help to make larger groups of people into smaller more easily controlled groups of people. This delineation of larger into smaller, making students feel they are both controllable as one of many, but at the same time individual, helps to establish order, in much the same manner that was presented in Foucault's (1975) *Discipline and Punish*, when discussing prison cells. The dichotomy of collective but separated instills order, in a non-physical manner. The walls on the other hand, refer to physical boundaries to separate for the express purpose of education. The walls define where groups of students belong and with what teacher. This separation is able to measure and divide, which is part of the structuring of schools and is used rather frequently (Tschumi, 1996, p. 30). The separation and implementation of structure that both Foucault and Tschumi (1996) discuss bridges the realms of the physical and non-physical environment to instill and maintain order.

Maintaining order in the schools is done through segregation, separation and delineation in both the physical and non-physical sense. This structuring exists at the school level and at the classroom level. However, the classroom level management comes from the teacher and is regulated on a smaller scale than a school setting. The teacher maintains order through student placement via the structuring of the desks or tables, as one component of many. It may seem obvious, but the structuring of the desks or tables plays an important role in how teachers interact with students and how students interact with other students (Fernandes, Huang & Rinaldo, 2011). Desks that are arranged in columns and rows encourage individual student work, whereas small grouped desks or tables encourage group work, also known as non-linear formations (Fernandes, et al., 2011). Student to student interactions help students to practice newly learned information without the fear of classmate or teacher judgment, which is important for students to feel comfortable. This comfort also impacts learning and can be part of the event of learning. Columns and rows enable teachers to work with individual students and tables and small group formation enable teachers to work with groups rather than individual students (Fernandes et al., 2011). Oftentimes teacher-student interaction is desirable for a student that may be struggling and wish to ask for clarification from just the teacher rather than the entire class. This type of interaction will enable the student to feel informed without fear of looking unintelligent. However, classifying and controlling interactions amongst students is essential, since research suggests that uncontrolled conversation is not beneficial for the development of language learning (Mori, 2004). Thus, it is important to strike a balance between teacher defined tasks and allowing students to construct meaning by using the tools at their disposal, oftentimes that means other students. Ultimately, this means that the formation of tables and desks impacts how students work together, how they interact with the teacher and in some ways how a community in the classroom is formed. The organization of seating in a classroom can even act as a portal into communities of practice (Gee, 2004). It would appear group work rather than individual work creates bonds and friendships amongst students rather than students feeling like islands separated by impenetrable oceans of aisles (Fernandes et al., 2011).

Classrooms as Communities

This kind of community building or lack thereof is impactful for adult learners in a second language (L2) classroom. The main reason being students in an L2 setting are often from different countries with the express concern of learning their L2, meaning they are new to the L2 country. Ultimately, this means that a community created in the classroom will help students feel more comfortable, through making friends and forming bonds rather than being alone. This is part of the emotional nature of learning and classroom spaces. These emotional responses are part of the non-physical environment. But clearly, at times the physical and non-physical meld in the classroom and one leads to the other. When the emotional factors are considered in conjunction with the physical structuring of the classroom, students feel that they are less of physical objects to be controlled and more participants in the classroom. This means that there will be active participation in the classroom and that helps students to accomplish their learning goals, be that L2 or otherwise (Flynn, Vermette, Mesibov & Smith, 2009). Learning is the goal, as well as, engagement in the classroom, so the structure plays a role in this design.

The language classroom functions as much more than a mere event to facilitate language learning but it is a social space as well (Markee, 2004). Because of the nature of the classroom being a social space as well as a learning environment, certain social conventions and structures, come into play, such as face-saving techniques, which include things as mundane as preventing humiliation (Markee, 2004). This is where language interacts with the emotional aspects of learning. When emotion becomes part of the process of learning, students are often more likely to disengage to prevent any form of embarrassment. Embarrassment prevention, also known as a face-saving technique, is one aspect that needs to be considered and mitigated through control of the non-physical space. It falls to the teacher and students to create an emotionally safe space

where students are not forced to construct boundaries to save themselves from emotional turmoil. These boundaries exist in direct opposition to the structures that teachers and students coconstruct to make interactions possible. Thus, students construct meaning and define the conventions of the interaction (Garfinkel, 1963 as cited in Mondada & Doehler, 2004). The conventions become a structure for interaction. Structuring a language classroom is an integral part of the language learning process. Without structure, negative boundaries may be formed that inhibit interaction and communication. Preventing the formation of blockades to learning is necessary, so that speech structuring can occur and physical structuring of a classroom can be defined.

The classroom, from its structuring appears to exhibit some of the formalities that Foucault (1975) posits are part of a prison. These aspects include the structuring of movement, the organization of bodies, strict adherence of time schedules and monitoring, the panopticon (Foucault, 1975). These pillars were used to describe discipline and how society moved from one obsessed with torture as a manner to control and regulate society to one that used corporeal control in a different manner. This other manner was viewed as a structuring of the corporeal being as a form of discipline and a limiting of freedoms. This limitation of freedoms is apparent in the classroom setting. At each level of education, a freedom is surrendered for another freedom, creating an equilibrium that establishes an order. In kindergarten there is no freedom in the structuring in the classroom. However, as students progress in their education the box changes to be more reminiscent of the prison cell, while freedoms are restored one at a time that mirrors components of Piaget's natural learning theory of steps taken that are dependent on the preceding step (Erneling, 2010). By the time students and learners reach adulthood their freedoms have been restored. Students may move about semi-freely, by adulthood, meaning they can enter the classroom by choice. They can also leave the classroom by choice. However, they are still structured on a time schedule, but adherence is ultimately a choice. Although, these may seem a choice to the outside observer, the progression and evolution of the structuring of the classroom, has taught children the rules of a classroom, so the discipline has been put in place and students are no longer aware of their choice, since the physical components have remained unchanged.

Intersection of Physical and Social

Despite the unchanging nature of the classroom, student achievement continues to be impacted by the intersection of the physical and non-physical domains. Since the structure of the room may play an important role in how learners interact, feel and learn, it is not surprising that some believe that given the correct environment students will learn on their own regardless of the teacher. Piaget's natural learning theory posits this sentiment, learning will occur given the correct environment for the student (Erneling, 2010). But this social and physical space is ever changing, so each experience is different and unique, which closely mirrors some aspects of a true classroom as an event. Learners are unique and their experiences enable them to view the world in different manners and this leads to an ever-changing classroom event. This event of learning in a classroom is where the teacher is merely a guide for the knowledge acquisition to occur. Although, it may seem as though this discussion of learning space has gone beyond the scope of the physical, it is important to understand that although the physical may not change in the classroom, other components may. It is with this understanding that all is changing and nothing is stable on the non-physical or social side of learning, that the physical components controlled by the teacher and students become important. These are the controllable structures that impact learning as much as the non-physical.

A classroom as an event is like a giant puzzle; each piece must fit together and encompass its surrounding parts in order for a perfect picture to be formed. This means that each specific component of the classroom, teachers, students and inanimate objects such as chairs, desks, blackboards and walls play a role in defining the physical space, where learning is to occur. But learning goes beyond the boundaries of the physical space and interacts with structures that can meld between physical and non-physical constructs, such as language and power.

Both language and power define the interactions that are pivotal to the learning process, but they are not the only structures that matter for students and teachers. Time and movement are part of the learning spaces as events as well as silent players that bridge the metaphoric to physical, by restricting and structuring time students are forced into a discipline and order that provides students with the belief that they are "in control." However, this control that students feel they have is actually mitigated and managed careful by actors in the space that have more power. Thus, it becomes important that if the physical space does not invite and encourage learning, the teacher is thus responsible for helping to foster components that entice students to want to participate and learn.

Conclusion

Understanding the spaces that define the world the surrounds each individual becomes pivotal when thinking about how learning is shaped through the intersections of space as a social, linguistic and physical construct. Each of these separately makes space into a flattened object, but inspecting these intersections transforms space from a one-dimensional representation into a multidimensional place. The interactions between space as a physical construct and social construct become a negotiation, where the narrative that is told about a place becomes necessary for the understanding of such a place to exist. In order for a narrative to exist about a space, the use of language is required.

However, by using language to shape a space, more controversy is introduced into the production of space. Language is a social and cultural practice imbued with multiple layers that interact to shape a space. A linguistic landscape is one such interaction in the battle of language as a shaping method for space. It is filled with notions of culture, politics, power and time. By using language to understand the shape of a space, it is possible to understand the societal contexts, which have come into being in the space. Language is a multifunctional entity: curator, creator and shaper of societal contexts, learning events and space. Without the use of language through linguistic landscape, it is difficult to visually experience language, since it is fleeting in its verbal form, but more permanent in its written forms.

Thus, learning as an event is shaped by the spaces that have come to define it through the use of language and societal values. Space is ever in flux and to assume that it is only represented through its physical constructs of walls, borders and barriers limits the possibilities that it may possess more insights into the physical and non-physical structures that limit and enable societies to function. The barriers that have been produced physically, societally and linguistically limit humanity and contain them as a form of control, but at the same time it provides an understanding into the world of learning and understanding. Although, it is not always possible to judge a space when inhabiting it, it is through introspection of the intersections that define space, that it shapes itself.

Chapter 3: Methodology: Narrative Analysis

Narrative Analysis Introduction

The world is full of stories and narratives; everyone has a story, but not everyone listens to those stories which exist in the background, like a soothing buzz. But, narrative inquiry takes the stories and narratives which create the background hum of existence and foregrounds them so that the story of an individual may become the narrative of a community, forming a master narrative which crosses the boundaries of people and places. Narrative inquiry is the study of lived experiences (Andrews 2014; Clandinin & Connelly, 2000; Clandinin & Huber, 2010; Gomez, 2010; Norton & Early, 2011). However, this seemingly simple methodology of hearing, listening, recording and documenting lived experiences moves beyond just telling stories in the traditional sense, from speaking and writing, to the examination of photographs and artifacts. Each of these means of story production casts a different light on the process of storytelling that narrative inquiry utilizes to study individuals (Andrews, 2014). Narrative inquiry is multimodal in how individuals tell and conceive of their individual stories. A story and narrative may be just the spoken words an individual shares or many artifacts combined to create a spherical story, a story which is multidimensional through the inclusion of multimedia.

It can be said that memories and lived experiences are what make stories, ultimately shaping each individual. It is these memories, stories and lived experiences that are of interest to researchers using narrative inquiry. The stories that speakers recount are those stories that have been impactful for them in specific contexts rather than the entire collection of their stories, which would be more akin to a life history (Goodson, 2013). It is through locating significant stories across persons that narrative inquirers find themes that showcase commonalities amongst individuals.

The terms narrative and story are similar, but "narrative" is a more clinical term, whereas story begins to provide agency for the speaker. Although a speaker presents a certain form of speaking and orality to the concept of storytelling, "speaker" is only meant to imbue the meaning of an individual who has taken the time to recount their story through multiple means and modalities. Goffman (1981) states "[w]hen one uses the term 'speaker,' one often implies that the individual who animates [it] is formulating his own text and staking out his own position through it: animator, author, and principal are one" (p. 145). The speaker is the individual that has the capacity to tell a story and it gives them agency, imbuing a certain power that the more clinical term, narrative, lacks. It is through agency that a speaker begins to shape whom they wish to be. The stories become part of an identity that an individual tells about what they define as important and helps them to understand the world that has been created around them (Holland et al., 1998).

Narrative inquiry enables individuals to tell their story and appropriate, or in some cases reappropriate, what had previously been lost to them (Nelson, 2001). It begins to give voice to often-silenced individuals. It provides a space where voices that are traditionally ignored or stifled, begin to have the power to speak what has made them into who they are and why their story is just as valid as the stories of the dominant group. To highlight this, the story of nurses sharing their experiences in Nelson's (2001) book *Damaged Identities: Narrative Repair*, helps to understand how stories presented by dominant and minority groups are perceived. The nurses told their stories to other nurses so that their experiences were validated. Many nurses feel ignored by doctors, but they play a vital role in patient care (Chan, Jones & Wong, 2012; Nelson, 2001). As such, individuals who possess more power and are situated higher in the social hierarchy marginalize individuals who are seen to inhabit a lower position on this hierarchy. But, the nurses' role is essential to the effective workings of the health care field and their stories are necessary in creating

equity and change (Chan, Jones & Wong, 2012; Nelson, 2001). Therefore, the stories of the minority group are the precipitators of change.

In addition to a story of the nurses, expression of a story is important for individuals who are generally not recognized as having a position of value in a society, such as English as a Second Language (ESL) learners, migrants or immigrants. Beyond the domains in which they possess control, their stories often are not recognized, but narrative inquiry provides moments where stories can be shared, thus fulfilling both the needs of the storyteller and the researcher, providing validation and insight, respectively.

The idea of giving voice to the sometimes "voiceless" begins in narrative inquiry with a question that can be answered through listening and attempting to understand people's histories, narratives and stories. Narrative inquiry is a means of asking individuals open-ended questions in the hopes that a story will emerge that helps both the researcher and the participant to understand how a participant's world has been shaped by a lived experience. A lived experience is one that an individual obviously has lived, but it has in some way shaped them through the telling and retelling of this story (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). These stories go on to help researchers to understand the significance of a lived experience and how a story might help the storyteller relate to others' perceptions of storyteller's world. This especially is true when the storytellers have to disguise and conceal parts of their identity (Endo, Reece-Miller & Santavicca, 2010). Narratives provide a space for a speaker to define him or herself and be validated through the telling of their story (Nelson, 2001). It gives them power to share how their experiences have shaped them and through the process of narrative inquiry gives the storyteller the opportunity to have their story be understood and retold through the lens of a researcher, in the hopes that their story may be of value to a greater number of people leading to better understanding of group members' experiences.

Narrative inquiry, although small in scale, gives the opportunity for individuals to tell their stories. These stories are then looked at in conjunction with similar stories such as in Gomez's (2010) "Talking About Ourselves, Talking About Our Mothers: Latina Prospective Teachers Narrate Their Life Experiences." The four women, who appear in Gomez's (2010) text, share similar stories about how their mothers' experiences shaped their own experiences. The stories the daughters shared about their mothers are not indicative of all Latina women, but within this group of sixteen participants, it is possible to say that mothers have great influence on their Latina daughters (Gomez, 2010). In these studies, it is possible to say that certain experiences for these storytellers were similar. From these similarities, it is not possible to generalize to a whole population, but it is possible to say that these experiences need to be examined further and be addressed. This can also be true for ESL teachers in different countries and gay teachers in heterosexual dominant societies (Endo et al., 2010; Mitton-Kükner, Nelson & Desrochers, 2010). As themes emerge, patterns are developed, often leading to recognition by readers of themselves and others they know. Recognition both helps individuals to feel validated but is the first link in the chain of change if it is necessary. These studies are small, but not insignificant for the researcher, individual storyteller or research in general.

The small scope of the study is both a benefit and a drawback. When discussing the small scope of the study, usually there are only approximately five to fifteen participants, rather than the potential hundreds or thousands within a more quantitative study. The results of a quantitative study can be generalized to a general population because of the large scope, whereas narrative inquiry focuses on the few, searching for themes which have emerged multiple times. The small scope provides the ability to seek depth in the research, asking deeper questions and finding emerging themes. As such, the generalizability of narrative inquiry is difficult. That is not to say

that narrative inquiry and the telling of stories does not inform research, merely that not all of one groups' experiences can be generalized to what a small sampling of participants might say about their lives and their identities (Endo et al., 2010). Narrative inquiry often works to expose emerging themes and problems (Endo et al., 2010). It is through writing about these stories, listening to these stories and analyzing these stories that issues that are fundamental for a few, begin to take on a grander narrative as an issue worth noticing and attending to. The themes are reoccurring for many within that specific subsection of the population being researched. In a manner of speaking narrative inquiry becomes a call to action, to treat the problems that are told within the stories of participants.

It is through this call to action that change can be made and that is a great strength of narrative inquiry. It becomes the space where recognition for a change is found. It is through the bravery of the storytellers and the patience of the researcher that these stories come to be part of a larger narrative of lived experiences. Narrative inquiry is a collection of small stories that speak to identity and experience, in the hopes that a change may occur. A change, however, is not always the goal; sometimes it is just the recognition of a story and a theme, so that others may see they are not alone. Narrative inquiry can also become part of identity formation, redistribution of power and simply being heard.

Narrative and ESL Classroom Spaces

Stories give voice to those that lack a voice or are too fearful to add their voice to the mix of narratives that exist. In the world of education, the voices that are heard most often belong to those in power. Those in power are rarely the students, but the teachers, the researchers, the administrators, the parents and the politicians that tell the stories of what is taking place in the classroom. These individuals, who are not always in the classroom, shape the spaces where students learn, thinking little about what works best for the students sitting in front of the whiteboard. This is especially true as students become adults or are adults; the students accept the narrative of what a classroom looks like, knowing what works best for them, but being at the whim of the teacher or administrator that controls the physical space and the movement within and beyond the classroom. Thus, it becomes imperative that students are empowered to add their voices and stories to the understanding of how to shape education as a space and the classroom as an alternate narrative to the dominant function of learning as a passive construction, where a student's sole purpose is to learn what the teacher sets forth.

Narrative inquiry concerns voices. They are the voices that are lost in the wind of dominant narratives. ESL students are often silenced through their own insecurities, but also in the lack of understanding of the individual who hears their voices and stories. It is through these moments of insecurity and incomprehension that ESL students begin to marginalize their own stories. These stories become essential as students describe their classroom experiences. Their stories will shape the understanding of the contexts in which these students curate their own education experiences. It is through their stories that a glimpse of what the classroom context should be for students to gain confidence and skills. This might entail their explanations of how their classrooms displayed language in the form of a linguistic landscape, how the desks were arranged in the form of a physical space, their interactions with classmates and teachers in the form of a social space and even in the language choices in the form of a linguistic space.

The spaces that are created through the stories these students construct and share in narrative inquiry are what guide and enable these stories to become narratives. Their stories shape the spaces whereby education is transformed into an event with intersecting boundaries of linguistic landscapes shaping physical, social and linguistic spaces. These stories provide the opportunities for the ESL students to share how their experiences enabled them to do the shaping or precluded them from shaping their spaces. Through the sharing of their stories, students are empowered to curate the forms of education that best work for them. It then becomes the role of the researcher to take their stories and create a narrative, where students' stories can be shared beyond the context of a single classroom or single event to help in shaping other educational spaces.

These stories become the fodder for a narrative that can exist beyond the confines of a community. Without the stories of these individual students the boundaries of physical, social and linguistic spaces become discrete when in actuality their interplay is what has shaped the spaces for education, enabling students to gain control of their education focusing on their individual goals. It is through students focusing on their individual goals and the stories they share about the spaces that best helped them to accomplish those goals where narrative inquiry becomes essential. By using narrative inquiry, students are empowered to select the stories that best serve their purpose. So, it is through their selection of story and the telling of that story that a glimpse into the realm of student perceptions of their spaces is created.

Narrative inquiry as a method of investigation provides a blank slate to allow the students to express themselves about their lived experiences, the ones that shape their English learning landscapes (Clandinin & Connely, 2000). However, narrative inquiry will be used in a way that may differ from prescriptive narrative inquiry, whereby semi-structured interviews are conducted after a survey was used to gather preliminary and widespread data. The surveys allow for multimodal access to the ideas that participants wish to access. The survey with open-ended questions is essential for second language learners, because processing information and the formation of language may be less automatic, so the ability to construct and analyze the language

chosen, enables these participants to strengthen their confidence through pre-thinking about their responses. The interviews provide insight into the deeper structures of the classroom that might have been glossed-over when doing the open-ended survey questions. Through oral interactions these participants are able to explore why and when aspects of the physical classroom spaces were the most impactful for their learning. The participants are able to construct their experiences and shape their stories through the different modalities.

Narratives vs. stories: Blurred but separate

To think about narratives and stories seems to be talking about the same concept, but they are distinct. This distinction remains blurry and out-of-focus, sometimes overlapping, while still existing independent of one another. It is as if narrative and story exist within two separate realms that are perpetually interacting. To think of narrative and story as two separate terms stemming from a shared notion is helpful. Few researchers have fleshed out the distinction between these two concepts, but Kohler Riessman (1993) briefly touched on the idea stating "'[n]arrative' is an encompassing term of rhetoric, whereas 'story' is a limited genre" (p. 41). Although this notion is interesting it goes no further than a gloss of the surface in the distinctions between narrative and story. Narrative and story are tied, but exist independently of one another, so to distinguish them so acutely does not speak to their moments of intersection.

These intersections coincide with how to picture the blurred boundaries of narratives and stories. In one's minds eye you might envision narratives and stories relating to one another as a rhizome, where the two parts make the one whole, narrative and story work together to form the grand or master narrative. The rhizome creates an image of infinite branches stemming and creating a greater whole (Deleuze & Guattari, 1987). A narrative and story become branches that

are separate but intertwined, inextricably linked but entities that exist independent of one another. Together narrative and story may be blurred to create a meaning and have a place within a context, but to understand them separately is necessary. Their meanings individually hold as much weight as their combined blurry boundaries.

A distinction may seem unnecessary when talking about narratives and stories, but it is essential to understanding the roles and purposes each component plays in the formation, compilation and comprehension of a story, narrative and master/ dominate narrative. A story is an individual entity, held by a single person. The story is a moment of agency for an individual teller. A narrative is a collection of many stories and removes the individual agency; ultimately it is where the researcher's role becomes essential, as they compile the stories to create a narrative. Finally, a master/dominant narrative, moves beyond the boundaries of narratives and stories to create a unifying theme across communities. These unifying themes are where stories and narratives grow legs and walk between and amongst communities, widening their scope of meaning. Each of these terms will be expanded upon, to help understand how the distinct vocabulary shapes the understanding of the research. Although, it is difficult to tease apart the different threads of a master narrative, it is essential to understanding the spaces and contexts in which the individual fibers were formed, creating infinite intersections between the three concepts.

Just as in the inspection of spaces, boundaries in narrative and story are integral to seeing where the most change occurs. It is the interactions that create new and diverse spaces and experiences. It is through the telling of stories, constructing narratives and finally the recognition of the grand narrative, that a social space can be carved amongst the chaos of a space that is generally occupied by everyone. It is the construction of space through story that becomes relevant to understanding how a story can help shape education as an event and the classroom as more than just a space for knowledge to be imparted, but to be ingested. But, it is in the process of education as an event that knowledge, which is often just swallowed, with no encouragement for analysis and play, transforms through internalization to become relevant to an individual. Through this process, storying and narratives are essential to understand how students shape spaces to individualize their educational experiences to master their goals and aims, succeeding through their self-actualization rather than through the arbitrary standards, which may be "other" imposed (Zhao, 2018).

But, through individualization of the creation of a social space through the stories that are told and the narratives that are formed a blurry distinction is created, whereby one concept leads to the other, story to narrative and narrative to master/dominant narrative. And, it is in the intersection of narrative and story, the blurry boundary where one stops and the other begins, that the world of an individual's experiences begins to open and take shape. The boundaries are where the shaping of hybridity and third spaces, that are co-constructed begin to create master narratives.

For the purpose of looking at students' educational experiences and the spaces where they take place, it is necessary to hear their stories to construct a master/dominant narrative. A master/dominant narrative is the term that continues to hold Bourdieu's (1991) sense of capital, within the world of educational research, but the story is essential for constructing the idea of a *Master narrative* or "the stories found lying about in our culture that serve as summaries of socially shared understanding" (Nelson, 2001, p. 6). So, within the discussion of narratives and stories there are three essential terms: master or dominant narratives, narrative and stories.

Master Narratives

Master narratives are the head of the rhizome, envisioned as the tree that exists beyond its root structure. The stories and narratives are the intertwined root structure that are hidden from those not within the direct context of the story. Master narratives are the most visible of the structures, whereby narratives and stories lie beyond the field of vision hidden from members external to the community.

One of the defining characteristics is their ability to stand beyond the borders of a community. Often a story cannot exist beyond the individual and a narrative cannot exist beyond the community it represents, but a master narrative has legs. It can walk and share the messages gleaned from the stories and narratives that have created it. A master narrative has an intrinsic power that allows it to be recognized both within the scope of its community, but beyond the community from which it stemmed. It has been recognized beyond the community it originated. It is acknowledged by those that have power external to the community, by the majority groups, which exist within a society.

In many ways master narratives are collective representations. Master narratives are asynchronous in that they fold the time, positing stories beyond the linear construction of time. Time is not the organizer of master narratives. Master narratives exist in spite of time and this is what ties them to collective memory. Bhabha (1994) speaks of collective histories and collective memories as defining pillars of a community and the narrative that provides structure for the communities they represent. These master narratives are the most independent of the three interrelated concepts of master narrative, narrative and story, having the capacity to intertwine cultural, community and even linguistic boundaries. "Cultural diversity is also the representation of a radical rhetoric of the separation of totalized cultures that live unsullied by the intertextuality

of their historical locations, safe in the Utopianism of a mythic memory of a unique collective identity" (Bhabha, 1994, p. 50). The concept of an unsullied culture that is not bound by its historical location speaks to how master narratives can exist beyond their moment in time their boundaries. Collective memory like master narratives may exist in time but does not depend on it for extrapolating the importance of the message, because the time is a component of the story. It does not matter when the story occurred for it to be impactful, meaning a master narrative that is formative for a community will be important throughout time moving forward.

The master narrative is not usually constructed by a researcher or individual but the work of a community or many communities that hold certain ideals to be true. It is not about the individual, but the collective memory that is defining beyond a time (Mishler, 1999). This may be in the form of a value that is represented in the narrative or in rebuttal to another narrative that the community finds to be contrary to the beliefs held by the majority within the group. This is usually done through the creation of a counter-story, which will be discussed in depth later in the chapter.

The dominant or master narratives position different groups of people in different positions of power. It places them within a hierarchy by how accepted each narrative is. The complication to this is something that Bhabha (1994) discusses, which are slave narratives. These are accepted and viewed as a shameful past, but it does not position its victims in a higher social power category. In fact, it inadvertently continues to dominant their objectification within a society that often views this group as less than.

This master narrative is not just true about the African American population, but all recent immigrant groups. Because of their lack of English language proficiency in the United States, recent immigrant groups often are not able to redefine the master narrative that is

perpetuated about them. When a group is able to change their narrative and have it recognized by the external power holders, then their position will be changed in society (Kohler Reissman, 2008). But redefining this master narrative is not something that can be accomplished in one year or even one generation, it is a battle that must be continually fought. One manner to fight this master narrative perpetuation is through education. Education allows for social mobility through the navigation of the social system. Therefore, it is important for educational spaces to be liberated and equitable to allow for the expression of these alternative master narratives (Benson, 2010; Burns, 2009; Saudelli, 2012).

Narrative

Sometimes within defining a term it is easiest and clearest to start with what the term is not. As Ranciere (2007) does with his art and image, the juxtapositions create a more robust sense of what a concept is. Art has a meaning separate from image, but together these two terms combine to form a third meaning, exposing the dynamic meaning found in their intersecting principles (Ranciere, 2007). The third meaning relates to the concept of hybridity. It is the combination and co-construction of concepts (Gutiérrez, Baquedano-López, Alvarez & Chiu, 1999). It is not done through the construction of just one or the other but through the combination of both concepts. It is like reinforcing fabric. Each piece is not as strong as their combined force. The same is true for understanding how a story on its own may be interesting but has little impact on the grander narrative that is being told. And, a narrative is nothing without the stories that make it up. This same concept of story decontextualized of narrative and narrative decontextualized of story rings true. Separately their meaning is possible, but not as robust as their combined meaning. Through their coming to form a third intersecting meaning speaks to the complexity and interwoven nature of these concepts into their formation of notion. Through the interplay of juxtapositions meaning is enhanced. Like the spaces that become flattened through the viewing of just one aspect: social, physical or linguistic, so too is narrative inquiry. The juxtapositions provide perspective, giving dimension to seemingly simple terms. By understanding what a concept is not, it is possible to form an idea of what it is without having to draw a hard line and thus excluding necessary components. It allows for a freeform and spontaneous understanding of the narrative concept. A narrative is a bounded topic with murky boundaries that meld it with the conception of story. A narrative is not focused on the individual. Narrative is the collective of many stories blurring their truths and the experiences of individuals. It does not forget the individual but places them as secondary to meaning construction (Foucault, 1984). But this brief conception of narrative is not the entire picture. It is an agglomeration forever shifting to find its best fit.

Narrative is not so dissimilar from a story. Sometimes it is the end product of collective stories, but not always. Narrative focuses on the product rather than the author, closely mirroring Foucault's (1984) author function, supposing that the author is less important than the message being presented, extrapolating the meaning rather than focusing on the individual. Meaning becomes essential in the creation of the narrative leading to master narratives. It is through a master narrative that we can see how events are tied, linking individual experiences to the grander contexts that may exist within a more focused context.

But, a narrative cannot be formed without stories. This stems from the idea of directionality. Directionality here means the concept of how the speaker/narrator positions themselves. In a narrative, the perspective is backwards looking, much like history (Nystrand, 2014). It is told from the perspective of the present, discriminating the important events through the wisdom of the interluding time. By looking backwards instead of forwards, it is possible to understand the importance of events (Nystrand, 2014). Narratives are made through the normalization of the events. Narratives are constructed through the repeated re-telling of stories, until the formation of events is made regular and the effects are anticipated.

Narratives, like their story brethren, are context dependent, but narratives maintain their significance independent of their contexts. This means that a narrative does not need to be told within a specific community for understanding to occur. A narrative can be shared and understood by a larger community. A story can have a smaller scope. A narrative can be shared with a greater context in order to impart their meaning, taking out the agency of the individual. The individual is not forgotten in a narrative but the individual telling the story hides behind the velvet curtain, positioning their story as the focus.

Since some narrative divorces itself from the speaker in lieu of foregrounding the meaning, truth becomes an object of narrative. Through its existence independent of context, truth becomes subsumed. When the individual is removed, trust of the speaker is no longer questioned. Even as the research suspends disbelief, implicitly trust of the storyteller clouds the message that is being presented (Andrews, 2014). Since the speaker is removed from the equation of trust, a narrative is no longer a story through the supposition of truth. And it is through the collective formation of the stories whereby narrative becomes representative of its parts and truth is no longer questioned. That is not to say that the truth a narrative portrays is absolute, because truths can be context dependent in the study of narrative. It is merely a truth within the context of that narrative. Truth is one of the murky boundaries between narrative and story. Oftentimes it is the acceptance of a story by a community that transforms a story into a narrative. However, that is not the only path to narrative.

Narrative remains the more sterile term. It strips the truth and individual from the processing, showcasing the message above the perceptions of the individual. It is through this lack that narrative becomes separate from the story. It is still bound to the story, but it remains its own entity, deriving meaning and imparting a message that is not community or context dependent. It is an independent pillar of research.

Hybridity and third space

Hybridity exists within the scope of thinking as individuals interact not just with their own conceptions of truth, but new conceptions as well. To understand the concept of hybridity it is best to imagine a painting tray from childhood, whereby you began to understand the concepts of primary and secondary colors. The primary colors are combined to make a new and different color and it is in this overlap that hybridity occurs in a physical sense but mirrors the more meta thought process present in narratives. Hybridity is a construction "there is no knowledge— political or otherwise— outside representation... rethink[ing] the logics of causality and determinacy through which we recognize the 'political' as a form of calculation and strategic action dedicated to social transformation" (Bhabha, 1994, p. 23). The idea of hybridity closely aligns with the ideas of decontextualization present in Ranciere's *Art and Image* (2007) and the *Emancipated Spectator* (2009). To decontextualize a concept is to break it down into its separate pieces. These separate pieces carry meaning that is unique to their individual beings. In some ways it is necessary to understand the individual meanings prior to understanding the grander understanding of the combined meaning. Here is where the idea of hybridity relates to narrative.

Narratives are both a compilation of sorts, combining the individual stories of each individual into one that is grander in scope and speaks to the community about their shared experiences. It is a form of hybridity that is constructed on the part of the researcher, whereby

authorship (Foucault, 1984) become subservient to the meaning that is unfolding in the sharing of the message. This fronting of the message over the narrative provides the storyteller's individual capital to be irrelevant in its status because it is the combined nature of their stories and the shared experience amongst a community that allows for individuals to share their stories. It is affiliation and hybridity that makes a narrative more than just a story. A narrative is the embodiment of the hybrid nature of stories.

Third Space (My definition)

The third space is a space of hybridity. The classroom can be a third space. The third space is often not physical; thus, it cannot be called a place. A place is a location with a position that exists in space and time. Place can be concrete. A third space is an instant in time where there is a blending of ideas. It is neither just one idea nor another it is the combined formation of knowledge. It is shared by many or a few, but it is not often an individual endeavor. It is a space of co-construction, co-mentorship and co-participation. These spaces when using the affix copresent an idea of binary, but this binary is not the intention. By using the affix co- it merely delineates a concept of many ideas, people or space coming together to assert a type of melding. Sometimes it is best to visual these moments of third spaces. In the context of this research, a third space is similar to mixing paint. When creating a secondary color such as purple, there are two parts needed, red and blue. Purple is neither entirely red, nor entirely blue it is the moment when red and blue meet to find combination of the two, where it is neither wholly one nor the other. Like the paint a third space is neither one nor the other, but a blending of the many. It is in this blending that imagination and play take place, not bounded by the rigid boundaries of walls and borders.

In a classroom, for ESL students, this means it is not between languages, but it is the between moments of what is known and what is about to be known. It is not wholly in the past and not yet in the future. It is both and none all at the same time. These are spaces of cultural interaction, where the space does not belong to solely one culture, but all the cultures have a place and position in the classroom. An ESL classroom is truly special because it is a border space, where cultural capital can be redistributed (Bourdieu, 1991). It is co-constructed because everyone has an equal right to their knowledge and the knowledge should be shared across students. This sharing allows for everyone to be privileged and dis-preferred at the same time. But, this third, transactional, co-constructed space can only be accessed when all of the layers of a space are aligned. But, one way to create a portal to a community (Gee, 2004) is to change the first space: the physical realm in the classroom.

Story

Stories like narrative are necessary to understanding communities especially those where the researcher is not a recognized member of the community. To catch a glimpse of a community, it is necessary to hear the stories of the individual to begin a weaving that creates an image of a community. In a weaving there are many threads that combine to form a tapestry, which seems disconnected from stories and narratives, but stories are the thread that make the tapestry that is a community. Stories are woven together to showcases values and truths held within a community.

Story is tied to narrative and master narratives, but it is the less sterile term. A story is tied to the individual that tells it. But, a narrative can be divorced from the individual that tells it, fulfilling a greater purpose. A story cannot always be removed from its context while maintaining the meaning. Stories revolve around the individual. It cannot be stripped of the individual without losing an integral piece of the inherent meaning. In some ways, stories step away from Foucault's (1984) author function, where the product is primary to the secondary teller. In a story, the speaker is the focus. A story is a process. It is not the product, but some of the meaning resides in its telling. The process folds into the idea that a story is a work-in-progress, whereas a narrative is formed. It appears that a story is not static, but dynamic, it changes a little with each telling and with each audience to whom it is directed, lacking the normalization present in a narrative.

Normalization often implies a certain governing body and sense of control, but normalization here means something closer to recognized form. It is not that the story or narrative is governed by another, merely it is the concept of recognition. A narrative has been recognized for its truth and validity through the separation of the narrator and the narrative. However, a story is constructed and tied to the teller. The telling can be cathartic in that it helps the individual to process their understanding of what the event was. It is a removal of the story from the person by the telling. It is not that the individual does not own the story, but they are beginning to shape it, so that it can be more than just theirs. It is the starting place for narrative.

Stories become the fodder for narratives, but they are not told from the perspective of the present looking at the past. They are understood and contextualized from looking at the events as moments that are unfolding, whereby the results cannot be predicted: lived experiences. Stories are still in-the-process of being. The events are still being evaluated for their importance within their understanding of the message being constructed within their telling. The time is still evolving.

Within stories, time and cultural construction are tied. So, time, although not linear, is tied to its cultural construction. Meaning cannot be deduced without a time and cultural construction present. Time changes interpretation and posits that concepts can be linked based on theme not just time. Culture links concepts based on ideas independent of time. But culture is a byproduct of context. So, our context reflects the cultural understanding of the time and is coloring the interpretations of facts in stories.

Truth is tied to cultural shifts "changes in ways of understanding and feeling around the world" (Jordanova, 2000, p. 108). These cultural shifts are present when thinking about the deconstruction of art and image, running parallel to narrative and story. The understandings extrapolated from the individual entities in the deconstruction of narrative and story are influenced by the contexts and the cultures whereby these conceptions reside. A story takes some of its meaning from the context and culture in which it resides, much like a narrative. However, a story thrives in its cultural context, whereas narrative can maintain its meaning divorced from the culture in which it was constructed. Stories are tied to the individual and the culture and through these ties a sense of agency is created. An individual imbues their cultural capital and right to speak from the position and self-identification of belonging within a specific culture and context. To remove the story from the individual and apply it to a larger setting would be to lose the individualism present and necessary for understanding a story. But, it is the shift from an individual created and recognized meaning to speaking to larger themes that transforms a story into a narrative. These deconstructions function as a manner to examine the parts in understanding the nature behind their combined and pluralistic meaning.

Truth is a construction of sources, be this individuals or documents (Jordanova, 2000). Much as in the collection of stories creates a narrative, does the selection of these stories speak to the construction of truth. There is a disconnect present within this selection process. Within the collection of stories, truth must be suspended, so as to not taint the truth of the storyteller as it is being presented (Andrews, 2010). It is through analysis that truth is extrapolated to form the grander narrative. Truth cannot be sought within a story. A story progresses forward for the storyteller, whereas a narrative looks backward at the unfolding of events. Perspective becomes the great divider between narrative and story. A narrative has the benefit of distance, allowing for the discrimination of truth, fact and removal of the perception of feelings toward the storyteller. In the collection of stories, truth cannot be judge because there is no distance or reference to other stories. It is as if the comparison of stories that truth emerges in the form of narrative. Sources speak to truth, but truth is an act of finding. Each individual has their own truth and stories showcase this truth, but narratives seek to present a truth that is representative of a greater population. Since it speaks to a greater number of people, this truth has the ability to withstand a position independent of a cultural context.

As a culture shifts so too do the perceptions within a story. But, by searching from the present to the past as is in the case of narrative, it is possible to look beyond the cultural constraints that are placed upon a story. A story does not have this luxury, it cannot exist without the cultural constraints and the cultural narratives that give it truth. So, from the perspective of looking backward artifacts in the form of stories help to examine the shifts in culture and the evaluation process that allows stories to be compiled into narratives and enables them to exist through and beyond the constant cultural shifts. That is not to say that the construction of the artifact, in this case a story, is free of cultural shifts, merely that through the recognition of such shifts it is possible to see wherein the construction of truth may have been impacted by the contexts and cultural shifts taking places at the time of the telling of the story. This being default allows an understanding that bias exists within story and through the construction of truth in narrative as well. But, narrative seeks to separate itself from the bias, removing the individual, speaking for a larger community.

Through the recognition of bias in history, narrative and story, it is possible to understand where gaps may exist. These points of recognition allow an outsider to glimpse not just the construction of a narrative, but also comprehending the entire picture seeing beyond the words, contexts and cultures to construct their own truth from the narratives. This capacity to see a narrative as a whole provides a multifocal perspective that allows a narrative to view into the past, and see where the future may be changed.

So, a story becomes part self-discovery and self-exploration through the telling of it. As an individual tells their story, they may emphasize certain aspects of their story, highlighting themselves in a certain light, while glossing over less desirable attributes. It is through this subtle selection of events and iconography that a storyteller begins to explore who they have become through the telling of this story. They are able to position themselves better in the world that they have created or fit into an "other" constructed paradigm. Through the position of the self in the story and beyond the story in understanding who one is, an identity and by proxy, a position within a social context is created. When an individual accentuates aspects of their story while minimizing others, they are implicitly understanding the values a community has prescribed. This understanding is manifested in the selection of parts of a story, which may be valuable or affirmed within the context of people to whom they are speaking.

Narrative and Identity

Identity like time is not static. Identity is constantly shifting and changing. It is in a constant state of flux. The only constant in identity is that it is always subject to change. Identity is continually reformed based on lived experiences. Narrative inquiry takes a snippet of the shifting identity present in each individual and provides a space for the shifting stories to be told. Narrative inquiry asks an individual to look at their life in the complex shifting planes of space,

time and place and reflect upon their own relationships within these realms. These relationships become the backbone for identity. To think that identity formation is simply telling and re-telling stories does not capture the complexities of identity formation or the shifting sands of its formation (Hollande et al., 1998). In fact, identity formation partially looks at how selfidentification takes place and others co-construct a similar narrative to provide validity to a selfproclaimed identity (Nelson & Early, 2001; Andrews, 2014). Identity is not simply what one person says about themselves, but the corroboration of that story by others.

Identity and Negotiation

Identity in some ways becomes transactional, meaning a reader and a text interact in a bidirectional manner, gaining and imposing meaning from each other, to use Rosenblatt's term for how a reader and a text interact (Rosenblatt, 2005). To better understand how individuals transact to form their identity it is not possible to separate an individual from their context and still understand the same meaning, "[h]uman activities and relationships are seen as transactions in which the individual and social elements fuse with cultural and natural elements" (Rosenblatt, 2005, p. 39). This interaction is much like how a storyteller and their audience, in this case a researcher using narrative inquiry, approach a story. One individual, the storyteller, shares their experiences and the researcher, as an audience, listens and relates the story to the history and context in which it takes place. It becomes a relationship between teller and story, listener and story, context and story and meaning and story. It is through these relationships that a story becomes part of the identity. Identity formation, is then, not passive, but a very active process with more than just the storyteller involved. It becomes a constant negotiation (Goodson, 2013). A story becomes the space for this negotiation to take place. An individual looks at their lived experiences and attempts to define themselves through the actions that have shaped their experience.

The job of narrative inquirers is to take these moments of negotiation and find a place where the negotiations have ceased, and conclusions have been drawn, no matter how tentative. It is in this moment that a story moves from the space of negotiations to the space of identity formation. These spaces become strengthened each time an individual takes the time to reflect on the negotiations of the stories and moments of conclusion and re-tells their story. The act of retelling a story by an individual is integral in the story becoming identity forming, as it gives them time to process and reflect (Andrews, 2014).

However, this identity formation does not take place in a vacuum. A story is nothing if no one hears the story or it does not resonate with readers or listeners. To provide an example in the case of being a native speaker of a language versus a non-native speaker of a language, it is through recognition by a native speaker group that one becomes a native speaker of a language (Cook, 1999). This means that even if an individual can speak a language, has flawless grammar and no noticeable accent and claims to be part of the native speaker group, but is not recognized by the community; then, they are not part of the group. However, when they are accepted by the community of native speakers as one of their own, the individual becomes part of the group. It is through acceptance not just affiliation that identity, in this case, is formed. This closely mirrors how a group accepts a story and how a storyteller becomes part of a community, much like a portal in communities of practice (Gee, 2004). When a story is told, a community must accept it as true and real, in order for the individual to become a recognized member of the group. Until that moment of acceptance, there exists a mismatch between the storyteller's identity as a member of the community and their acceptance. In some ways, these moments construct a power dynamic between the dominant and marginalized. The recognized group holds the power and ability to recognize the story of the marginalized, until that moment the storyteller has no power in their

recognition. It is in the moment that power is redistributed, through the story that it becomes part of the accepted identity. The speaker can tell their story and be accepted for their story. It is here in these moments where acceptance by others becomes important for identity formation through storying.

This moment of acceptance is where narrative inquiry becomes pivotal to those individuals who have remained voiceless through marginalization. The term "voiceless," or inability to share aspects of one's identity through constructions of power or because of affiliation within a social group, becomes important for narrative inquiry (Endo et al., 2010). Narrative inquiry provides the space for these stories to be heard and given validity. However, in the telling of a story a question is always raised about if the story factual or fictional (Andrews, 2014; Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). In the case of narrative, it is not necessary for the researcher to decide if a story is "fact" or "fiction" when the story is being told (Andrews, 2014). The purpose of narrative inquiry is to suspend disbelief in the short term and reinstate skepticism during the process of analysis. A researcher must be critical of what they hear, but also believing that the stories heard are not entirely fictional.

Identity through Juxtaposition

But turning from skepticism of fact and fiction, the job of narrative inquiry is to maintain a freedom to share without fear of being called a fraud or being told that an interpretation of a story is wrong. In some ways a narrative inquirer becomes a sounding board or in a moment of listening: a therapy couch, where it is a judgment free zone, just for the telling. Within this space void of judgment, another space is created. This space enables individuals to interact with the stories of others and to define themselves. Gomez (2010) talks about Latina women who use the stories of their mothers to talk about themselves. By juxtaposing their stories with those of their mothers', the stories of the mothers are validated through the lens that the daughters measure their own stories. The interaction of stories in this manner enables a certain ability to understand oneself and provide permission for the feelings and experiences that one has had because they have been lived and survived by another. It enables the speaker to have strength in their convictions. It gives these women, who were silenced by their white teacher education peers, the opportunity to move beyond the silence that they felt and their mothers felt and reshape their stories and identities. It is through affiliation of archetypal characters with admirable strengths, their mothers, that women are able to define themselves and who they would like to be. The same could be true for the Canadian man, Michael, who met a Chinese immigrant running a convenience store, Long Him, when he was young (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000 p.53-56). His narrative ran parallel to the one told by his parents as being accepting of difference "they [Michael's parents] would be shocked and offended [by the parallel narrative] because, as he remembers them, they were so conscientiously egalitarian (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000, p. 56). The parallel narrative in this story was Michael's parents were perpetuating the stereotypes of being a Chinese immigrant in Canada. While Michael's parents thought they were being accepting, in actuality they were highlighting the Chinese immigrant's difference, in effect "othering" him. Michael only realized that his behavior was not as he had thought as he became older and was a participant in a Chinese immigrant's narrative inquiry research in his adulthood (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000 p.53-56). It is through his exploration in narrative inquiry that he begins to see the fissures present from his past and present conceptions of himself. The stories Michael told about himself and his parents helped to define himself, not as a racist, despite his actions, but as curious of cultural differences, which were later challenged in his working with another Chinese immigrant as a participant. It is the stories that

one tells and the stories others tell about us, that help to create and re-create stories. And, within these stories and affiliation with others' stories that a definition of an identity is formed.

Memory as Identity Formation

Within identity formation memory becomes pivotal. Memories are the heart of what makes up a story. Memories define who an individual is and how an individual has taken the path to selfhood. However, memory is an interesting entity. It is imperfect by nature and subject to suggestion. There are two types of misinformation that can influence memory: post-event misinformation and continued influence effect (CIE) (Ecker, Lewandowsky, Cheung & Mayberry, 2015). The *post-event misinformation* deals with the power of suggestion, when an individual is told something about an event that was not present and then remembers it as part of their memory; for example if recounting an accident and someone mentions a stop sign, but in fact there was no stop sign and the individual telling the story integrates this "fake" stop sign into the story (Ecker et al., 2015). CIE is when "[information] initially presented as factual but [is] subsequently corrected," but is continued to be believed as true such as in the case of weapons of mass destruction as the reason for the Iraqi war in 2003 (Ecker et al., 2015 p. 102). This means that a story will always be biased and never be entirely factual. Memories are imperfect and subjective. It is necessary to remember in the case of narrative inquiry. That is not to say that a story is not valid, just that bias needs to be recognized during the process of analysis. It is in the process of analysis that context becomes integral. Context helps a researcher to understand the potential moments of misinterpretation or outside suggestion. The context and history of a story matter, so that the researcher may have an entire picture of how this story has shaped the individual and understand where their biases lie.

Author Function

Narrative exists as part of identity formation and expression. Because an individual tells a narrative, they perceive themselves as the authors of their stories. However, the idea of "author function" questions who the author is and if it matters to the message being presented. Foucault (1984) complicated and explored the idea of author function in *What is an Author*? Author function is not easily defined, but the function has changed through the course of history. As discourse practices have changed so too has the idea of authorship. The discourse surrounding author function has changed from an act to a product (Foucault, 1984). Ultimately, this means that an author has changed from a mere thinker to a producer of an object. The idea of authorship has been reified to change the value of a story. A story has an object value and as such the role of the author has changed (Foucault, 1984). This change in some ways complicates the storytellers within narrative inquiry. The objectification of a process has transformed authorship from belonging to the realm of thoughts to one belonging to the social constructions of the modern world. It has in a sense become a commodity. As such, authorship has transformed to match the needs and desires of an ever-changing society.

It is, in a sense, creating authorship beyond the realm of writing. Authorship, although commonly associated with writing, it is not necessarily tied to the process and act of writing. Writing is just one discourse where storytelling and narrative exploration can take place (Gee, 2004). However, the more common means of expression when conducting narrative inquiry is through the telling of lived experiences, orally. Such exchanges of narrative experience bring into question the idea of authorship and author function. Focusing on the role of the story and the storyteller as a conduit and as part of the greater whole, which complicates how authorship is defined within narrative inquiry. There exists the possibility that authorship is tied to a singular individual, but to think of authorship in such limited forms is problematic to the conception of authorship. Authorship in many ways is tied to a societal function (Foucault, 1984). Narratives and grand narratives are also tied to societal functions (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). Since both authorship and narratives are tied to societal functions the extrapolation that each of these is a collective enterprise, reflecting societal norms, is not a stretch. To say that a story has a single author and is not a reflection of the context in which the story and storyteller exist is problematic (Foucault, 1984). Stories appear to be relegated to their contexts and reflect the themes of the society that the storyteller exists in (Hassett, 2006, p. 149). Authorship then becomes a reflection of a society rather than the individual. Society in some ways is reflective of collective values, making the author not just an individual but also a conduit for the stories that are valued within the community.

Society has witnessed the passage of time and brought the means of documenting these shifts through authorship into the present, enacting change as time has progressed in the westernized linear sense. Because an author has become a product of the role and the functions have changed (Foucault, 1984). An author is no longer a singular entity whereby work and credibility are tied to a name but a collective representation of a whole community, collective memory (Andrews, 2014; Hassett, 2006). This entails a change in how a storyteller is viewed within the realm of narrative inquiry. The storyteller and the story become parts of a grand narrative. The story is important for the individual, but the individual is not important to the story. A story and its telling are important for the understanding of themes within narrative inquiry.

The fronting of a story over the individual, who tells the story, is an area where narrative inquiry excels. And, author function is once again reaffirmed as no longer being about the individual, but a collective endeavor. Authorship becomes less important and the message is more
important "[w]hy does it matter who the author is?" (Foucault, 1984, p.120). This message begins to divulge the importance of content over author. Since authorship is questioned, narrative inquiry begins to open the door for the important message that communities endeavor to share. It matters less who says the story, but rather for the story to be shared.

Researcher Identity

But, it is not just the historical and geographical context of the individual that is integral for understanding narrative inquiry but how the researcher is placed within the context of finding the story. It may seem insignificant that a researcher has an impact on narrative inquiry, but how the researcher is situated brings insight into how the story of the participant is being re-told and understood.

It is in these moments that the concept of "othering" comes into play. To be considered an "other," means that one is not part of a community (Gomez & White, 2010). This concept of being "othered" can be done through lack of affiliation on the grounds of race, skin color, language, socioeconomic status, gender and experience. More often than not, to be viewed as "other" is a matter of physical appearance. Generally speaking, if a researcher looks like the participants whose stories they are seeking, the researcher may not be "othered" initially (Moss, 1992) Although, the idea of being "othered" is problematic for a researcher, the idea of being accepted is an equally great pitfall to the narrative inquiry process (Moss, 1992). If a researcher is a community member and accepted by the group that they may be researching, there may exist assumptions about the level of understanding of experiences, which may not be accurate in the situation. Despite acceptance and not being considered an outsider, a researcher, much like in the discussion of "reality" and "fiction," must be skeptical of what they know and what they perceive to know. This is especially true when community membership is put into play.

Both being "othered" and being accepted by a community have their positives and negatives when conducting narrative inquiry. A researcher's identity impacts how stories are collected. The background of a narrative inquirer as being a member of the community or being an outsider impacts how much participants may trust the narrative inquirer. This, in turn, impacts the types and qualities of stories that may be divulged on the part of the participant. A narrative inquirer's identity impacts the story collection process and interpretation.

Narrative inquirers come to their research with their own contexts or backgrounds, which must be acknowledged, so potential biases may be understood by the audience. These biases impact how a story is interpreted and the outcomes of the research. By acknowledging the biases present in ourselves, as narrative inquirers, it is possible to prevent the biases we posses from impacting how the data is viewed and interpreted.

A researcher need not be a member of the community to understand a narrative, but the affiliation and acceptance within that cultural group provides insights into a world that may otherwise be unattainable. As part of narrative inquiry, the role of the researcher requires an inherent level of trust. By belonging to a cultural group or community or in some way sharing a background, individuals are given trust. The concept of "other" comes into play when there is a difference in the perception of the research by the participants. When the researcher is "othered," by participants, the research must gain the trust of the participants, in order to elicit the most robust stories.

Time and Narrative Inquiry

Trust is earned over time, just as a story is shared over time. Both have a certain beginning and oftentimes, in the prototypical case, a hopeful ending. A western story often begins with "once upon a time" in childhood and ends with a "and they all lived happily ever after." It starts at the beginning and finishes at the end. It is a straight line—a road map where time progress in an orderly fashion, like children lining up for the school bell. This is the form that is learned for western, and especially European American story telling.

However, life is not so neat and orderly. Time does not presuppose that events will follow in chronological succession (Foucault, 1984). This means that, although, individuals endeavor to put events on a timeline, organizing events in life, the orderly sequence of events is not always possible. Events do not neatly unfold. One event does not cause a second event. When thinking about narratives, in narrative inquiry, organizing lived experiences by the movement of time forward, is oftentimes desirable. However, the desire to organize time is not always possible.

Narrative inquiry is built upon the human desire to tell our story, organizing events so a listener may follow the progression of events in life. Narrative inquiry is built upon the idea of stories and memories. Stories and memories shape our identity. They are built on the remembrance of the past: history if you will, defining an individual and giving voice to their experiences, but time in memory is not so simple. Stories follow a time pattern that often is problematic.

However, the passage of time is not the problem, but the conceptualization of time and its events as relating to the present or past are problematic. For example, a moment in the present may trigger a remembrance of the past; looking at a tree, while walking can elicit a moment from childhood, where climbing a similar type of tree led to a fall. The trees are the not the same, the times are in no way linked, but one memory has triggered the other. It is as if there exists a hole in time where events are linked through their theme, rather than through time. The events are brought closer by the folding of time bringing the events closer although the distance in time may be further. Narrative inquiry reflects how events are presented in a sequential fashion based on the passage of time through their telling in a linear sequence. But, Foucault (2003) has problematized the notion that time is linear. The distance of time between the events becomes of no importance but is through remembrance of one that remembrance of a second takes place. Time is not the connecting factor but what happened, and the themes produced connect events. The expression of narratives tries to create a linear time line through how the stories are told, to order our events, because perspectives of the west suggest that time should help us order the events.

Memory is the manifestation of the human remembrance and a past that is constructed on a timeline delineating the past. But, to say that memory is only progressive presumes that ideas and thoughts are only categorized through linear time, rather than thematically connected. Time marks the passage of memory, but often the foundational bits of remembrance are not cumulative through time in how one memory relates to another (Ecker et al., 2015). They, memories, are relational and one problem that narrative inquiry does not always address is how individuals presume to learn from the past adding to their cumulative knowledge. The cumulative knowledge exists beyond the passage of time. That is not to say that memory cannot be linked by the passage of time, only that to assume that the passage of time is the only link is not sufficient to understanding the deep nature of time in narrative. Narrative inquiry shows the passage of time through storying. Society often proposes that as time passes and change occurs this a sign of progress, which can be reflected in the narratives that individuals tell. But this supposition creates a one-dimensional sense of time. The idea of memory, which narrative inquiry is built upon, is not so unidirectional

Through the passage of time we learn, or so western societies presume. However, the imperfection of memory inhibits presupposition of learning from the past. Memory is imperfect and open to suggestion. The imperfection of memory is one that needs to be considered within narrative inquiry. The same principle of suspending skepticism applies when considering the

impact of memory on narrative (Andrews, 2014). The imperfection of memory may change the narrative as linear time passes. When producing narrative, many individuals shape their story through ordering events on a linear timeline. The order created by organizing using the passage of time, implies that remembrance is orderly. But, our memory is not orderly, and it is imperfect, open to suggestion and imperfect remembrance (Ecker et al., 2015). It is through thinking and hindsight that time helps to make the chronological progression between our stories and our knowledge. Time for memory is not a straight line where one event neatly follows another event and they all link together in an orderly fashion. One cause leads to a result and the progress follows a western logic. This could be exemplified through learning that a knife is sharp through cutting a finger one time rather than having to repeat the mistake multiple times. However, this simple view of learning, based on memories does not give credence to the complexities that exist within memory and narrative alike. This same western organization of time into a chronological progression often is applied to memory and how individuals are to learn from their past memories through their storying of events. However, memory and collective memory, do not exhibit this same pattern. There is no order to memory. It is connected through other means such as themes.

Although the years may pass in life as we age, going from infancy to childhood, adolescence, adulthood and old age, our memories are not always categorized by time. People can remember when they were seven, but the events that occurred when they were seven may be linked by theme to an event when a person is thirty. The event may be put in chronological order, but when we talk about them, the passage of time is inconsequential. We place these events near one another on the basis that talking about one event helps us to remember the other event. It is not by age that we remember, but by theme (Foucault, 1984).

Narrative and counter-stories

It is said that history is only told from the perspective of the winner. In the case of American history, the surviving party is narrator of the story that has been written into the textbooks. Every child learns the adage of how "Columbus sailed the ocean blue in 1492" and brought the Pilgrims to the new world to have their freedom from the tyranny of England. However, the story that is untold in the history books is one where the Pilgrims became the holders of tyrannical power over the natives. It is through this story that we can see the power that narrative creates. Two pictures of the same event exist, but only the one that paints the dominant power on their good side, exists for mass consumption. The other less told story and often ignored story is the counter-story.

A counter-story has a very important function in narrative inquiry. Narrative inquiry captures moments through stories. These stories are told in such a way that the speaker or storyteller is reflecting upon their past actions within the context of their history. The history of a story is significant for understanding how the story came to be and why it matters for the storyteller (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). A context is essential in understanding the meaning behind a lived experience. It is in this context that counter-stories become important (Gomez, 2009; Xu & Connelly, 2009). A context is what changes a simple experience and places it into a story and may engender it into a counter-story.

A counter-story exists as a counter balance to the dominant story. Counter-stories come into being through their telling and re-telling; but what makes a counter-story is the narrator. A counter-story runs parallel to the dominant story (Nelson, 2010). This means that two or more stories exist at the same time. One affordance that narrative inquiry makes is that stories can exist that contradict one another and that does not make either story less valid, just different perspectives. Narrative inquiry seeks a sort of "truth" for the teller. However, narrative inquirers understand that there is more than one truth. Truth like many other ideals is contextual (Andrews, 2014). This means that the truth for one individual may be very different from the truth for another individual. The job of a narrative inquirer is not to decide whose truth is more correct, merely to listen to both truths and find the stories that resonate most for each individual, seeking to find the themes that are repeated by other individuals. A researcher must then draw conclusions about an idea or an aspect of a person's sense of how a moment has shaped them and in that moment the story becomes relevant to the researcher, not the perception of truth, but the emotions present in the story that has been integral to the teller.

Although it may appear that narrative inquiry attempts to find the truth for each individual and this is what creates a counter-story, but a counter-story is more about telling snippets that are untold. In the case of the nurses in Nelson's (2001) book *Damaged Identities: Narrative Repair*, the counter-story was a manner to speak against the dominant narrative that was prevalent in their profession. It was a narrative about the incompetency of women and nurses, how the act of providing care in a personal manner was somehow less than the work of the male doctors. In this case a counter-story becomes about changing the narrative to better represent the work that is being done by essential workers in the healthcare field. It was about providing validity to a job that is primarily dominated by women, a marginalized group, and giving them an opportunity to showcase the importance of their work (Endo et al., 2010). Narrative inquiry provides a space for people to change the narrative that permeates a situation. To infuse not just one side of the story, but the multifaceted nature of the story, showcasing the complexities that are often swept aside in lieu of a simpler more status quo opinion of the situation.

Narrative and power

Power is integrally tied to the ideas of dominant and non-dominant identities in society. In the United States of America, the dominant group is the White middle-class man. This social identity holds cultural capital, inherent in their being, not as a byproduct of their actions (Hollande et al., 1998). As the dominant group, these individuals are endowed with a power that gives their messages a validity that is lacking in the non-dominant group. This idea of cultural capital is integrally tied to status (Bourdieu, 1991). In society, it is possible to see the strata that define society through lines such as race, culture and money. These striations within society help to define the many places that individuals hold within the greater organization of a society. As these striations become fixed within society, the capacity for social mobility is often stifled. This stifling comes in many forms, beyond changing different levels in the socioeconomic realm, but in terms of narrative these striations define who has a right to speak and who has the obligation to listen to these stories (Norton, 2013; Mchoul 1978). These distinctions between the lines of society also provide the regulations of who possesses a story that has merit and who does not. These constructions within a society distribute power. And, power distribution enables different members of different striations within a society to judge whose story possess merit and whose is invalid to the grand narrative of the society. Through the prescribed power structure inherent in society, it is possible to ignore stories so that the grand narrative has continuity and it is individuals within the marginalized communities that are often viewed as possessing invalid stories. The role of narrative inquiry is to break down the prescribed barriers within the striations of society and enable the necessary mobility of validity so that the grand narrative of a society may accurately reflect the stories of all parts of the society, not just those that paint the dominant group in its most flattering light.

Stories are inherent in each individual and the motivation behind them is to present the "truths" behind our individual beings. Oftentimes, this means presenting stories that exhibit what we would like to see ourselves as being. This more often then not displays a positive light on the storyteller. However, the true motivation beyond stories, especially those that are not always flattering is the idea of hope. It is in hope that most power is found. Many individuals come forward to share their stories, often under the cloak of anonymity, so that their lived experiences can be understood and related to by others. Not all lived experiences are negative, but the shaping experiences for marginalized populations are often times ones that are fraught with struggle. It paints different groups in different lights, where the dominant groups are seen as hoarding power and displacing the ideas of less powerful individuals in lieu of maintaining their perceived ideas of order. Defining their status within a society, where they are always dominant and those that are lesser in status are never right, but always inferior (Nelson, 2001). It is through this continued belief that marginalized individuals are inferior, that power is reaffirmed as belonging to the dominant group. By turning a deaf ear to those that have a voice, but not the power to be recognized, dominant groups maintain their status within a society, for example, "the patterns they [the doctors] displayed of contempt for women have to be acknowledged...[and] made it possible for her to agree that the doctors' story about nurses...needed to be resisted" (Nelson, 2001 p. 5). But it is through this struggle that growth comes to take place. And growth and change are where power is repossessed.

The redistribution of power is one manner that narrative inquiry gives voice to the voiceless. Individuals become storytellers on a daily basis. It is through the telling of daily events and having them heard and sympathized with that an individual becomes a storyteller; this role is not one that is given conscious thought, but merely happens through the process of telling and re-

telling. But these daily litany stories are not the ones that make narrative inquiry and redistribute power. These stories are not identity forming and that is what makes them unique from narratives. It is through the acceptance and retelling of these stories that they become narratives. It is in the retelling when the stories become more than just a day at the office that power comes into play. Power is manifested at the boundary of events Clandinin and Connelly (2004) extensively discuss the idea of boundary. Boundaries are where significant events take place for an individual storyteller. So, it is possible to draw a conclusion that power sits on the border of these events. It is in these moments that a speaker can define who is or was in power and either juxtapose themselves against the power or identify as the individual holding the power. It is through their placement in their own story that power is manifested. Storytellers can either be the victims of the situation, the individual who repossesses the power or a little of both. It is at the point in a story that an individual realizes that their position in the story is not adequate for how they define themselves that power begins to be redistributed.

This power that is discussed does not have one single source, but the idea of power is inherent throughout the discussion of narrative inquiry. Power can stem from hegemonic principles used to describe people's demographic profiles: race, age, culture, skin color, socioeconomic status and gender. Each of these profiles comes with its own inherent power. In narrative inquiry, traditionally marginalized groups, women, racial minorities, such as African Americans and Hispanics, are the subjects of study (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000; Dyson, 1997; Endo et al., 2010; Gomez, 2010; Nelson, 2001). They use these stories along with narrative inquirers to take back their power. That is not to say that dominant groups cannot provide powerful stories in narrative inquiry, just the commonplace groups studied in such research are those traditionally marginalized.

And these traditionally marginalized groups often have very little voice in the worlds in which they live.

Power and voice are integrally related. One's voice, not a physical voice, but the idea of saying a story or message and having it heard is the idea of voice. The concept of being heard is what gives a voice power. It is through recognition that power is redistributed to that of the speaker. Without the hearing of the story, there can be no recognition. Without the recognition that a story is "valid," then the power would remain as the status quo. It is the reimagining of the status quo through recognition of a story where the voiceless are given their voice.

Power like many unseeable and untouchable entities is one that is constantly shifting. And it is through narratives that people begin to define themselves. They begin by telling the story that has been created by them. A story that is full of experiences and has been pivotal to where they are in the present moment. Narrative inquiry is a foray into the world of experiences. Narrative is the telling of experiences that shape people (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). These experiences become part of how power is perceived and helps individuals to situate themselves in the world. Narrative inquiry becomes a tool to shape how power is manifested in the world of the storyteller.

Cultural capital

The idea of cultural capital is inscribed in the notion and construction of power. Power is more than just the forces that turn on the lights in our living spaces but help position us within the scope of our social environments. The social environment is the construction of our space through the elements of culture and society (Hollande et al., 1998; Lefebvre, 1991). It is the positioning of elements that are valued within a community such as money, social status and language, which construct an environment and the quantity of each of these entities are what constitute power. However, these are just a few of the elements that are necessary for a social environment to be constructed. Suffice it to say that power is an integral part to shaping a social environment and the idea behind power relates to status that is often implicitly understood, but rarely discussed beyond the circles of close friends and families. In this case, status refers to the idea of the position one holds in society and how others position themselves in relation to that status (Bourdieu, 1991). This status that is understood, but rarely talked about is defined through the culture where one is situated. Ultimately, this means cultural values define status in a society. This status of an individual defines how she is perceived, which leads to if her voice will have an impact on others. The impact of their voice relates to narrative inquiry as the space for a story to be told and heard. It is all well and good to tell your story, but if no one hears it and there is no impact made, then a story becomes moot. No aspect of society is impacted, and the story cannot carry out its intended function of identity formation, empowerment, reshaping of identity or reappropriation of a narrative.

Voice and story are interwoven. A voice is the ideas of sharing a message and telling a story. This story, however, must have a function, not just a story that is told for a laugh or in complaint, but an intended function beyond mere entertainment. Much like the stories that nurses told about their relationships with doctors (Chan et al., 2012; Nelson, 2001). It was through these stories that the statuses of the nurses were defined in relation to the doctors. But, these stories acted as a manner to redefine how they were viewed. It gave credence to the stories they told, and value was added to their experiences. The stories of the nurses had a function. They were changing the narratives that had been told. They were regaining their status as professionals and recapturing their lost cultural capital. The nurses were repositioning themselves within their peers so that they may be recognized beyond the circle of their peers by those possessing more cultural capital, in this case doctors (Nelson, 2001). The idea of a story must have a function for a voice to matter and

that voice is imbued with a multitude of linguistic factors that inhibit and enable the message. Cultural capital is tied to the function of a story and its linguistic tokens.

The idea of voice is tied to many linguistic concepts, which relate to the telling of one's story and the story's status in society. A literal voice becomes a boundary for how a status is perceived. Although it may not be fair, the perception of an accent informs how people perceive the speaker of a story. In narrative inquiry, this idea of accent informing the story beyond just the words used and the message has to do with the orality of storytelling. When a participant shares their story with a researcher their accent creates a bias within the researcher. Accents are ingrained in an individual, they are learned when speech is learned. But, the perceptions of accents are ingrained in much the same that our own accents are part of the identity one possesses. Since an accent bias may exist within a researcher this is problematic for narrative inquiry. A researcher is supposed to remain neutral when hearing the story and suspend their opinions of participants. They are, as Andrews (2014) pointed out, supposed to suspend their opinions and beliefs until the point of analysis. However, the supposition of this neutrality is problematic for narrative inquiry. To believe that anyone has the innate ability to turn on and off their biases at a whim suggests a robotic nature to research that strips them of their humanity. Researchers are human beings and as such come to their research with previous knowledge and experience. In some ways, this what shapes research, the knowledge, biases and experiences that have garnered the researcher's interest. To ignore these, does not do justice to the research. These biases are instrumental in how people are perceived. As both Andrews (2014) and Clandinin and Connelly (2004) discuss the conductor of research needs to understand how their role as a researcher of narrative inquiry impacts the understanding of a story. As Andrews (2014) mentioned it is not within the scope of a researcher to judge the story as it is being told, but upon analysis to examine for these for their validity. This

can be extended to perceptions of linguistic tokens as well. Linguistic tokens are moments of speech or Bahktin's utterances. Utterances are a moment of speech by an individual, which are a social function (Bakhtin, 1986). Although society has come to expect a listener and a certain interactional component to utterances, that is not the case for the true definition of utterance. In narrative inquiry an utterance has the potential to be heard and interpreted as a goal of the research. A researcher must put aside their tendency to judge a participant based upon their accent, grammar, semantics or syntax, focusing on the message rather than the wrapping of the message.

Ultimately the ideas of the wrapping of a message relates to cultural capital and narrative inquiry. An individual with less cultural capital has less power. Cultural capital and power are intertwined and to talk about them separately ignores the contexts wherein power operates. To understand one, it is often necessary to understand the other. Power is produced through the use of cultural capital. In a manner of speaking, cultural capital is like monetary currency, in the sense that it exists as a manner to purchase and the old adage "money talks" is related to cultural capital. The major difference between currency and cultural capital is that it cannot be exchanged, only earned. It is not possible for one individual to give some of their cultural capital to someone who possesses less. They must earn it. However, a researcher can help them to gain cultural capital through allowing them to share their message or by treating them as an equal. Power can be redistributed through actions. This is often seen in classroom environments, where the teacher possesses the power (Kasper, 2004). This is viewed through where they stand, their ability to decide who speaks when and by assigning grades. This is a manifestation of power, but society imparts the teacher with power in the classroom. This is done through functions of status, generally age and social class in this case. Adults are seen as possessing greater power, when related to children. This is complicated in adult learning situations, but in a traditional classroom the teacher is older than the students providing a certain respect and power dynamic. However, power can be redistributed when a teacher shares speaking responsibilities, when a teacher allows students to share their opinions and listens to them. The shifting of power dynamics and cultural capital can be seen in the Author's Theatre that Dyson (1997) writes about in her book *Writing Superheroes*. Children are allowed to share their writing and, in some manners, control the classroom, redistributing power so that students become the experts, rather than the teacher. The shifting of power changes how the students view themselves and each other as valuable members of a classroom community. Often, the redistribution of power in this manner translates into the world beyond the classroom. And, the shifting of power redistributes cultural capital.

Redistribution of cultural capital is a significant factor and motivation within the scope of narrative inquiry. Individuals who possess more cultural capital have more opportunities to share their opinions and experiences. Individuals who have less cultural capital, generally those from marginalized backgrounds, do not have the same authority to share and be heard when they share their message. Take for example, Labov's (1972) famous work related to accent and social status. Labov's (1972) work looked at different women working in department stores with different more pronounced accents. The department stores exhibited three different price points low, medium and high, each correlated with different socioeconomic statuses (Labov, 1972). The lower price point had workers and shoppers with more pronounced accents associated with lower socioeconomic status, whereas the higher price point had workers and shoppers with a more neutral, preferred accent. These individuals were treated with less respect when they had a stronger accent and more respect when their accent was less apparent. As such, individuals exhibited more pronounced accents indicative of their region when they were from a lower socioeconomic status, represented through working in the lower price-point store (Labov, 1972). The perceptions of individuals are

greatly impacted by the wrapping of the message. The external factors that become dimensions of identity are significant to how a message is perceived. The meddling of these is both internal and external factors. These external factors are not necessarily choices that are made consciously by the individual such as race, skin color, ethnicity and gender. These aspects of an individual's identity ultimately impact their cultural capital in society. Their power is tied to external factors and this impacts how their story is heard and perceived.

Narrative inquiry provides space for accents, skin color, gender and race, to be minimized so that a story may have the force to be heard by those who possess more cultural capital and to enact change and exercise their status to enable change to be recognized as a necessity. This capacity can be done through how people's words and narratives are presented, fitting the molds of a larger scope of the population. The hope is that through the mechanism of recording and analyzing stories for their greater significance that a redistribution of cultural capital can take place. Those with less cultural capital can gain the ability to have their voices heard regardless of their external factors and lack of cultural capital and perceived social status.

Operationalizing Methodology

International students are becoming more prevalent in American universities, especially at Lake City University. As the number of international students increases and the world becomes more globalized and transient, the need for consideration of the needs and wants of this unique group of students becomes more imperative. These students are not children, but adults who have completed their compulsory education prior to acceptance at a university. Having had the experience of at least thirteen years of education, these students have some idea of what works for their educational spaces and what makes it more difficult for them to accomplish their goals in education. Thus, inquiry into the spaces that students have been "academically raised" and where they would like to go, will provide invaluable insight into creating spaces where education can be curated by students and co-constructed by students and teachers in an effort to redistribute the hierarchical power inherent in classroom spaces.

ESL, English as a Second Language, students are a unique group to conduct research with, especially when conducting research in the participants' non-dominant language, in this case English. It is not possible to call it their second language, meaning any language that was acquired after acquisition of their native language. A second language may not actually match the number of the language, it merely denotes that subsequent languages are being learned or have been acquired. Second language does not mean that it is actually the second language, merely that it is a language that is not the dominate language of the speaker. It can denote a third or fourth language, even though it is called a "second" language. To clarify this point, one of the participants was from Vietnam and he spoke Vietnamese, French and English. Both, French and English would be considered his second language, since they are his non-dominant language. The distinction between native and non-native, first and second is a debate that is best described as sticky. As such, this is not the space for this debate, merely terms have been chosen to describe language use for these participants that have taken or are taking ESL courses at Lake City University, a large university in a mid-size Midwestern town.

Ultimately, when in possession of multiple languages individuals find themselves having an inherent preference toward one language in relation to the others that they may use and know. Usually this is their native language, but not necessarily. It depends on the context of the students and the duration of their language stay and use. The language participants preferred, in the case of this study, was not English since it was not their dominant language; however, their language level was of the high intermediate to advanced level. Their inherent ease and comfort was in a

119

language other than English. Individuals in possession of multiple languages may even exhibit different characteristics or personality traits when using one language over another, becoming quieter as parameters of Vygotsky's (1978) language learning comes into play. Participants and language learners alike may encounter their monitor, face-saving techniques and the affective filter, which prevent them from speaking or acting within the classroom spaces or research spaces. As each of these components of the self come into play, a participant alters what they may say or how they say it. This lack of ease in the language of the research conducted, is an area that needs to be remembered through the data collection and analysis phases of the research.

When working with participants in their non-dominant language, there are moments of incomprehension and re-casting, where questions are re-phrased, clarified or even modified for the participant to understand. When conducting the research there were even moments where the question was lost in translation and the answer was absent from the intended question and answer. But within the data collection, these moments of tangent, provide a glimpse into the participants, comprehension and ease in the language that they are working to acquire, providing indirect insight into the process and space for language acquisition. As the participants constructed meaning in the space of the survey and interviews, they were manifesting spaces of learning as an event exterior to the confines of the traditional classroom space. The manipulation and construction of learning as event, helps students to control their spaces, making learning as an event possible.

Population

Participation in this research study was voluntary, although compensation was offered to entice participants to participate in a multi-phased study. All the participants in this study were current students at the time of data collection. The participants in the study were in the process of

120

completing their ESL requirements. Most of the participants had spent at least two semesters in the ESL program, making their English high intermediate to low-advanced in level.

Understanding the language level of the participants is essential as language acquisition makes comprehension and expression difficult for both the researcher and participants. However, the understanding and fluidity within language learning speaks to the increasingly blurry boundaries between languages. As language contact is no longer just at geographic borders, but are in constant contact, especially at Lake City University and in Lake City. Lake City University is a large R1 research institution that boasts 2,397 international undergraduate students, 347 visiting international scholars, 2,536 and an overall international population of 5,280 (Lake City Registrar, 2016). These numbers speak to the growing population of international students and how their environment needs to be considered so that their education can be as fruitful as their native peers. The population of international students is important to understand because they are an increasing presence at Lake City University and other universities like it. Since these students and scholars are in constant contact with speakers of their native language and the dominate language of Lake City University: English, language boundaries are blurred for this international population. This blurring of boundaries become increasingly important as the language boundaries are no longer fixed in the age of globalization, speakers are becoming as Jan Blommaert (2010, p.28) states "mobile speakers." Ultimately the term, mobile speakers, speaks to the population of the study since their very nature results on their placement, straddling the boundaries of their home country and their country of education. Their language use is fluid and the environments that cater to this fluidity is mirroring the blurred boundaries of language and globalization, making the manipulation and curation of these spaces essential to language proficiency and acquisition.

A list of ESL students in the ESL department at Lake City University was collected and included 713 students. Each of these students was enrolled or had been enrolled in an ESL course at the time of the study. The ESL department at Lake City University has around five hundred to one thousand students each academic year, including students from around the world. In the last few years the general demographic includes students from South East Asia, including China, South Korea, Vietnam and Thailand. That is not to say there have not been students from other countries, merely that the majority of students that make up the population of the ESL department at Lake City University consist of individuals from these areas.

The ESL department has two programs for ESL students. The two programs are an intensive English program (IEP), for students only focusing on English, and an academic track program, for currently enrolled university students. One of the programs, the academic track, is for the integration and acquisition of necessary academic skills for university level work. The other program is an intensive English program (IEP), which focuses on academic skills, but not all students are in pursuit of a post-secondary degree. The goals of the two programs differ in that the intensive program focuses on helping students acquire skills for post-secondary admission or return to their job with a higher English language competence. The academic track prepares students to perform better in their academic courses.

The academic track program for degree seeking students at Lake City University, includes classes about grammar, reading and writing. Each of the five courses offered for degreeseeking students focuses on readying students for academic integration and completion of university level work. Students will enter the program with varying degrees of English competence, ranging from low-intermediate to advanced. Students are assessed and placed in the appropriate course based on placement tests. The duration of the program can be from five semesters to as little as one semester. These courses are required for international students but are taken concurrently with courses required for degree completion. Many of the skills learned in the ESL courses are applied to their degree courses, helping students to gain the confidence and skills to enable them to complete their degree more effectively.

The Intensive English Program (IEP) again focuses on the standard ESL skills: reading, writing, speaking and listening. The IEP at Lake City University meets for twenty hours a week and focuses on the skills of reading, writing, speaking and listening. Students are grouped by level and the classes contain no more than eighteen students. The students are placed into a level and stay with the same students in the same class during the day. The teachers change for each class, but the students do not. Students are assessed prior to placement, using much the same method as the degree seeking students, with the addition of an oral interview. Students are then placed into a level. Upon completion of the program the ESL students are ready for entry into a university program or to return to their career. The students that attend the IEP are more varied in the demographics, not concentrated in South East Asian region, but throughout the world. Most students remain in attendance of the IEP for one academic year.

The participants of this study were solely from the degree seeking program rather than the IEP. All students in the ESL program were invited to participate in the study, but the degree seeking students were the only ones that responded to the survey and interview requests. There are several reasons for this one being that the students in the IEP at Lake City University may not feel that their language proficiency level was adequate to engage in a discussion about their English learning experiences. It could also be that the survey was not promoted to the same level within the IEP courses as it was to the degree seeking students. Either way, the students that chose to participate in the study provided robust information pertaining to their experiences learning English both in their home country and the USA.

Method

Working with individuals who are providing their experiences in their second language requires a certain amount of finesse and patience. These individuals were straddling the delicate boundary between their experiences and how they felt about these classes. Most of the students that take ESL courses at Lake City University are not happy about their placements, since most of them have had English training in their home countries, other universities or through private tutoring. These students often feel that these courses are redundant and are not helping them to accomplish their academic goals. The classes that are offered in the ESL department do not count towards students' graduation requirements, with the exception of the terminal writing course in the program. Because of this setup to encourage students to learn the skills, these students often feel that the process are taking up valuable time in their endeavor to complete their degrees within four years. But, this research is not about the perceptions that these students had towards taking developmental writing and reading courses, but about their experiences in the classrooms where English proficiency was the goal in reading, writing, speaking and listening.

In order to allow these students to process the questions and think about their experiences, a mix-method study was conducted. This study could be considered a form of triangulation, but the initial goal was to give the participants the necessary means to process their experiences and the language to express their ideas and emotions related to acquiring English in both their home countries and at an English-speaking university without the pressure of an initial interview. When interviewing individuals in their second language, it is very important to remember that various techniques may be taken by these individuals so that they do not make language errors. Although, the participants were continually reminded that their language was not being judged nor were their answers, it is an ingrained and instinctual need to protect one's self from making errors and to minimize embarrassment, face-saving techniques (Mondada & Doehler, 2004). So, a survey was created to begin to scaffold or encourage these participants to think about their experiences in a certain manner. This often mirrors what is done in their English classroom, where students are given the time to process and write and re-write their answers. In the case of this survey, the participants could take as much time as they desired to provide their answers to the questions that were set forth in the thirty-nine question survey. At the end of the survey, the participants could choose to participate in a follow-up oral interview. The follow-up oral interviews lasted between one hour and one hour and a half. The oral interview utilized similar questions to the survey and delved deeper into students' experiences.

Ultimately using the two methods of data collection yielded robust data from multiple angles. From the surveys, it was possible to gain quantitative data to measure the sample against the general population of international students at Lake City University. It also provided additional narrative data for participants who were unable to provide interview data. But, most importantly, the survey maintained anonymity for these individuals so their opinions and voices could be heard. The interviews provided depth, which is often missing in quantitative studies. It allowed there to be faces put to the opinions of the community that is often mixed with the general student population. Their experiences had the opportunity to be showcased in multiple ways.

Oftentimes with narrative inquiry the scope of the study is small, but deep (Andrews, 2014; Clandinin & Connely, 2000; Gomez, 2010; Kohler-Reissman, 2007). However, the depth provides insight into a community that does not always have a voice. But, since the studies are

small it is often hard to generalize to a larger population. But, by utilizing mixed-methods it was possible to gain data from a larger section of the community so as to be representative of a larger portion. It is possible for this to speak to more than just a small population, but one that is wider in nature. The triangulation within the study also allows for continuity and reliability within the data and analysis. The themes that emerge from one portion of the study can be compared to the other portion. This creates a bridge between the data, but also speaks to the overarching themes that emerge from cross-sections of the data. This reliability within data types allows for there to be comparison amongst the types of data collection.

When utilizing a single method of data collection, especially when it is qualitative in nature, there is also a question of replicability. By their nature related to the contexts in which data is collected, it is possible to say that data could never be reproduced because each context for collection is different. Context in this case means the surround attributes for the participants. Ultimately, time, place and experience factor into the collection of data. Because context is not able to be reproduce, the triangulation within the study provides weight to the data and analysis. This makes the study one wherein the data has the capacity to allow its findings to generalize to a wider range of individuals. Hopefully, this will allow ESL students to have recognition brought to their experiences and spaces. Their stories and the narrative that is ultimately constructed surrounding their spaces may enable there to be changes within the existing spaces for language acquisition allowing for greater diversity and willingness to acquire a language.

Survey

The value of a survey within a qualitative study seems like an oxymoron of sorts. Surveys are often about numbers and letting trends speak and the numbers provide the facts. However, this survey was intentioned as a manner to bridge the gap and minimize language related anxiety.

L2 learners often face moments of panic when asked to discuss topics that are unfamiliar and may lead to language errors. To minimize this, a survey was created so that time constraints and face-to-face interactions and expectations could be alleviated. Participants would then have the time to write and re-write their responses without the fear of judgement. The goal of this survey was to function as a priming tool for the participants to think and write about their experiences. However, the results were slightly different than expected. The data that was gathered from the survey was not as intentioned, which was to be just a manner to gather demographics and engage participants in thinking about what they may want to say during their interviews. But what resulted from the surveys was more than just demographic data, it provided usable and fruitful insight into student experiences.

The survey was designed by the researcher. It utilized a secure server that anonymized the data, so that participants did not have to provide their names unless they elected to participate in a follow-up interview. This was designed for the participants to express themselves freely and talk about their experiences within and beyond the classroom.

In order to access robust data, multiple question types were created. The first type of question that was created was multiple choice, allowing for a single answer selection. This type of question was designed for collection of demographic information about the participants.

The next type of question that was used involved open-ended questions asking participants to describe their classrooms. Most participants provided physical descriptions of the layout of their classrooms, which when asked about a space is the most common area an individual thinks about. This provided a general backdrop of the different classroom formations in terms of organization of desks, teachers, students and the blackboard. The third question type was comparative in nature, asking students to pick their preference of language learning setting. This was used to determine an environment type so that a follow-up open-ended question could be asked so as to understand what made some environments more or less anxiety inducing. It also provided an interesting insight into the type of language, formal or informal, which participants preferred to learn. This was unintended in terms of what the question was asking but speaks to the needs that education as an event needs to accommodate.

Finally, the last question type asked participants to rank their experiences using a Likert scale. The Likert scale was comparative in nature because of the implicit nature of ranking against other entities. It asked to compare their classroom interactions in their home country and at Lake City University. They were to rank who was the central communicator within the classroom space for both their home country and Lake City University. This was not followed by an open-ended question in the survey but was discussed within the interview.

Although the survey was meant to function as means to inform the face-to-face interview questions, which it did, it ultimately provided rich data on its own. The survey seemed to provide honest answers since it was anonymous. The participants spoke to their likes and dislikes without fear of retaliation, because their names were not linked to their responses, unless they chose them to be. This freedom to respond generated data that informed not just the interview questions, but also yielded data in its own right. Because there were no time constraints placed on the competition of the survey, the participants could take the survey at their leisure as well as stop and start. Since it was available on both mobile devices and computers, the flexibility to respond on whatever means, most likely lead to a higher response rate.

Ultimately, the survey response rate was relatively high for the proportion which it was sent to. There were about one hundred responses to the survey, with many overlapping themes, which will be discussed later.

Despite their digital nature, there was surprising depth in some of the responses that would have led to fruitful interviews, but the participants did not always choose to participate in the interview process. Although this was a disappointment, their responses were adequate in providing the information to generate questions to the participants in the interview.

Interviews

Interviews are the foundation of narrative inquiry. Therefore, it was a forgone conclusion that interviews would be used as a means for data collection. But, interviews were complicated for this particular subset of participants since the data was being collected in their L2. L2 participants often needs special considerations when conducting spontaneous speech interviews that are focused on content rather than language use.

As has been discussed, when working with L2 learners there are inherent complications, often discussed within works about working with L2 learners. Vygotsky (1978) discussed them through his work, which was then taken up by individuals such as Bilmes, 1988; Guaïtella, 1998; He, 2004; Kasper, 2004; Lantoff & Thorne 2006; Markee, 2004; Markee & Kasper, 2004; Mchoul, 1978; Mondada & Doehler, 2004; Mori, 2004; Seedhouse, 2004; Wagner, 2004 to name but a few. Each of these researchers talked about managing the complexities of anxieties of L2 participants in classroom, which translates to interactions that include the exclusive use of their L2 over their L1. Having worked with L2 learners mitigating the affective filter and monitor to allow participant to produce their most genuine answers without fear of errors is often reduced through using scaffolding techniques, whereby individuals are given tools or time to

practice to help gain the skills necessary to complete a task with confidence (Canagarajah, 2004; Gutiérrez, 2008; Ivey & Johnston, 2013; Krashen, 1984). The purpose of the pre-survey was to give potential participants the opportunity to think through their answers and manipulate the language that they planned to use. Thus, the interviews were meant to invoke the least amount of anxiety possible for these potential participants.

The interviews were intended to be structured and a full list of questions was prepared prior to the first interview. This was meant to give a certain consistency when processing data and analyzing the data that was collected. However, the list quickly became a guide after the overly formal and anxiety inducing first interview. The structured interview caused the topics to jump from idea to idea rather than following a more natural progression that enabled follow-up questions from ideas expressed in each question. This more natural conversation style of semistructured interview allowed for the participants to ask for clarifications and expand on ideas, even in some cases they went back to questions to expand as one idea led to another. Although this was more disorganized form of data collection made processing data and analysis slightly more difficult the data was more organic. It also allowed the participants to allow their language to be fluent rather than overly structured.

Despite the semi-structured nature of the interviews there were a few questions that were continually placed within the interviews because these questions yielded very robust data. The questions that were always asked beyond the demographic questions revolved around the participants' memory of their early English classrooms in their home country, their classrooms throughout compulsory school and their classrooms in their current university setting. Each of these questions was asked as paper and pen were placed on the writing surface nearest them. It yielded tactile data, meaning the participants drew their classroom spaces. Another question that

was always asked was about what the participant's ideal classroom space would look like and why. Again, this question generated a drawn diagram of the spaces that they preferred. These drawings were unintended but extremely helpful in understanding where the participants had started and done the bulk of their learning and where they would like their classrooms to move to.

Most of the interview questions asked the participants to discuss their experiences acquiring their L2: English. The data generated stories of their education lives that were peppered with emotions, speaking to the multiple layers that spaces include beyond just the physical constructions and linguistic landscapes of the classroom spaces. Ultimately, this speaks to the complexity present within the walls of the classroom and how education as an event must move beyond the walls to encompass the topography of the spaces where students are.

The interviews allowed a glimpse through the eyes of the participants as they navigated the complexities of their situations and changing cultures within the spaces of education. Although they were often unaware of the social, linguistics and culture gymnastics that they performed, they nonetheless spoke about the challenges of their spaces and emotions that were provoked throughout their experiences.

Analysis

The analyses of each artifact collected in this multi-modal study uses inductive and deductive metrics much like Gomez and White (2009). The themes were inductive in that they revolved around the patterns that reoccurred for the participants. These themes were emergent in the data that was presented by the participants; they were not pre-meditated on the part of the researcher. The themes came from the data, as the data was analyzed. They emerged through the telling of the lived experiences of these students (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). The artifacts

were deductive because themes emerged from the data collected that were expected. It was expected that students would talk about how their educational settings in their home countries as more structured and rigid, whereas the United States presented a more relaxed atmosphere where students and teachers were not so segregated.

The survey data was analyzed, like the interview data, using inductive and deductive means. The surveys, despite including Likert-scaled items, multiple choice and true/false questions, yielded the most robust data in the open-ended questions. These written artifacts were used in conjunction with the interview data to observe the themes that occur across metrics. Although there were no drawn artifacts in the survey data, there were stories that emerged about the experiences of the participants. These stories were used to triangulate the data, giving gravitas to the small sample size of the interview data (n=6) (Mays & Pope, 1995).

Finally, the drawings will be utilized to understand what the students want in their classrooms. This is a truly inductive analysis, because there were no expectations of what students would want. It was expected that they would not want fixed classroom settings, such as lecture halls with immobile desks. However, the theme that emerged within these drawings spoke to the desire for equity in access to each other and the teacher. This theme was not predicted but was emergent upon the continued interviews with the participants that explained what they preferred in the classroom and why.

Conclusion

Narrative inquiry, as a methodology, is not without drawbacks, but it has the capacity to fulfill the needs and wants of both a researcher and their participants. It is a space where disbelief is suspended on the part of the researcher allowing for a certain safety for the storyteller in the face of sharing a counter narrative that poses a risk to individuals. Inherently, all stories have

some risk when being shared. It is possible for a story to be rejected if the listener does not agree. This risk could be greater depending on the story's position within the social hierarchy. When challenging a dominant narrative, the risk of exclusion and being ostracized is a reality that exists not in the metaphoric sense, but in actuality. This risk is a reality because by sharing one's narrative, which runs counter to the accepted narrative, one may not be accepted. But it is in this moment of risk that the most is to be gained by sharing one's perspective of the world, one where a change to the status quo means change and evolution.

Evolution, change and recognition are three of the pillars of narrative inquiry. The scale of the study may not enact widespread change, but it nonetheless acts as a call to action. It is a wakeup call to the inconsistencies and moments of fissures within a society, whereby individuals lose their capacity to speak. They become voiceless through the constraints of a society that does not recognize that difference and injustice exist. Injustice is, unfortunately, part of society, but recognition through narrative inquiry is a stepping-stone on the path of change. Narrative inquiry affords researchers a glimpse into the lives of others and the capacity for understanding. These moments are the goal of narrative inquiry; to find a space where storytellers share their lived experiences and themes emerge so patterns can be seen. The patterns, although, small are the start of understanding.

Chapter 4: Data

Introduction to Data

In talking to students, as a teacher, it became apparent that their experiences and attitudes toward learning English was shaped well before their two feet landed on American soil. But the most interesting aspect was the metamorphosis their English learning took. As they entered the classroom, there was trepidation, resistance and a general air of exasperation. And, in working with foreign students for so long, the implication of why never left me. I often wonder/ed about their previous experiences and how it has shaped their perceptions of their current environments. These ESL students evolved from when they entered the classroom, some more than others, but they appeared if not changed by their experiences, at least open to the American way of learning a second language. This change in perception led to the research questions:

- 1. How do students experience their educational spaces, both the physical space and beyond the physical?
- 2. How does a linguistic landscape help us understand the social construction of space?
- 3. How does the linguistic landscape include and/or exclude students from the spaces where a classroom is co-constructed?
 - b. How can exclusion be minimized to ensure students are in control of their own spaces and education?
- 4. How can spaces be shaped to meet the needs of students from their own lived experiences?

In narrative inquiry, it is necessary to gather stories from individuals' lived experiences and their remembrances of these events (Andrews, 2014; Clandinin & Connelly, 2000; Nelson, 2001). However, in working with students who are using their second language, allowing for the preparation of answers and the associated language is not just a kindness, but a means of procuring robust data. Therefore, a survey utilizing questions that were measurements of the sample (demographics) and more quantitative questions asking about measurable data such as age, ethnicity and gender, were utilized to ensure that the sample was a representation of the greater international student population at Lake City University. The survey also included fixed answer questions and open-ended questions. This information was used in creating the semi-structured interview questions that were used to gather oral narratives related to the individuals' experiences learning English in their home country environments and American environments.

The responses that were collected from the surveys were used in conjunction with the stories from the interviews. Together this data was combined to create robust information about the experiences of the students. Narratives provide depth, whereas the surveys allow for some breadth. This depth and breadth in terms of data allows for a more complex narrative to be constructed. It can help to transition the stories of the individuals to more widely relatable narratives "to identify similarities across the moments into an aggregate, a summation" (Kohler Riessman, 1993, p. 13). In order to understand the impact of the data, it is necessary to first explore the data.

In this section the data from the surveys and the narratives will be described. First, we will look at the surveys and the representative sample. Then we will move on to what was found in the fixed answer and open-ended questions to consolidate the information. Once this is complete, six narratives will be examined to understand the more personal experiences of students. All of this data will be analyzed in the next chapter to understand the potential answers to the research questions.

Survey

The survey, which is included in Appendix A, was 39 questions long and could be conducted on a smartphone or computer. This flexibility in the means of taking the survey allowed for the participants to start and stop, but also to complete the survey anywhere. Such flexibility contributed to the number of willing participants that took the survey. The survey was sent to 713 students in the ESL department at Lake City University. The survey was started by 100 participants. And, 83 participants completed the survey entirely. Five of these participants did not consent to their participants is not large, but it is not inordinately small when the original target group was 713. This means the survey had a response rate of 11.64%. This is not surprising given that most students are flooded with emails every day and that is how the survey was distributed. In fact, this response rate was larger than expected.

Demographics

The survey was sent to all students in the ESL department in Spring 2016. Of the 713 students 83 responded, to become subjects of this research study. In order to understand the population of the students that responded to the study, it is important to remember that international students make up a small proportion of the entire student population at Lake City University. There are 5,280 international students out of 40,814 students in attendance at Lake City University. This means that international students account for 12.9% of the entire student population. Therefore, a small sample size is not surprising.

The international student population overall is 55% male and 45% female. However, the survey had a gender distribution of 56% female, 42% male and 1% other. So, the survey was not entirely representative of the gender distribution of the international student population at Lake City University. The survey skewed more female than male. In fact, it inverted the gender distribution. This can be accounted for through many explanations including that the researcher is female with a very gendered European American name: Lauren, but this result could simply be that more of the ESL students that are willing to respond to surveys are female. The gender imbalance although interesting will not affect the responses. In further research, a study about gender perceptions of spaces, would be interesting, but the focus of this study is about the perception of educational spaces and how that impacts students regardless of their gender. Next, the language distribution of the survey respondents is important, because it speaks to the variety of languages and individuals who were willing to respond to the survey.



Figure 4.1

The majority of participants were Chinese or Mandarin L1 individuals. This is not a surprising finding, considering the growing population of international students from China at this university. Most of the participants (92%) of the survey defined themselves as "Other Asian," which aligns with the application language for Lake City University. As such, the

languages that are spoken in Asian countries are represented in the study by 89% of the participants speaking languages that are found on the Asian continent.





Such demographic information is important to understanding where the students are from, but the overall representation of self-identified ethnicity is important as well. It also allowed the sampling to be judged as representative or not of the ethnic representation among international students. The students are from diverse areas of the world, and the participants were also diverse in not just their ethnicity, but in their L1 language. However, it is possible to see how the students are representative of the growing Asian community within Lake City University. Since they have become such a large part of the post-secondary world, it is important to understand their language backgrounds in order to help them to reach their language and educational goals.

In addition, it is important to note the year in school they consider themselves to be. ESL courses can be taken concurrently with degree credits, but students often take them early in their college career to prepare themselves for other classes, but also to finish requirements. Therefore, it is not surprising that the majority of participants are early in their academic careers. This study did not include just undergraduate students. Graduate students are typically not required to take ESL courses but may elect to take them to get a teaching assistant position or because their
advisor suggested it. Like the undergraduate students, they take these courses early in their coursework so that it may help them in their other courses. However, the majority of participants were first year students (Freshman). Thus, their experiences are as relevant as any other students' experiences.



Figure 4.3

Each of these demographic measurements explains how these participants fit into the overall context of the international student population at Lake City University. Although the international student population does not make up a large portion of the student population, they are nonetheless impactful on the community. Their impact is one of cultural diversity to a generally homogeneous white, middle class university. These students not only bring their individual experiences, but their culture, language and traditions. This diversity is helpful to creating an educational context that has little diversity. These students have invaluable experiences, which allow them to take their education and contribute to the growing globalization taking place. It is possible to conjecture that the international student population will continue to grow, and their English abilities may continue to need support. As such, their

needs and how to help them control their learning environment will continue to be relevant as we move forward.

Duration

The average time it took for participants to complete the survey was 97.3 minutes. However, there were some outliers (5) that may have left their survey open. These participants took two or more hours to complete. Since this was so far out of the range of all other participants, these were removed from the average as outliers. A total of 78 participants were counted in the survey. Their average time to take the survey was 30.9 minutes.



Figure 4.4

The survey did not take an inordinate amount of time, but for busy students 30 minutes or more may have been too much long for them to complete. However, from the graph in Figure 4.4, it appears that the majority of the participants took under 30 minutes to respond. This may have been for several reasons including the types of responses that were given in the open-ended questions or simply their ability to focus just on the survey.

Exploration of Survey Data

Although the survey contained demographic data as represented above, the data that was most robust in the understanding of participants' experiences learning English went beyond the demographic data. These questions asked about preferences, experiences and perceptions. These questions provided limited answer selection from a list of prescribed answers. These answers allowed for consistency across participants and the ability to track what a majority of participants felt. This kind of data is different from narrative analysis, in that the saturation point is more obvious, but like narrative data, it does reach saturation. Saturation means "[t]he point of saturation is... [a] rather elastic notion... but there are diminishing returns, and the cut off between adding to emerging findings and not adding, might be considered inevitably arbitrary" (Mason, 2010, p. 16). Ultimately, this means that saturation is reached when there is nothing new being added to the narrative that is being constructed.

Before the open-ended questions are analyzed, it is important to understand the responses to the prescribed answer questions. These allow for easily described trends in the data because there was uniformity in the answers. Each of the questions that were examined will be presented with the answers selected by the participants and how they ranked in terms of what the participants selected, an explanation of the questions and then a description of the data.

Who does most of the speaking in your classroom?

The question about speaking arrangements in the classroom allows for an understanding of the classroom hierarchical power arrangement. In recent decades, language education has moved away from teacher-centered approaches to ones where the students are the focus of the classroom (Pinar, Reynolds, Slattery, & Taubman, 2008). However, this is not true in all communities of the world. In fact, it is not uncommon for more teacher-centered approaches to

be used in different cultures. These methods focus on de-contextualized language and the students are not active participants in their own education. To illustrate this trend of difference, the question about who does the most speaking assessed this arrangement. Keeping in mind the participants' countries of origin, it is not surprising to see a vast difference of the perception of speaking in the classroom.

	Home Country	Lake City University (USA)
Equal Student and Teacher Speaking in Class	12%	58%
More Teacher Speaking in Class	85%	19%
More Student Speaking in Class	4%	23%

Figure 4.5

When asked about the speaking arrangements of their past home country experiences and their current or recent past Lake City University experiences, there was an overwhelming change. About 12% of the respondents selected that there was equal teacher and student speaking in the classroom, whereas Lake City University classrooms displayed equal teacher and student speaking 58% as identified by participants. When comparing the home country classrooms of participants, teachers took the majority of the opportunities to speak. Whereas, at Lake City University, participants did not perceive this as frequently, with just 19% selecting it as the balance. Finally, the perception of students speaking in classrooms in the home country was relatively rare at just 4% of the responses, however, almost a quarter of the participants selected it as the speaking balance at Lake City University.

The overall trend here speaks to how different the two classroom environments are. These differences can be attributed to teaching philosophy, cultural expectations and even learning outcomes, but the focus of this study is about the perceptions of students in their educational spaces. These differences speak to how the two environments are different. It will later be explored what these differences mean for these participants. The take away here is that ESL classrooms at Lake City University, which is not an atypical university, are more centered around balancing the speaking between students and teachers or allowing students to have the freedom to communicate in the target language. And, classroom environments in countries where English is not the dominant language may have a different focus and therefore the need for a teacher to be at the center of all interaction is the expectation. This could be correlated with how students feel in these environments.

Where do you feel most comfortable learning English?

Since student perception of their spaces is the target of this study to understand wherein students feel the most comfortable learning, this question aligns with the idea of preference in the classroom. Students can tell you where they learn a language best and the classroom is an environment that can be intimidating. One participant stated their preference beyond the prescribed answers as:

"The feeling that I will not get judged by my broken Enlgish makes me feel more comfartable speaking in Enlgish."

Knowing where students feel their embarrassment will be minimized and will allow them to grow beyond what they perceive of as good or bad English is necessary for an education space to be effective.

The question of *Where do you feel the most comfortable learning?* was given four different choices, one of which was not selected. The majority of participants (59%) felt best learning English in the United States in environments beyond the language classroom. Some

participants (29%) indicated that they preferred an American classroom setting to learn English and few (12%) indicated that they preferred a classroom in their home country.

It is not surprising given that the data about the speaking arrangements within the classroom showed that in the home country students were less likely to be given the floor. They were likely passive in their interactions. These participants preferred there to be interactions with peers and their teacher. However, with the teacher doing the majority of the speaking in the home country, this was not a possibility. When the participants changed the country of their language classroom, the balance of speaking moved toward them mirroring their preference for a more interactive classroom environment.

What makes is easiest for you to learn in a classroom?

The next question that students were asked related to what made it easiest for them to learn in a language classroom. This question was divided into their home country and Lake City University Classroom, but for the analysis of this question, the responses were combined. This question was an open-ended question that allowed participants to craft their own responses. Some participants chose not to respond to this question. This question had a relatively low response rate at only 38% of the entire survey respondents.

But the responses that were given showed what these participants felt made a difference in their learning environment. There were five individuals who indicated that a teacher made it easier for them to learn. Most did not indicate what aspect of the teacher made it easier for them to learn. Although one participant explained:

"Teachers can guide me in learning English and show more patience towards my speaking."

It appears that the teacher's interaction with the students and their patience towards errors is what makes the environment more conducive to participants learning English. However, the other responses that appeared multiple times included:

- 1. Small class size
- 2. Not being judged
- 3. Diverse students

Each of these responses appeared two or more times in the data sample. Although these responses are not innovative in their complexity or analysis of what helps students learn, it does speak to what may have previously been missing in their classroom environments.

Did you notice any signs or posters in your classroom?

As with most spaces, what decorates the walls is not often noticed unless there is something unusual on them. A classroom is not different in this way. There are parts of a classroom that are seen but not necessarily noticed. For example, it might be odd to see a billboard in a classroom, because it does not belong there. But decorations that contain words, can speak to the community that it serves (Shohamy & Gorter, 2009). And, classrooms are no different. It is possible that the decorations on the walls of a classroom could act as a portal, including all language backgrounds through their use of only the target language or the inclusion of all languages within the classroom community (Gee, 2004).

Since students spend most of their time in a classroom, they may notice what is on the walls, but remembering it may be difficult because it became normalized at some point. Since participants were thinking back to their classroom experiences, it is not surprising that participants either did not or could not remember what was on the walls of their classroom

spaces. In some cases, there might not have been anything on the walls other than a chalkboard or whiteboard and windows.



Figure 4.6

However, a large percentage of participants did notice what was on the walls. In their home country, 64% of participants remembered seeing decorations on the walls of their classroom and could identify what language these linguistic tokens were in. The language varied between participants depending on their home language, but the home language was the most common language on the signs and posters. It is important to note that for most of the study participants, they were still in compulsory education (K-12 schooling) and the classrooms were not utilized in the same way that classrooms are in a university setting. In terms of noticing signs and posters within the classroom spaces at Lake City University, it was split with slightly more participants not noticing any adornments on the walls. This is not surprising because the classrooms typically lack any decor beyond what is legally required in signage, i.e. exit signs and furniture organization and what is necessary for teaching and learning purposes, whiteboards or chalkboards.

Description of the Signs and Posters.

Since this study focuses on the exploration of space through the lens of language, one question that was asked was about the languages that were present on the signs and posters. The question attempted to ask the participants about what they perceived on the sign. As was mentioned, if there is some part of the sign that is abnormal or different from the environment, it may make more of a lasting impression. Some of the participants may have responded in such a way to speak to the logic of the location of the sign. But the perception of the signs and posters is just as important as what was actually on them. Memory is suggestable and can be influenced by outsiders, however, this should not degrade our perception of the participant as they remember and retell from recollection (Andrews, 2014; Ecker, Lewandowsky, Cheung, & Maybery, 2014).





The participants were not asked to describe what the content of the signs and posters were, but they were asked about what language(s) appeared on these signs and posters. These signs and posters were more homogeneous in the participants' native countries, displaying only the target language, English, or the native language. At Lake City University the signs were for the most part in English, as this is the dominant language in the United States but included languages beyond the participants' home country language(s). This could be because the participants were in a country where there is no official language and universities tend to be open to multiple languages to entice students to join language clubs or groups. But, in general there was more diversity in the languages of the signs at Lake City University when compared with the participants' past schools.

Although this data speaks to the shared experiences of the participants in the study and how their answers can be quantified to understand the general trends that these participants may have experienced throughout their education experiences, it does not provide as much depth in the understanding of classroom spaces and spaces of a multi-layered nature that could be shaped by the participants and students. In order to truly understand how the participants were interacting in their education spaces, more than just quantifiable data needed to be utilized to understand how experience interplays within the classroom.

Therefore, the study utilized more open-ended questions to allow participants to express their feelings about their learning environments. These questions were to be a bridging point with the interviews to allow participants to prepare for more in-depth interviews. However, this data also was robust in providing communality across methods of data collection. But, the survey responses were shorter and not all participants chose to answer all of the open-ended questions. These questions included information about their preferences for where they learned English, how they learned English best and what they noticed in their language learning environments. Some of the respondents left these open-ended questions blank and moved on to questions that did not require longer responses, but the responses that participants provided spoke to the diversity of experiences through the participants' time learning English.

Narrative Data

The survey data provided one perspective to the student experiences, but stories, which were constructed from individual interviews of six international students provide a different understanding: the educational experiences of these students. The stories that were crafted from the interviews focus on data concerning the experiences of the participants, their feelings about learning a second language (English), the perceptions of their spaces and their ideal learning environments. These stories are unique but share many of the same themes with the survey data and across the stories.

Although the numbers and generalized survey data can explain the consistency amongst participants, the act of triangulation through data speaks to how to understand the sampling. Triangulation is the idea that through multiple data sources, saturation in data has been reached (Jick; 1979; Mathison, 1988). And, this saturation provides a gravitas to the data, making it not just understandable, but provides gravitas to the conclusions that are drawn. By including these narratives with the more quantitatively focused survey data, it is possible that some interviewer bias may be mitigated (Andrews, 2014; Clandinin &Connelly, 2000; Rhineberger, Hartmann & Van Valey, 2005). But first the stories will be recounted, before a narrative can be formed from the similar threads that are interwoven into each of the individual stories.

Meg

Meg is a transfer student at Lake City University. In academic status she is considered a senior, but at the time of data collection, she still had 2 semesters to complete. Meg's educational history is interesting because she spent half of her compulsory education years in the United States and half were spent in Japan. She considers her first language to be Japanese but received most of her post-secondary education in English. So, her English is very strong. Meg transferred to Lake City University after attending an American University in Japan and then transferring to an American campus and finally ending up at Lake City University.

Meg's education experiences can best be described as difficult. She talked about how she never quite fit in to either educational system. This might be explained by where she attended middle and high school: rural Japan. In rural Japan she explained, English speakers were uncommon and people rarely left Japan. She was a novelty of sorts, having done most of her elementary school in the United States. When she returned to Japan, she explained that other students looked at her differently because she could speak English so well. She stated that she was not as smart as the other students because "Japanese students are really smart." She had a hard time understanding the language, despite being Japanese.

But, she felt comfortable in English class when the volunteer English Aide was in the classroom. Although, she explained that her initial experience in her English class was difficult as she grappled with the accent she should use. She explained that she struggled between speaking English with a Japanese accent, which she was not certain she could do, and speaking English with an American accent, which she felt both more and less comfortable doing. She thought that by speaking English with an American accent she would make herself appear more different from her Japanese classmate than she already was. She also mentioned that she felt isolated: "teachers didn't understand what it feels like to come back from a totally different country...students open to having [a new person]." She mentioned this several times throughout her interview, that she was different, othered and isolated. Such isolation magnified how "the girls weren't very nice" and "they were curious." The other students' curiosity added to her feeling different and not accepted.

The one place where Meg felt accepted was around the foreign teacher. The foreign teacher is a common feature in most English classes in Japan. The role of this "teacher" is to pronounce words correctly for the teacher when asked. They typically sit in the corner or walk around, helping students. They do not teach the class, but function as a classroom aide. These foreign teachers made Meg feel comfortable because they shared experiences. But the idea that there was someone on her side made English an outlet for Meg and a place to escape. The foreign teacher and Meg passed a notebook back and forth allowing her to improve her English, but also make a friend in an environment that was not always welcoming, as the other teacher(s) and students did not make Meg feel welcomed and accepted, but an oddity of sorts.

Although the social layer of the space was one full of interesting interactions that shaped Meg's experiences, the classroom's physical structure and organization also had an impact on what she experienced in being accepted or othered. Her initial schooling had classrooms without doors, but noise was never an issue. Classes were generally quiet, and students did not make a lot of noise. The classrooms were grouped by year, so they were more of a pod organization. Students had individual desks that were assigned A-Z by the teacher. The position in the class rotated every two months. But, Meg preferred a spot in the back by the windows, so she could look out and observe anything but the classroom. She liked to do this so that she could think of other things because her classes that were taught in Japanese were too hard and the ones in English were too easy. In the back, the teacher would not notice that she was not paying attention and she could hide from answering questions. She talked about answering or asking question as an anxiety inducing event because she thought it took her too long to formulate the questions. Much of the classroom setting caused Meg to feel disengaged or anxious.

When asked about the wall decorations, Meg explained that in elementary school there was some student created work on the walls, but as she progressed in grade level to high school, there were fewer decorations on the walls, moving toward blank walls with utilitarian signs talking about class schedule or going to college. Generally, the teacher stayed at the front of the room, talking at the students. There was very little movement by the students. The classroom had clearly defined teacher and student spaces. Teachers were relegated to the front and the students remained in their assigned places ready for the information that teachers intended to share. There was little choice in the compulsory classroom for movement or where you would sit, this was challenging for Meg.

However, college was a departure for her. She was in a smaller classroom. Generally speaking, she likes smaller classrooms and smaller class sizes. College allowed her to make friends and feel that she was judged less. This could be because she went to an English university in Japan and then transferred to an American university: Lake City University. But, the most important idea that Meg noted in college was that the teacher paid attention to everyone and explained more. She mentioned that there were still individual desks, but there were more discussions. She was able to be confident in her abilities because there were fewer people to judge and people were open to her and her abilities. Much of the same atmosphere continued in her ESL courses at Lake City University.

Ly

Ly is a first-year student at Lake City University. He is Vietnamese American and spoke mainly English at home because his mother is American. His mother also spoke French, so they had a dual language household. Since Ly considered his first language English, he was not pleased by his placement in an ESL course. This is not surprising since many students are often frustrated by their placement into the ESL program.

Since English was Ly's first language he does not remember learning it in school, but he does recall learning French in school. He explained that he did all of his school in Vietnam, coming to the United States for college. His primary school was taught in English and they would sing songs to learn. The classroom was small but set up in a way that the students sat at tables and the teacher taught from the front of the room. The classroom, like many elementary school classrooms, was full of children's artwork.

Most of Ly's experiences were described through the rooms and the experiences. He explained that his classrooms were generally forward facing, meaning the desks or tables faced the chalkboard. They did not contain many decorations on the walls because students moved to different classrooms for different classes. However, the little decorations on walls were in French throughout his middle and high school years.

The language classrooms were in a different building, and he mentioned that English had its own building. These classrooms were described in detail because the walls were different from the normal stark white of the other classrooms. The walls were a "weird color;" he described it as green. The English classes were set up as rows of tables and students picked where they sat, but the teacher organized students if they were being too noisy. Since the teacher had a dedicated classroom, the walls were decorated with artwork and posters in English.

The classroom that Ly enjoyed the most was his Mandarin classroom. He explained "I tend to associate my favorite classroom with the experiences in the room." The teacher made the experiences and therefore the room for Ly. He talked about how the classroom allowed students to choose their seats and there were group activities. The teacher moved about unless he was

lecturing and then he went to the front of the room. But the students were arranged in a "U" shape that made everyone visible. Like the English classroom, this room had Chinese specific artwork including a picture of Mao. What made the classroom and the environment beyond the teacher being a fun guy was that Ly had friends in the class and they used their language outside the classroom.

Ly talked about learning language the naturalistic "you know how learning a language is easiest when you are in the setting and everyone else around you is speaking the language." He felt this acutely in the ESL setting at Lake City University. He talked about how it was "quite special and we managed to make connections." He talked about how group work made them feel like a community and the class was really close and he made friends in his class. The idea of making friends and using them to help you improve a language was prevalent throughout the discussion of his experiences.

Finally, after talking about his past experiences when learning his five languages, he talked about what his ideal classroom would be. Ly preferred a classroom with windows because it keeps you awake and a whiteboard for the same reason. A chalkboard was not part of the ideal classroom because of the screech of chalk. The desks would be set up as a "U" shape with mobile furniture, preferably tables, in a big space, but with a small number of students. Ly mentioned specifically how the "arm desks" were too small and it makes it hard to work with others. Group work and space were two areas that Ly emphasized while he was talking about his ideal classroom space. This would allow everyone to easily move around. In addition, connecting with the teacher is important. He mentioned how connecting with the teacher was easier in the USA and it was not forced as in other settings. Overall, he talked about the positives of his experience in ESL, despite his initial frustration with the placement in the class.

Serena

Serena is an 18-year-old female student from China. She is just completing her first year at Lake City University and has many opinions about her abilities and the ESL program at Lake City University. She did not describe her education as privileged, but she did talk about how all of her schooling was done at private institutions.

Very quickly, Serena distinguished "actual learning" from not real learning. Most of what she talked about was very black and white in the sense that she defined what was beneath her and what was adequate for her learning.

Serena explained that her first English class began in first grade and the same style of learning continued through fifth grade. This was not real English learning "I don't consider it my first formal English experience because all they taught us was red/green or something." She explained that most of the class focused on listening and repeating. If the students did well, they were rewarded with being allowed to play. She explained that this is not real learning and her teacher was a "grumpy old lady" and her teachers did not really speak English. She did not really care about learning English and it was easy like math. Since it was easy, it did not count as formal learning. In sixth grade is when Serena believes her "formal English learning" began because her teacher was from London and he was very good. He liked her a lot, so it made her interested in learning English. Her initial experience in this class was not good, since she got a 56% on a pre-test and she was "devastated." She was used to doing well in school and learning that she was not great at something was difficult. So, this is what initially drew her to languages. She took the time to memorize all the vocabulary and textbook. This memorization was not what she considered to be really learning English that came later when she began to talk to her teacher and go to his office for more English practice. English for Serena was a place where she could excel and interact. Interaction was very important for her to want to engage.

In most of her schooling in China, Serena experienced small class sizes with only about 38 students in her overall class, but English classes included only 19 students. These small class sizes are something that was important to Serena since she was able to interact with her teacher more because of it. Serena explained how the teacher and the interactions were important to how she felt about her classes. When she respected her teacher, it was a good class. When she did not think highly of her teacher, then the class was not "formal learning."

Despite her fortune at going to private school through middle school in China and a private American high school in Virginia, Serena was very concerned with fairness. At Lake City University, Serena was placed into an upper intermediate English course for one semester and an advanced English course called "Academic Writing." She explained that it was unfair to be placed in this program and these courses. It was unfair for two reasons. One, because she went to an American high school and two, because she should be treated the same as everyone else. She does not want any advantages over anyone else. She talked about how ESL at Lake City "messed up what she had learned in high school" and how it was not fair to be in these classes. Despite her discussion of how her ESL courses were taught, she did describe the interactions within the classroom as positive. She explained that much of the classes involved them, the students, moving and interacting. They talked and shared their ideas in almost every class. They did not sit, and she talked to her teacher frequently.

Although she did not describe the physical spaces of her Lake City University classrooms, she did talk about the spaces where she had done her previous education and what she would like to see in her ideal classroom. Her previous classrooms included many windows and tables. Two students sat at the tables, giving them plenty of space. This was a theme that Serena emphasized: having enough space. Her classrooms were very large, 8 meters by 12 meters. This size allowed for students to move about the space and feel that they had a space within the larger space. Like many other classrooms, there was a blackboard at the front, where the teacher stood and lectured. Neither the students nor the teacher were expected to move from their prescribed places within the room. The only classroom where movement was encouraged was in the English classroom. Students were placed at tables that were grouped together. They worked together on many activities and used the open spaces in the center of the room for group work and sharing ideas. Students sat on the carpets on the floors or the couches that might be in some of the foreign language classrooms. Serena made the classrooms feel like they were spaces where students were comfortable and where they would interact. She liked these classrooms because she would make friends in the classroom. Making friends was an important part of a classroom and class being good. She needed the interaction to make learning formal and enjoyable. Most of these classrooms were undecorated because the teachers would move from with the students to different rooms. But the students had spaces where they could keep their things. This was their "base" and it made it easier for students to get from room to room.

Finally, her middle school classroom and building structure is what Serena viewed as her version of the ideal classroom. She talked about how the tables would be a circle with the teacher in the middle and the student on the outside. Then, the teacher could see all the students and interact with them. The students would be able to interact with each other and there would be space in the middle for them to work in groups on the floor. Serena talked about the floor being a place for students to truly interact and make friends, because if you are on the floor you have to talk to each other. Serena was very concerned about how students would see the blackboard, so

she thought a projector that could project on all of the walls would be the best. This would ensure that the classroom was fair, and everyone could see.

Although Serena went to private schools, she had seen several different schools and was able to articulate what she preferred and what she did not. She did not talk about ever being embarrassed in a classroom, but she talked about how she was very driven to excel by how she felt about her teachers, which depended on how they felt about her and her sense of justice and equity. If she was not interested or thought she had been treated unfairly, then she did not like the class or the teacher. This is important to understanding how Serena viewed interactions as the marker of a good or bad class.

Sun

Sun is a PhD candidate at Lake City University. She is in the early stages of her PhD and very quiet. She grew up in South Korea and considers herself to be South Korean. However, she did do some of her compulsory school in Japan. She explained that Korean is her first language and that most of her schooling was taught in Korean.

Unlike some of the other participants in this study, Sun did not have to take the compulsory sequence of ESL classes that undergraduates are required to take. The bar of English is much higher for graduate students and the presumption is that their language skills should allow them to complete their degree program. However, it can be recommended that a graduate take some ESL classes to help develop their skills in English. As such, Sun took two semesters of ESL. She took written communication for graduate students and oral communication for graduate students. These courses focus on the skills graduate students need to be successful in the world of academia. So, the focus is on writing research papers and giving presentations such as those found at conferences.

For the most part, Sun was very quiet and often hard to hear because she spoke so softly. But, she was able to talk about her English learning experiences. Unlike some of the other participants in the study, Sun started English when she was in fifth grade. This is later than some other Asian countries. Typically, China starts their students in English classes much earlier, but fifth grade appears to be typical for South Korea.

Sun described her English learning as one shaped by individual learning, isolation, and embarrassment. English learning for Sun started in small audio booths, which she called cubbies. The students would sit in these cubbies and listen to English and repeat it back. They could see the teacher and the teacher could see them, through the front of the cubby, but they could not see one another. These labs were part of the learning English initially and they did not help Sun gain confidence in her abilities. She talked about being called on to speak in front of the class later in her English education and "sometimes it was humiliating when I can't pronounce correctly." So, this forced Sun into listening and not speaking. So, she did not use English very much.

As her English learning progressed, the situation did not get better. She felt the teacher was always monitoring and she could not pronounce her words correctly. As she continued through learning English, vocabulary was always the focus and this teaching method was not great. She often talked about wanting to learn English in a more natural manner: "I wanted to learn English more naturally." Throughout her time in Korea, Sun hid in the middle of the classroom, where the teachers could not see her, since they stood at the front. She preferred the middle because she would not draw attention to herself and the back made her not pay attention. Although, she had little control over where she sat, she often hoped to be near a window and in a middle row. When she was in Korea, there were few times when she moved throughout the classroom. Students rarely worked in groups and when they did the focus was on translating. The teachers moved classrooms, but the students stayed in their same spots throughout the day. The classrooms and their curriculum were focused on learning for the test and doing well. So, Sun viewed English as a skill that she was not very good at and one that was embarrassing. The humiliation was a topic that Sun described on many occasions, as speaking was not her strong suit and the teachers were quick to point it out, reinforcing Sun's desire to hide and not speak.

Finally, this began to change in college. Sun attended college in South Korea, but it was radically different from her previous experiences. She described college and learning English as overwhelming. The focus moved to conversations and speaking, not just memorizing. The goal of her college level English classes was to get a native accent. This was hard for her because speaking was a challenge. This was especially true when Sun came to the USA. The class sizes became smaller and students were encouraged to share in English often. Although she became more comfortable, it is clear that she is still worried about speaking incorrectly because her language was slow to be produced.

As Sun was describing her experiences, she talked about what she liked in her classrooms and what made it easier for her to learn. One idea she pointed out was the smaller class size. She enjoyed the classes that had 10-15 people because this prevented embarrassment and allowed her to feel comfortable. Like some of the other participants, Sun talked about how tables are preferable over a desk because it produces better quality conversations. And, she enjoyed when the teacher was accessible to her, as well as the white boards. She explained: "sometimes if we sit here can see board directions... any sitting it is better to have more boards in the classroom." This means when she can see the board, and everyone can see the board, they can understand the expectations better.

Although Sun's experiences learning English were not always the best, there were some positives that she mentioned as she progressed through her education. She learned that smaller classes work better for her and that she can overcome her embarrassment. Ultimately, Sun talked about what she had done and what she hoped for in her future education.

June

June is a first-year student at Lake City University. She is Chinese and 19 years old. June considers herself to be Chinese but did most of her compulsory schooling in Japan. She speaks three languages: Chinese, Japanese and English. Throughout her school June studied English at different stages and took frequent breaks from learning English. English is not always taught to the same age group depending on country.

June began her education in China but moved to Japan when she was in seventh grade. In China, English is started early in the educational system. June began her English studies in second grade. She called her English learning informal because they were not graded, and they just learned the alphabet. This distinction between formal and informal was brought up several times to talk about how formal education culminates in a test in her opinion, but informal learning is ungraded. Most of June's experiences learning English in China were not positive. The culture of testing is prevalent in education there, forcing students to memorize. June talked about memorizing vocabulary for the frequent tests in her classes. This testing regimen began as early as third grade. She talked about how she and her classmates were tested at least two times a semester and these were just the large tests. There were smaller tests that were present as well. This testing led to stress as she learned English, focusing on the memorization for the test. This opinion of stress and dislike was mirrored in her classroom descriptions in China. She talked about how the classrooms were old and dark. She described her class as small with only twenty students, maybe fewer. She went on to talk about how her teacher often wrote on the board in English but would speak in Chinese. June was not impressed by this and found it hard to express herself in English. She talked about how they just memorized the words and it was not fun.

Despite her negative perceptions of English learning in China, when she moved to Japan and started to study English in Japan in seventh grade, she found the class to be more enjoyable. She described her classroom as "bright and pretty." She liked her teacher because she was super nice, and she could not speak Japanese, so she had to use English. All of the students had to use English too, so they had to do well in English. June talked about this in a very positive light, saying she wanted to do well for her teacher. Although they did not move around the classroom, they still learned a lot.

As June continued through middle school, her classrooms were still similar to her initial Japanese classroom, but the students moved around more, "moving is happy." This movement in class was different for June because in China students rarely move about the classroom. They talked in class and even had a foreign English teacher to help them with their pronunciation. June's English continued to improve as she moved through her school. She continued to get good grades and enjoyed the process of learning English when she had good teachers who did not treat her differently because she was foreign.

Eventually she decided to study English at Lake City University in the USA. June's experiences continued to be positive. She was in a classroom that had windows on one side and a teacher who she enjoyed. The class moved around a lot, so that the students were forced to talk

to one another. June enjoyed this, since moving was important to her. She described her teacher in much the same way she described her other English teachers, nice and pretty. For June the impact of the teacher was important. She talked about how her teachers made her feel.

Finally, June described her ideal classroom, after describing her classroom in the past as being similar with walls full of windows, blackboards and teachers who moved about the class. At Lake City University, she said her teacher moved around more, but still stayed in the front of the room to talk. June talked about how she liked the "U" shaped desk arrangement because she could talk to the teacher easily. She liked the projector and being able to work in groups easily. Like many other participants, she preferred tables to a desk.

Ultimately, June's experiences were dictated by her feelings towards her teacher. These feelings were often impactful for how June understood her surroundings. She used words that indicated her overall experiences and mood toward the environment she was in. Despite doing well in English classes, they were not always pleasant for her.

Ellen

Ellen is an 18-year-old Chinese woman. She came to Lake City University and was in her first year. She started studying English when she was in third grade, which she explained is the mandatory age for Chinese children to begin English, but lots of kids start earlier. She was not one of these kids that started learning English early. She started in third grade and they mainly focused on vocabulary and dialogue. The focus was on grading and memorizing.

Ellen went on to explain how her class had seventy students in it, which is pretty standard in China. She sat in the back, because she is pretty tall and that means you have to sit in the back. Tall people block the view of shorter kids, so they are placed in the back. Her classroom was arranged with columns and rows. The students stayed in their rows all year, but they rotated columns weekly. She explained that all the classrooms are "pretty formatted in China." By this she meant that all of the classrooms have decorations on one wall that are specific to the subject, a big blackboard in the front and a small blackboard (cork board) that is decorated by the lead student. The classrooms all have these components throughout China, she explained.

This standardized format of classrooms carried over to how the students learned English. Most students memorized English vocabulary. The students were tested weekly on listening and writing. Ellen described the testing focus as intense because they were in nine subjects and there were tests in each subject every week. Most of her classes, when they were not taking tests, focused on listening to the teacher and taking notes. She made a point of saying in China students are not supposed to talk during class. They are supposed to listen and quietly take notes. This format of listening and not participating is reflected in where the students remain, in their desks, and where the teacher stands, at the front near the large blackboard. Ellen talked about the importance of moving in class. She explained "[Moving] definitely makes you stay engaged." In China, students rarely move beyond their desk spaces, which is not surprising since most classes have fifty students or more. This lack of movement took place in all courses, even English class.

English was not always enjoyable for Ellen. She expressed her frustration about teachers who used Chinese to talk about English and the simplicity of learning English in school. She always described the embarrassment that was constructed from instances where she would answer a question wrong. This environment was not one that was best for learning and exploring a language, which inherently makes one vulnerable. However, with a new teacher, Ellen found that English class could be enjoyable in China. She described this impactful teacher as knowledgeable, caring, respectful and understanding. This teacher began to change Ellen's perception of her English learning and the non-physical spaces where it took place. English was not a chore, but enjoyable.

Although Chinese classrooms and spaces did not feel liberating to Ellen, the spaces where she studied English began to feel different especially as the perception of the teacher changed. This was more pronounced as Ellen began her journey at Lake City University, taking English classes. She described the American style of learning English as completely different from the Chinese style. She described her English learning environment in the USA as impactful because "you really have to learn it." The education spaces in her Lake City University experiences moved students away from memorizing and provided them, the students with more opportunities to speak and interact. The students were allowed to speak up whenever and say whatever. There was never a moment where they should feel bad for making a mistake. This was a departure from China, where you "gotta speak it right." This change allowed Ellen to feel confident in a way that she had not in China, even as the class leader. She never felt that she would get made fun of, but felt encouraged by her peers and teachers. Her classroom became a community of sorts.

This community atmosphere was reflected in how she described the space, as one of her ideal learning spaces. The classroom was organized with tables in a "U" shape. The teacher was in the front but moved around frequently. Students were asked to move, this "wasn't necessary but helped us stay engaged." There was lots of discussion and students were asked to think and share often throughout the class. Although, Ellen did not remember all of the items on the wall, what she did remember were some posters or signs in English. Although, this classroom space was good, there were of course some areas where she would change things in her ideal classroom. More windows were one of the features in her ideal classroom. And, of course, tables

are preferred to desks. Most importantly, she mentioned the importance of small groups and classes because then you cannot be as embarrassed when you make mistakes.

Although Ellen's journey through English learning had lows and highs, it had generally improved. No learning experience is perfect. The classroom space is never perfect, but it can be improved when students and teachers work together to create an environment that minimizes embarrassment.

Conclusion

Since the data came from two different sources: the survey and stories, it was important to examine the entire body of research. The stories that are constructed above and supplemented by the survey will be fruitful in examining the themes that emerge across data types. These data types and their continuity in answers help to create validity through triangulation meaning "cross validation when two or more distinct methods are found to be congruent and yield comparable data" (Jick, 1979, p. 2).

Each of these experiences is valid, but their combined impact makes the stories more than mere stories of singular individuals, but narratives that have the ability to relate across community borders. Through the analysis in the next chapter the themes that emerge will help to construct this narrative, which will hopefully lead to a greater understanding of the shaping experiences that linguistic landscapes and classroom environments have on adult second language learners.

Chapter 5: Data Analysis-Understanding the stories

Introduction

Individuals learning a second language are vulnerable. For children, the weight of society is not often as heavy, and they often are not yet as self-aware as adults. So, it is in some ways easier to learn a second language when you are younger than when you are older. Since the focus of this study was on the experiences of ESL students as adults and how their perceptions of classroom spaces shaped their learning and attitudes toward learning a second language, how these adult language learners felt and understood their surroundings is impactful for their educational outcomes.

In this chapter, I will explore how the study participants experienced their educational surroundings throughout their education and how that shaped their perceptions of their educational spaces. This study was guided by several questions:

- 1. How do students experience their educational spaces, both the physical space and beyond the physical?
- 2. How does a linguistic landscape help us understand the social construction of space?
- 3. How does the linguistic landscape include and/or exclude students from the spaces where a classroom is co-constructed?
 - c. How can exclusion be minimized to ensure students are in control of their own spaces and education?
- 4. How can spaces be shaped to meet the needs of students from their own lived experiences?

These questions will be answered after a discussion of the emergent themes in the data in the next chapter.

In order to understand the data, first individual stories were constructed by the participants and re-told by the researcher (see Chapter 4: Data). Mishler (1990) describes this process as "I take for granted that the account produced during the interview is a reconstruction of the past, shaped by the particular context of its telling" (p. 427). Understanding that the stories that are told by the participants and re-constructed by a researcher helps to contextualize the stories as a stepping stone to the narratives. What this means is that a story is an individual entity, but a narrative is one that has the ability to take multiple individual stories and turn them into a larger entity that may speak to more individuals. The researcher had to take the stories that were often out of sequence and full meaning which can only be understood through the oral representation of the story and transform it into a relatable written description (Kohler Reissman, 1993). It is these descriptions that were coded for repeated themes by the participants. These themes are then examined to understand how these answer the above research questions. Therefore, before the research questions can be answered it is best to examine what the themes and what their significance is within the greater narrative that is constructed through the lived experiences of the participants (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000).

Isolation

Spaces are multilayered. They are experienced through the many layers that are present within all of the spaces where our lives are lived. These layers help to shape the space (Burns, 2009). And, a classroom space is no different. It is through the manipulation of the spaces that a space becomes owned by the community, "a space between their desires and their realities..., a space where words could simultaneously create coherence and disruption" (Dyson, 1997, p.19). One layer that a classroom space interacts with frequently is the emotional space. This particular layer of space is impactful for students because it will color their experiences within a classroom.

When examining the narrative data from the stories of the participants in both the oral interviews and the surveys, a theme of isolation continued to emerge. The participants talked about how they like to hide in the classroom, by sitting at the back or near windows. They did not want to draw attention to themselves, because they constantly felt different in the classroom. One participant explained "teachers didn't understand what it feels like to come back from a totally different country" and "students were also not open to having [someone different]... they [the other students] were curious" and "the girls weren't nice" (Meg's Interview). The other students and the teacher made Meg feel like she was an oddity in the classroom. She often felt different from everyone around her because she did not speak Japanese well, but had a "Japanese face." She talked frequently about feeling like she was an outsider. These feelings were magnified by the lack of interactions that she had with her teacher and the negative interactions she had with other students. It made her disengage from the learning process, because she could not perform as expected. Meg was not the only participant that talked about feeling isolated. Sun, the Korean graduate student, felt isolated and fearful every time she had to speak in front of the class, which was a frequent occurrence, as that was how their abilities were assessed. Sun explained that "sometimes it was humiliating when I can't pronounce correctly." This same sentiment was shared by Ellen and June. They talked about the fear of getting the wrong answer and the embarrassment that would cause. These feelings of fear and embarrassment ultimately lead to a feeling of loneliness.

These feelings of fear, embarrassment and loneliness are not constructed individually. There are events and actions that cause these feelings to be co-constructed in the classroom. Much as Gee (2012) talked about how language has a shaping effect on context, this is mirrored in the linguistic landscape of the place (p. 97). The oral language of the space and what is said to others or how others react to someone, shapes the experiences of the place (Shohamy & Waksman, 2009). This language use and the reaction to it becomes a fabric of the linguistic landscape. Because the students and sometimes the teacher reacted negatively to a student's language production, the student understands that there is a space for fear in the classroom. When others laugh or treat students who have different experiences, as if they are an oddity, the perception of isolation is further intensified.

The intensification of the reactions and the social meaning of the reactions speaks to how the emotional space is created in conjunction between many individuals in the classroom. When an emotional space is constructed through reactionary means (ie a student laughs at another cruelly) and the behavior is not addressed, the receiver of the negative feedback feels othered (Nelson, 2001, p. 87). This expression of othering is not uncommon in narrative analysis. In fact, the use of narrative inquiry to subvert the dominant narrative is a key to changing one layer of a space. Nelson (2001) used stories to allow individuals to form a community through affiliation. They were able to leverage their stories and create a larger narrative from their individual stories. The narrative that was created acted as a counter-narrative to the dominant narrative.

This discussion of emotional spaces within the classroom and the attention that needs to be paid to them is the moment where a counter-story can be created to combat the negative impacts on the emotional and social spaces within a classroom. Although little can be done to change past experiences, the perception of the feeling of isolation by participants in this study can be a starting point to understanding the impact the emotional space has on the construction of the third space for knowledge creation. When students feel emotionally disengaged, they are not likely to interact with their peers because they are fearful of rejection (Markee, 2004). This rejection does not allow these students to co-construct their knowledge or be active participants in their educational trajectories.

Interactions

Interactions shape the spaces and often dictate how students feel about their educational settings. Students and teachers define their spaces, at least the social dimension of their spaces, through their interactions. This bleeds into the physical perception of the classroom space (which will be discussed in the next section). Here interaction is defined as part of social interactions, which Gee (2012) describes as meaning making, negotiation, contestation and agreement. These interactions are variable and context dependent (p. 21). For this understanding of classroom spaces, it is important to realize that the social interactions that students experience dictates their engagement within the classroom.

One area that almost all of the participants in this multi-method study highlighted as an important aspect of their journey through education was the interactions within their educational spaces. For many participants what dictated their learning experiences was the ability to feel both accepted, thus preventing isolation, and making friends. As one participant said, "Here, I was encouraged to talk and listen to others rather than just reading" (survey data). The idea that the classroom space in the USA revolved around the interactions of students was a counter point to the interactions in many other learning contexts and countries.

Within the stories from the interviews, both Serena and Ellen talked about how the expectations for students in the classroom were radically different from those in their home country of China. In China, they explained the teacher speaks and students are expected to listen and sometimes repeat what they hear. This method of interaction has generally been moved away from in recent decades as the more current methods of teaching are student-centered (Pinar,

171

Reynolds, Slattery & Taubman, 2008). This unidirectional interaction (listening and repeating) defines the power dynamics within the classroom setting.

In a traditional classroom, the teacher holds the majority of the cultural capital. In the interactions that the participants (survey responses, June, Ellen, Sun and Meg) describe where the teacher does most of the speaking, this is a type of self-selected turn taking that is an expression of the power an individual may hold (Mchoul, 1978). Students generally have less cultural capital in the classroom than the teacher. Therefore, the students are often respectful to the social structure within the room. It is through the dynamics of this power structure that the interactions between teachers and students are defined.

In some countries, but from this study mainly Asian countries, the teacher reinforces the idea that success will be rewarded with more attention. This comes in several forms, Ellen described her success being rewarded with being made lead student. The teacher then imparted some power to Ellen to decorate different areas of the room. Another reward that participants, including June, Sun and Ellen described was that the teacher(s) would pay more attention to the students who were doing well. This made the teacher inaccessible to them if they were perceived as not doing well. This interaction in many ways excludes underperforming students from actively engaging in the classroom. This social relationship teaches students who are struggling that they are not valuable members of the classroom community. This in turn reinforces feelings of isolation and creates a negative perception of the classroom as a space for judgment and "othering" as Meg described in her educational stories.

However, these feelings can be mitigated by positive interactions within the educational setting. For Meg, Serena, June and Ly, the moment a teacher or a teaching aide expressed interest in their abilities, the classroom moved beyond a place for potential embarrassment and

judgment to one that celebrated their unique abilities. Meg explained how a foreign English teaching aide changed her experiences in a classroom. Because of the support from the teaching aide, an English learning environment became a respite in a world that had previously judged her as deficient ss Dyson (1993) described "a space where words could simultaneously create coherence and disruption" allows a space to transform in a world beyond the goals of testing and performance, but to one of success and acceptance (p. 16).

The interactions with a teacher are not the only defining relationships in a classroom environment. In fact, in some ways the interaction with peers dictate the classroom experience more. As Gee (2012) describes "[s]chool is seen, not as a place just to learn, but as a place to forge more friendships within the peer-based Discourses that supports her present at school and mediate her relationship with the school" (189). Making friends in the classroom was an area that helped the participants to feel included or excluded in their spaces.

The survey responses explained how English classrooms allowed them to experience different cultures and learning about others in a way that was not confrontational but open to their differences and, as one student responded on the survey, "[a]nd learning English gives me the opportunity to make friends that are not from my country, giving me the chance to learn other cultures." The ability to affiliate within a classroom makes learning not just about the knowledge, but the formation of a community within the space.

This community is important because learning makes individuals inherently vulnerable, as mistakes are possible and because of social interactions, these mistakes either can be celebrated as opportunities for learning or moments that are anxiety inducing. Ly, one of the interview subjects, talked about how his most positive language learning experiences included fun "group activities." These group activities allowed students to experiment with their language in a way that was not being monitored for accuracy. The idea of monitoring for appropriate or inappropriate behavior or performance is one that is prevalent in school settings, functioning as a panopticon of sorts, reinforcing narratives of fear (Foucault, 1975) but can be subverted with moments of sanctioned experimentation.

One way to ensure that a community is being formed is through allowing students to create relationships with other students. This will allow students to have advocates within their peer groups and potential externally through teacher support. In order to ensure that interactions are possible, it is necessary to pay attention to the social dimension of space, where student/student and student/teacher relationships are formed. One way to ensure that a classroom is constructing a positive social space is through the physical design of the classroom.

Classroom Organization

The physical organization of a classroom is what has been called throughout this study, the first space. The first space is the tangible space in which students and teachers interact (Burns, 2009; Lefebvre, 1991). It is where the desks, decorations and movement occur. These tangible items in the space inadvertently tell students about social position in the classroom—the ability for interaction and the power that they possess within the space.

Although this section will focus on the physical organization of the classroom, there are many components to the physical classroom that impact students' understanding of their spaces. The participants in this study focused on several aspects: the decorations on the walls, the physical movement of themselves and the teacher in the space, their choice to interact and sit within the space and the physical size of the room.
Decorations

The rooms where students learn are often the background for their education. When first entering a room, it is possible to notice right away what is decorating the walls or what the walls might lack. In linguistic landscaping, the written language on the walls shapes the landscape of the entire space; as Rancière (2009) comments, "[w]ords describe what the eye might see or express what it will never see; they deliberately clarify or obscure an idea" (p. 7). The words in the written sense that decorate the walls tell a story about the community the classroom hopes to create. The story that is created through the decorations alone allows for individuals to feel ownership of their space or feel as though they do not belong. Words are powerful and tell a story. The choices behind the words explain how these decorations shape the space as much as the words themselves. The decorations explain who belongs in the space, what language should be used.

The linguistic landscape of a space also explores the notion of who has dominance in the space, based on the language that is part of the linguistic landscape (Huebner, 2009). This means that the words on the signs explain the preference for a certain language in the space (Dagenais, Moore, Sabatier, Lamarre & Armand, 2009, p. 257; Trumper-Hecht, 2009). The language preference presented on the signs is further strengthened by the language people choose to orally communicate with within the space.

In terms of the classrooms that the participants experienced, decorations were sparse. However, one participant, Ly, talked about how his language classrooms were decorated with artwork from the different target language countries, so Mao was featured in his Chinese classroom and American movie posters were featured in his English classroom. Ly spoke about these language tokens in a very positive manner. It made his classroom a space where he enjoyed interacting with the language. Ly also talked about how his early classrooms were full of children's artwork. This made the space one where the students felt comfortable. In much the same vein, Ellen talked about her classroom's decorations being chosen by the lead teacher, which she was, and how she enjoyed it immensely. She dictated the decorations with the input of the teacher. This ownership of even a small part of the class décor made her proud of her educational space. And, it made it her want to continue to perform well, so that she could maintain the honor.

For the most part, the artwork and decorations of spaces were limited, but participants talked about the language used on the chalkboard. When in English class, the language being used on the board was English, but the explanations were given in Chinese. This dichotomy of language use was frustrating to participants like June. This frustration could have been a byproduct of how English, the target language of the classroom, was not given the preference over Chinese and her learning was impacted. It speaks to the value that English is given in this Chinese classroom. Ultimately, the use of oral Chinese and written English describes a situation where spoken English may be viewed as a less valued entity. Since the participant had buy-in for learning oral English, her choices were rejected, ultimately resulting in frustration. The selective use of one language over the other created a sense that preferring to speak English was undesirable. This often made students good at English feel othered. This "othering" would be caused by the inability to communicate in both the target language and the dominant language, while some students were able to understand either language, or both.

Such shaping of the linguistic landscape plays an important role in helping students to either band together over their frustration in the shared miscomprehension of the target language and the ability to fall back on the dominant language, or reject notions from both. However, the landscape has created a space where there is preference for those that have the ability to understand the target and dominant language. However, if the target language remains the focal point, all students could bond over their shared inability to understand. It is the use of the dominant language that creates a vacuum for those that are not part of the dominant community. And, it therefore reinforces the dominant narratives about language preference, even in spaces where the majority language should be sidelined in lieu of learning.

Like the oral language that shapes a space, the written language of the space expressed through decorations can help the space create an equilibrium. It defines the space as one for a certain language, where all involved in that space have the desire to become proficient in the target language featured on the signage. The decorations are also important for allowing all to feel they have ownership in either their understanding or their choice of decorations. Although the choice is not always possible, the ability to appreciate always is possible. It can be through the appreciation of the decorations and the language use that a classroom space helps promote the buy-in for the language use in the space.

Furniture/ Positioning

Much like the decorations help students feel at ease within their educational spaces, the choices that students make about where they sit, who they sit near and even what type of desk/table they sit at has an impact on the perceptions of their learning environment, making education more than just a sedentary passive construction, but a transactional one (Rosenblatt, 2005). This means that students are active participants in their learning, even if they are only sitting at a desk. It is a choice to pay attention and engage within an environment. Certain spaces encourage this type of engagement, whereas others discourage engagement. The choice for engagement falls to the students in the classroom, but there are spaces that invite those within the

space to participate in a meaningful way and others encourage students to hide. However, these spaces are not meant to be presented as being only binary, but the choices are one that is perpetually made and that is what makes it transactional.

To understand the impact that the choice for engagement has on a space, it is important to understand the impact of the furniture students sit at in the classroom. In a prototypical classroom, students have smaller desks and teachers have a larger desk. The size of the desk in some ways speaks to the control and power the teacher has in comparison to the students. The teacher possesses more space and the students possess less space. These spaces could correlate to the amount of power that is held within the space. However, as time and the classroom materials have changed (books to tablets, pencils to computers) the need for space has changed. Today, students need more space to contain the implements of educations. Books, notebooks and a pencil require less space than a computer, a tablet, a stylus and sometimes a book. Therefore, the furniture of the classroom needs to update with the times. Participants talked about the need for more space in terms of where they sat. This consideration for the materials of learning were just one area of concern as all the interview participants lamented the problems of the arm desk.

The desk/table debate is not one that is just important for the new implementation of technology, but the goals of the classroom. Ellen put it best "[i]t was pretty formatted in China." She meant that the classrooms were all set up the same way. There were rows of desks and the students did not move beyond their desks. They may rotate the columns, but they never changed rows in China. When the participants described their classroom experiences, especially Sun, they talked about sitting at forward facing desks, where the teacher could see you. The students did not move. Group work and collaboration was rarely done from the perspective of the

participants. There was much memorization and repeating, as was the expectation. The desk reinforced the idea of individual learning and individual success.

These same participants talked about how their classrooms transformed when they came to an American setting for learning English. The desks were often replaced by tables, so there was more personal space for each individual. The students were expected to talk to one another and share their ideas and language. This change in furniture and style (individual to collaborative) spoke to the divergent goals of the classroom. The students were no longer expected to be vessels for knowledge consumption, but active participants in their learning: collaborators "[s]ometimes, it is encouraged to talk to other students who sit at their side, which was not allowed in my earlier classroom" (Survey data). The design of the classroom furniture is conducive for this type of learning.

Movement

Much as classroom organization, furniture and artwork make the first physical space, so do the movements of the bodies within the spaces. Movement is often allowed or disavowed by the individual in charge "confrontation between the power and the impotence of a body" (Rancière, 2011, p. 80). Within the classroom the teacher dictated where and when the students move. This is enacted through expressions of power that manifest as societal rules. Students are taught to respect the teachers. Teachers therefore dictate the movement of the students.

There is a belief that Foucault dispels about the control of the body. It was previously believed that the control of the body leads to docility and that the mind can be controlled when the body is docile. However, "[t]he body, required to be docile in its minutest operations, opposes and shows the conditions of functioning proper to an organism. Disciplinary power has as its correlative an individuality that is not only analytical and 'cellular,' but also natural and

179

'organic'" explains the need for movement within the classroom (Foucault, 1975, p.156). It is generally believed that students that are docile are easier to control. And, students that do not obey are treated as outsiders in the space, because they have not been conforming to the expectations of classrooms. This creates a sense that students are not in control of their own spaces or themselves within these spaces.

In a classroom, participants explained how "[moving] definitely makes you stay more engaged" (Ellen, personal interview). The need for movement in the classroom spoke to how the classroom is an event. However, the desire for movement and the participants' beliefs of movement in the classroom were generally not honored in their classrooms. The need for movement comes from the need to engage. However, this movement is difficult when classrooms are extremely large and class size is a problem. It makes these participants feel that they are not individuals with educational needs or control of their educational environments, but masses that must be controlled.

The idea of movement or the lack of it is not just an expression of control or choice, but of the need to pay homage to the desires of students within their educational spaces. Students as has been shown throughout this study understand what works best for their educational experiences and how to enact the events that promote their own success, making education an event. When the movement of students is limited in the classrooms, it does not allow individuals to control their spaces for education, making them perceive of their educational spaces as less welcoming.

In addition to the lack of student movement, even the movements of the teachers were limited. Many interview participants (Sun, Ellen, June, Serena) talked about how the teachers often stayed at the front of the classroom. The teachers only moved about the classroom to interact with few students, which led to isolation, and created a barrier between the teacher and the students.

This barrier reinforced the power structure in the classroom. Much as the control of the movement of the students reinforces the power dynamics in the classroom, so too does the teacher not making themselves available to the students. In some ways this preference the teacher's needs over those of the students. By operationalizing this idea, it teaches these students that the space where they gain an education as an event of the contexts is not one where they are in control or where they have a voice. The students are the non-dominant community defined through the eyes of the dominant teacher. This does not allow for a community to form within the classroom. It allows for students to be treated as outsiders in the community of the classroom for behaviors that seem organic to them. Ultimately, the movement within a classroom either encourages a community by allowing everyone to affiliate as needed, collaborate and co-construct knowledge. Creating barriers between teachers and students and restricting movement reinforces narratives of dominance and the dominant narrative that students are vessels for learning and should not have their experiences viewed as equal to those in a higher position of power.

Class Size

Just as furniture and positioning within a classroom have an impact on educational spaces, class size was a dominant theme as well. Most participants described their class size as large. Ellen talked about how her classes had over sixty students. "They were large," she said. As a counterpoint, Serena who went to a private Chinese elementary school described her class size as small at just 38 students. The idea of a large class is so commonplace in China that Serena mentioned how her classes were small at least four times throughout her story of her education.

Even Meg and Sun talked about how large their classes were in Japan and South Korea. Both women expressed a desire for small classes and enjoyed how college allowed the classes to be smaller.

Class size had a negative impact for participants when it was large and a positive impact when it was small. The size of the class is a topic throughout most of education, it is a common fear for parents as their children enter overcrowded schools that their child will be lost in the space as teachers' attention is drawn away to more needy students.

Teachers are often pulled in many directions and the role of the teacher is "to properly focus" (Gee, 2012, p. 110). But the question of how a teacher can focus on each individual student as the metric of education have become those of "learnification' of education: the transformation of an educational vocabulary into a language of learning" (Biesta, 2010, p. 14). As the educational landscape has changed from one where teachers had agency in their classroom to one where the agency is given to a testing metric (Biesta, Priestly & Robinson, 2015) classrooms, especially with large numbers of students, impact the perception that students have when constructing their lived experiences within their educational stories.

Since the classes were so large, participants in this study often talked about feeling embarrassed and isolated within their education experiences. In fact, the stories of Sun and Meg revolved around the fear that education produced within them. Their class sizes reinforced their fear of embarrassment because Sun explained "sometimes it was humiliating when I can't pronounce correctly." Ultimately, students performed orally in front of an audience, causing students to feel on display. The space created one where performance was preferred over affiliation and learning "this power is revived, reactivated in the performance of the former, in the intelligence which constructs that performance" (Rancière, 2011, p. 3). The class and the performance to assess knowledge is what allowed for the portal to the community (Gee, 2011). However, this manner of performance, when students could not perform led to the othering of these students. The act of standing and being judged in the physical space was a gate keeper of sorts for the students.

When the class size grows, it is better, at least from the perspective of the participants to conform to norms and try to excel within the structure of the classroom organization, rather than fail. This type of performance in front of a class, especially a large class, led to a community where shame was possible. This shame, when experienced, contributed to the feeling that not all students belong. The students who struggled were not encouraged in a large class but discouraged from trying by the fear of embarrassment. This is not a new concept, as mob and crowd mentality are often the drivers of power as Foucault (1975) describes in the opening torture seen in *Discipline and Punish*. Although individuals would not act out these moments of violence individually, when they become a mob, they would rather affiliate than risk being made to feel like an outsider. Being so "othered" is dangerous in both educational spaces and in Foucault's (1975) torture scene, because a mob, or a group of students, can quickly turn on someone who is different. This fear is what forces individuals to align.

It is not the class size itself that is the problem. A large class that promotes community and encouragement within the educational space can be as nurturing of difference as those that are small. However, the problem is in constructing a space that is not overrun by the dominant narrative that is possible when there is a large group of people. Therefore, participants using their own experiences, described their preference for smaller class sizes. These smaller classes were described in the survey data as "[t]here were about 13 students in a class…The class was relaxing," and "[i]t's more opened to talk with classmates." These surveys describe why the participants viewed the smaller class size as conducive for their education as an event. The smaller class size allowed the teacher to move about and reach all of the students, enabling a community to form through interaction rather than just being in the space (Gee, 2004).

In some classrooms it is the membership in the space, the merely being there, that is perceived as community forming, but interactions and the potential for them are what enable a classroom space to transform from the first physical space (Burns, 2009) to one that is a portal (Gee, 2004) to the third co-constructed space. Although the size of the class is important and smaller class sizes force interaction, it is not always a guarantee that a space will meaningfully bridge the gap between the physical and the shared. However, the experiences of the participants in this study speak to the importance of a small class size. If the feeling towards smaller class size is one that allows the power to be re-distributed in the space, allowing students and teachers to have agency in the process of education, then small class sizes are a feature that a space needs to attend to when it is being constructed.

Teacher Perception

Classrooms are not shaped only by the walls that surround them or the physical objects that reside within the physical space, but the interactions within the first space construct the second spaces (middle layers) that create a bridge to the third space. The interactional space is one of the many layers of space. The impact that this layer has on space as a whole helps to construct the portal to the third space (Gee, 2004).

Interactional spaces are instrumental in shaping the linguistic landscape as well. Although interactions are not always verbal, when they are, the language choices are impactful in the linguistic landscape. The language choices that are chosen, as has been mentioned before, include or exclude different groups of people. Since students are sensitive to these issues, it is

important to consider how students will perceive of the language being used within the interaction. If it is the target language within the classroom, the misunderstandings and miscomprehensions are part of the learning process, but if the dominant language is used, it might imply an unintended message that the student is not proficient enough in the target language to understand the interactions. This may inadvertently cause students to feel like outsiders, causing negative associations with the space.

Ultimately, interactions are complicated within any space, but a classroom space with its many layers can be even more challenging to navigate. Therefore, the interactions that teachers have with their students is a driving factor in the educational experiences of the participants "teacher is really friendly and helpful" as a survey described. The perception of the teacher is one where participants often are willing to share. The perception of the teacher was not limited to the teacher as a person, but the types of knowledge they possessed as well.

Knowledge

A theme that was presented by two interviewees was the idea of privileged and preferred knowledge. In terms of the hierarchy of knowledge, there are some types of knowledge that are preferred over others. For example, math and literacy are two types of knowledge that are sanctioned and prevalent in compulsory education (k-12). Jim Gee (2004, 2011, 2016) talks about literacy in the traditional sense and reconstructs the idea of what it means to be literate to include more types of knowledge to make all types of knowledge valued. However, this new way of privileging knowledge is not one that all consider to be true. For Serena and June, knowledge and what was taught had to fit into their criteria of "real" learning. For Serena, she did not consider it formal learning if she did not find value in what she was learning: "I don't consider it my first formal English experience because all they taught us was red/green or something." June

had a similar sentiment as she talked about being rewarded by being allowed to play when they did something right in class and not receiving grades. These two participants typify Biesta's (2010) "learnification," where the idea of learning is a transaction. It does not allow for the play that is needed for learning. There is a "tendency to replace a language of education with a language that only talks about education in terms of learning" (Biesta, 2010, p. 201). This transformation of education as an event comprised of multiple experiences to one that is solely about facts, is presented by these two women motivated through success within their classrooms.

This narrative that June and Serena constructed is part of education not as a space for play, exploration and discovery, but for privileged knowledge only. This rigid belief system of knowledge may have been reinforced by the structure of their educational upbringing: rows facing forward, restricted movement and deference to the teacher. This belief is one of valid concern in the exploration of educational spaces. Education is an event, meaning that play and discovery are essential. However, when the dominant narrative exists that education is a transaction and learning is commodified, a value in the monetary sense can be placed on education. This is wherein an educational space constructed on productivity can be created. However, education is not commodifiable. It is a set of experiences which is dependent on the contexts and communities that form it. The actors may appear again and again: teacher, students, desks, books and boards, but the outcome is always evolving. When a space is created that prizes a certain form of thinking over another, the possibility for excluding those that do not subscribe to the same set of values or have the same attributes continues to grow. Therefore, the educational spaces where students experience education should be open to the multiple literacies possible within any context (Gee, 2011).

Attitude

Much as students perceived certain types of knowledge as valid or worthy of learning, the perception of their teachers also had a huge impact on the classroom spaces. When learning a language, there is a slight bias toward a native-speaker accent since the goal is to sound as native as possible (Jenkins, 2013). This, in turn, translates to how students perceive their teachers. For the most part, students that experience their teachers as having a native-like accent view them as more knowledgeable, at least in terms of this study. Serena talked about her first formal education experience being with a British teacher. He is the first teacher that expected students to do more than memorize information "that's how I started actually LEARNING English. I wouldn't consider the prior five years of English classes be like…it's like Spanish programs for TK students here in America, so they don't actually learn anything" (Serena, personal interview). But, accent was not the only dictator of how participants felt about their instructors.

Participants also described their positive experiences with teachers as those that encouraged them. Three of the interview subjects: June, Ellen and Sun, explained that the teachers who encouraged them to try made them want to learn English more. Even Serena, who was the most critical of her language learning experiences, talked about how seeking out the teacher and forming a bond was essential for her engagement within the language classroom. For most students there is "a social need among users to engage with other voices" (Zappavigna, 2011, p. 790). The need to seek approval and interaction with teachers is not surprising. Learning a language or any new skill set makes an individual vulnerable. This vulnerability is usually quelled by a teacher who does not criticize for mistakes but helps students to correct their errors. Ellen explained that her teacher was understanding and respectful of the students, but she only found this type of teacher in the USA at Lake City University. The interactions with teachers are shapers of the educational space, but the very demeanor of the teacher also dictates how the classroom environment will feel. Students and teachers often experience the energy in the room and that dictates their feelings to not just that day in class but can be an overlay to the entire experience. Serena described one of her teachers as a "grumpy lady." This forced the students to not interact or to enjoy learning. The expectation was that they must sit quietly at their desks to prevent getting into trouble. The demeanor reinforced the already fearful environment at times. As a counterpoint, Ly talked about his Chinese teacher as being a funny guy and this made Chinese class even more enjoyable. There is a lightness that teachers bring to a classroom. This lightness does not necessarily have anything to do with the actual light in the classroom. June described some of her classes as being light and bright. Although this could talk about the physical environment, it could also be descriptive of the general feelings in the air.

Such lightness and openness often translated for the participants to an environment that was open to students trying. Students, as expressed by the lived experiences of the participants, feel "judged by my broken Enlgish" (survey data). Meg talked about the judgment here that teachers had for her American accent and experiences living abroad. This judgment is further promoted by the performance aspect of classes where students are expected to recite in front of the classroom. Ultimately the environment of judgment does not allow students and teachers to create a space of shared experiences (Gee, 2011), but treats students as less worthy. This treatment can make an educational space feel oppressive rather than open to the experiences of all the participants.

Teachers, more than any other actor, will shape the spaces since they possess most of the social capital expressed as power in the classroom (Bourdieau, 1991). This shaping of the space

allows for the community formation and expression by all participants in the room. The room is shaped not only by the teacher themselves, but also the interactions between teachers and students. Each element is a component that shapes the spaces for education, transforming it into an event of education. The event of education requires the space be shaped purposeful and by everyone.

Past, Present and Future Classrooms

The spaces of our past set our expectations for the present and construct our future experiences in a space. The hope dictates what we would like to see within a space, knowing what provides us with the most support. It is as if the past writes the expectations of the future, using the narratives of the past and present to construct a future story that is forever shaped by the etchings of past experiences "every social space has a history" (Lefebvre, 1991, p. 110). The etchings of the past leave remnants on the space, helping to grow the space beyond its past constructions. And, the only way to grow this space is through producing a space that is divorced from its past (Lefebvre, 1991).

To truly understand the experiences of the participants in their educational spaces and how the events of education shaped their understanding, participants described their educational spaces, often drawing the spaces (see Appendix B), to describe what the physical educational context looked like. Their remembrances were an important feature in their stories, "the generative past are forever leaving their inscriptions upon the writing tablet, so to speak, of space" because it provided the backdrop for all of their experiences (Lefebvre, 1991, p. 110). The spaces gave the participants a place to shine or hide, succeed or fail, participate or withdraw. The classroom spaces were the events of education shaping the space to promote learning or to create fear.

Past

The participants in the interviews talked about their classrooms as being in large spaces, to accommodate the large number of students and their desks, which were always double, and were always in straight neat rows and columns. There was a rigidity to the classrooms, which Ellen called "formatted." In the classrooms the blackboard was at the front and a bulletin board was in the back. The teacher's desk was in the front of the room to the left of the blackboard. The students faced forward and were organized based on their height, so as not to obscure anyone else's view of the front of the room. These arrangements did not adjust throughout the year beyond moving along the columns; the row of the students never changed.

Although this fixed organization is not bad, it did not allow for students to meet their needs and wants for movement. It did not also allow for students with visual or hearing difficulties to sit in a seat where they could meet their needs when engaging with education. These spaces focused on one type of learning from the participants perspective and that was testing and performance. Some of the participants talked about the rigorous testing schedule and others, including Sun and Meg, talked about performing by speaking in front of the class.

This fixed type of classroom was functional for the goals that needed to be met in this space, but it did not allow for students to "learn in the natural way" (Sun, personal interview). They often listened and repeated, but interaction was limited. The teacher would talk in Chinese and write in English on the board. This did not allow the participants to gain the fluency that they sought. The speaking through the writing, also created a sort of hierarchy of language (Chen, 2016; Kress & van Leeuwen, 1998). The hierarchy of language created a space, where the native language of the country, Chinese in this case, was also perceived as the preferred and comprehensible language. Even in the English courses, where the topic was the language,

English was the dispreferred means of communication. This implicitly informed students that English was not to be used when explaining, since the teacher modelled English as a mode of written communication, but not oral communication. This created a tapestry of sorts, where English use was one where mistakes were not encouraged, but only perfection, because even the teacher, the perceived expert, would not use the target language. This created a layer of fear of performance in the space, reinforced by the unwillingness to use oral English.

The rigidity of these spaces meant that the students were used to a fixed classroom setting and a fixed manner of learning. This allowed these participants to talk about what they viewed as "real" learning and not "real" learning. It is not dissimilar from the ways that Foucault (1975) talked about organizing bodies and observing them in spaces. Such rigidity can function for students that work well in the mold that was created. However, it can be problematic for students that feel like outsiders like Meg and Sun.

Present

When talking about their experiences at Lake City University, most of the participants talked about how different the classroom rooms were. This may have been because the classrooms are different since they are just shells for spaces, meaning they serve many classes, at the university level. The classroom could have a statistics class in it one hour, an English class at another time and history shortly after that. The classroom spaces in a university, especially a large one like Lake City University, continually use their classroom places for different functions. Therefore, the flexibility in the space is necessary.

The participants talked about how they still faced the board, but they moved during their ESL classes. The participants said they would move around at least once in each class period. They sat at tables and regularly interacted with their neighbors. The participants also remarked

that the teacher was available to them throughout the class. The teacher may have been at the front at points during the class but did not stay there. Also, the students talked about how they chose where they sat.

For the most part, the participants described how the space felt different in some ways. They talked about the community and the ability to make friends in their ESL class. They mentioned the positive interactions and how that helped them. The classroom spaces were different from their past experiences, which allowed there to be a change from their past experiences. These classrooms are set up to meet the goals of their education as an event. This means that testing in these ESL courses was not the focus but understanding and applying what was learned. Therefore, the space needed to be different to meet this educational need.

The space was constructed to allow for interaction. In some ways the space created an interactional layer for students to use so that they could access the third space. Interaction became the "portal" to their co-constructed knowledge formation in the third space (Gee, 2012). The movement within the space and the access to both the other students and the teacher allowed students to change how they thought about their experiences of education as an event. It allowed them to control their interactions and make the educational space their own, whereby they chose their knowledge acquisition and made their goals within the confines of the educational space.

Future

Participants used their past to help describe what their ideal classrooms would looked like. It was not expected what the participants would describe. For the most part the participants talked of wanting sufficient space to move around and easy access to their classmates and teacher. It was also important that they have enough space at their tables or desks to put their laptops, books and notebooks. Each of these features speaks to the need for convenience and comfort within the classroom. It also projects the participants desire to create a space that was a community. Interactions allow for the portal to the third space to be formed (Gee, 2012). When asked what they hoped for in a future classroom, participants were unsure how to answer, but they all had an opinion. What was surprising about their answers was that they all valued the same aspects of the classroom. Most of the participants wanted equity in the classroom. They wanted equity and fairness in seeing the board, access to the teacher and talking to each other. They wanted spaces that introduced opportunities for interaction. Several of the participants drew round tables (See Appendix B). They viewed these round tables as allowing them to interact with each other at will. It also allowed them to easily access their teacher.

The spaces were uniformly described as being bright. Light was an important feature to the participants and most described a desire for windows in their classrooms. Few talked about wanting technology integrated into their classrooms. To the participants, the interactions superseded the need for technology. The spaces that the participants envisioned spoke to their desire for interaction. The lack of interactions is what drove their previous experiences to be difficult and what made their American experiences better. The forming of a friendship in the classroom is a gatekeeper in vulnerable situations such as learning a second language. The space the participants described paid heed to this need.

Conclusion

The themes that shape the experiences of participants were varied. It appeared that the journey through education was not always easy. Participants described what it felt like to struggle and succeed; what it was like to be treated as different from everyone else. The experiences that each participant had within their education were legitimate and should be

considered when thinking about constructing a space where students will spend that majority of their childhood and adolescence. The stories that are created allow for a community to be formed *"the* primary way—human beings make sense of their experiences is by casting it in a narrative form" (Gee, 1985, p. 11).

The process of aging itself is difficult, but a classroom can be a tinderbox where a student can feel like every day is a struggle to just fit in or it can be a haven where they are acknowledged for their accolades and accepted despite their struggles. The participants shared their stories and then they were compiled in a meaningful way that would be understandable to an outside observer. The themes that emerged from these stories allowed for comparison across experiences, but the stories were hopefully true to the original intentions of the teller "a potential warrant for the validly of my interpretation is whether it makes sense to the respondent" (Mishler, 1990, p. 427). Ultimately, the themes that emerged from the stories that were constructed by the participants and the survey interview data will help to answer the research questions in the next chapter.

Spaces in any shape, but especially classroom spaces, are a balancing act as the actors and the spaces form to create a community or an environment that treats education as more than a transaction, but an interactional relationship. Education, as an event, takes the experiences of each actor and allows them to construct a space for their own education, making all knowledge valid within its space. "To reconfigure the landscape of what can be seen and what can be thought is to alter the field of the possible and the distribution of capacities and incapacities" (Rancière, 2011, p. 49).

Chapter 6: Conclusion

Students each experience their education in ways that are unique to them. The experiences that the participants in this study shared were incredibly diverse and robust. Their experiences detailed what it meant to them to be English learners in multiple educational contexts. They talked about their struggles and successes throughout their education, depicting their classrooms as spaces where they were actors but not shapers of the space. They used the spaces for their benefit, but also to hide in plain sight when they just did not fit in. The spaces were more than just the background for their education, but where they began to interact with the linguistic, cultural, social and temporal layers of space, allowing them to modify the spaces to form access points to the third space— a space that pierces through the other layers of space, allowing for co-construction and sharing of knowledge. This third space, when activated, is where education as an event occurs.

Thinking of classroom spaces as more than just physical spaces allows them to be transformative for knowledge acquisition and the melding of multiple forms of knowledge. The classroom spaces became more than just physical locations, but spaces where community formation was possible through the co-construction of multiple layers. Educational spaces can gradually transform into communities of practice as Gee (2012) and Holland et al. (2011) describe. This transformation allows them to move from mere affinity spaces (Gee, 2012) to ones where the active participation in the spaces creates ownership and engagement in not just the space as a physical location but the co-construction of the spaces to build education as an event with others as a co-constructed community.

These classroom spaces are the first communities that individuals belong to beyond their families and their family–affiliated communities. Therefore, classroom spaces, for younger

195

students initially, are where they begin to understand and shape the inter-spaces between the layers of space to not just learn about the boundaries but construct their third spaces. These spaces are shaped by the students and the students shape the space. It is transactional, as Rosenblatt (2005) described, and the spaces are produced by the social, cultural, linguistic and temporal layers that participants bring into a place (Lefebvre, 1991).

Therefore, it is important to understand how the spaces of education are shaped and perceived by the individuals that construct their lived experience within and through them. Using the data collected and "chosen as representative of patterns I was finding in the full data set," I will answer the research questions in this closing chapter (Mishler, 1990, 427). The questions were answered in the study, but the answers were not necessarily what was initially projected as the response. Without a space that is created through the manipulation of the physical realm, social realm, cultural realm and linguistic realm a context for the classroom as an event and education as a goal seems difficult to meet.

How do students experience their educational spaces, both the physical space and beyond the physical?

Space is not a single layer, but a collective of layers. As Burns (2009) explains, the first space is the physical space. This is where students begin to interact with both their physical classroom environment and the educational experiences that are planned for them within the space. The experiences in the physical space ultimately shape the ability to create a third space where knowledge can be co-constructed.

In these spaces, it is understood that the educational environment that is being coconstructed first begins with the understanding that spaces are rooted in their temporal experiences and those carry with them the legacies of the past. For students, this means that their past educational experiences, which may be reflected in the physical organization, dictate the expectations of how the environment of the class will be organized. This means that if students see formatted classrooms with straight rows and columns of desks, they will expect to learn through memorization and that there will be little interaction between themselves and their peers or their teachers. The expectation will be that there will be testing and performance, but little academic interaction in the space. This is what students surmise will take place. However, if the first physical space is organized differently, it "forces a radical break between the historical and economic realms" (Lefebvre, 1991, p.75). This means that the historical legacy present in the physical space does not shape the economy of the space, in the sense of the potential interactions within the space. The changes in the first physical space allow for the detachment from the legacy of the past. Students are allowed to see the potential in the space as different from the past that has dictated their education. That does not guarantee that the experience will be an improvement for each individual student, merely that it will be different, and the experience may be beneficial for the students that struggled in the past, as most of the participants did.

The first physical space enables students to understand the implicit expectations in the classroom, understanding if the traditional education power hierarchy will be enforced or if the hierarchy will be modified in lieu of the perception of the physical space. Oftentimes the person at the front of the room, the teacher, wields the power over the students. This expectation is not unlike what was discussed in discipline and power through the panopticon (Foucault, 1975). The panoptic allows for everyone to be observed and to observe. This mutual observation leads to monitoring for behavior, a type of policing if you will. The policing enables discipline for unfavorable behavior. The behavior is not solely defined as physical action, but also language monitoring (Gregg, 1984).

This monitoring is part of the experiences in the first space of a classroom. The physical layout of the space dictates the experiences of the other spaces and enables or prevents interactions and establishment of other layers of space. What this means in terms of the data, is that students who perceive their classroom spaces as being similar to their past experiences, expect their learning expectations and outcomes to be similar. They expect that the teacher will follow a similar procedure to their past experiences, which was being lectured at and being expected to perform in front of their peers. Ultimately, this means when the classroom's physical space stays consistent with past experiences, the expectations for future interactions will be similar to those from the past.

However, the past can be divorced from the present and future when the first space exhibits a different form. So, for these students it means changing the desks to tables or allowing for movement and interaction. It can even be as simple as the teacher walking around the classroom, allowing students to engage. The ideal classrooms that were presented speak to the desire for interaction and movement in the classroom. This allowed the participants to experience learning as a form of interaction and education becomes an event within a space.

It is through these first physical spaces of classrooms that individuals within the space begin to access the other spaces present. The physical space provides the portal to the third space (Gee, 2012). When the physical space is constructed to allow comfort and safety, the students are able to explore the linguistic landscape and be active participants within the space, rather than passive consumers of information. A space is what allows these students to be participants of education, making their goals through the co-construction of the spaces.

How does a linguistic landscape help us understand the social construction of space?

Although I initially thought the linguistic landscape would help to understand the social construction of space in the classroom, and it did, but not in the expected manner. Linguistic landscapes are traditionally viewed as the written linguistic tokens that adorn spaces, but the oral language-scape created a more powerful understanding of the social constructions within the space.

The election of who can speak, when they can speak and what they can speak created a social hierarchy within the classroom space that impacted learning as an educational event. In the past experiences of the participants, the oral language-scape conveyed the power dynamics of the classroom. In the traditional classrooms of the students, the teacher was the only individual that possessed the cultural capital to speak at will. The teacher had the ability to self-select (Mchoul 1978). They had the ability to interrupt and to dictate when the students were to speak. This choice of when and who could speak helps to communicate the social construction of the classroom. The participants were made to feel that their position within the space and their right to the space was limited through the ability to define their own interactions.

Verbal interactions are one manner that helps to construct a space. It helps to create a community through building language together. However, when such interactions are limited, the social actors are limited by their lack of communication. Therefore, interactions become essential for a social learning space to be created. By social learning space I mean one where students have the ability to construct meaning through their language use. It is a freedom of sorts to allow students the ability to communicate using the medium of instruction: English.

Despite interactions being important to the construction of a social space, only using interactions to shape a social space would lead to a chaos that may not allow for education to

occur. Diversity in interactions and the physical organization of a space allows a social space to be constructed "illustrate[ing] how classroom diversity is a potential classroom resource for individual and collective growth" (Dyson, 1997, p. 6). A social space requires not just language to form it, but a diversity of experiences. Therefore, the language was not the only aspect of space that constructed the social space. The physical organization of the space also contributed to creating a social space. When teachers remain at the front of the room, continually monitoring the students for preferred behavior, the physical space constructs a social space that uses "fear" to build compliance. The teacher's positioning in relation to the students creates a sense of social hierarchy, where students are deferential to the teacher, heeding their ideas to those of the more powerful individual in the room. This is further enhanced through the movement in the room. Teachers have historically been able to choose where they go throughout the room and where they can sit. However, the participants in this study were rarely allowed this luxury during their education history but were allowed to move more within their educational spaces at Lake City University. These changes allowed for participants to understand the social space of a classroom as different from the past.

The social spaces that are shaped in the past present the expectations for the present. The participants understood their roles in the classroom but were asked to reimagine their social standing in the space as they entered a new context: Lake City University. The re-organization of the social space did not mean less respect for the teacher, but was a redistribution of social capital, allowing the students to understand that their knowledge was valued in this new space. It allowed them to understand that educational experiences are co-constructed when they are most meaningful to learners. And, it enabled the space to be created through and within equity. The students in a space should feel that their voice is impactful for their own education. Allowing

impact and equity to be pillars of education spaces, creating confidence within students enabling them to transition the knowledge taught in the classroom to meaningful knowledge for them, which is applicable beyond the walls of the classroom.

Although the linguistic landscape and oral language-scape were important to understanding the education space, they were not the only shapers of the space. The organization of the physical was instrumental to the construction of a social space. Language may reinforce the social understanding of a space and the linguistic landscape may convey information about the actors within a space, but it cannot be the only tool that shapes a space into its current understanding. Much as spaces cannot be shaped alone, but are best shaped through coconstruction, language cannot be the only medium to create a space. The space can be defined and refined through language, but it is not constructed only through language. This would not allow for the other layers of space to be instrumental in the creation of space.

How does the linguistic landscape include and/or exclude students from the spaces where a classroom is co-constructed?

How can exclusion be minimized to ensure students are in control of their own spaces and education?

Language ecology is difficult to understand through an environment and each individual will perceive of the linguistic landscape differently. As has been mentioned, linguistic landscapes are not solely written language, but spoken language as well. For the participants in the study, the linguistic landscape either made them feel included when they succeeded in speaking well or excluded when they did not perform as expected. However, this same linguistic landscape could be prohibitive and demoralizing when the students perceived themselves to being "failing" or "being different." The language may have been homogeneous in the sense that everyone was

working toward the same target language, but the ability to perform in that language was dramatically different. In a way, this created a linguistic landscape that privileged individuals who had the desired language abilities and accent, giving them more confidence within the language space. But the perception of being different, even if it meant being more fluent in the target language, as in the case of Meg, meant that speaking well created the feeling of being an outsider, effectively losing cultural capital. Since Meg had an American English accent and better control of the language, her knowledge was not welcomed in the classroom and perceived as "showing-off," being too knowledgeable or being too different. Therefore, her mastery was not celebrated or used as a means to encourage others to improve but was used to embarrass her for being different. Her English skills were used to present her being less Japanese, but not American enough. She was always lacking cultural capital in these spaces.

Although spoken language contributes to creating a linguistic landscape, so too does the language that is used on the whiteboard. In addition, the linguistic tokens that decorate the walls also shape the space. The languages that decorate share a story about a common educational goal but do not act as a gatekeeper as it does in most linguistic landscaping (Shohmany & Gorter, 2008). In the classroom, the linguistic tokens were informers of the language choices of the space. In much of the linguistic landscaping research, the written tokens in environments beyond classrooms acted as a manner for a community to affiliate through their shared language. This was not unlike a classroom. But the languages presented in the exterior environments acted as a manner to assert claim to a space and leverage linguistic power. Graffiti is a form of marking of territory through language and symbols, alerting others that the area belongs to one group and not another. In the classroom environment, written linguistic tokens did not have the intention of marking territory for prohibitive means, but as a means for students and teachers to understand

that this space was to be used for learning a second language. The goal of these signs was not to keep other languages out, but welcome a new language in. The linguistic landscape in these classroom spaces can create a linguistic layer that speaks to how students can create a space of interlanguage, which is a mix of multiple languages that is comprehensible to the speakers (Ortega, 2009). This linguistic layer of a classroom is a bridge between the layers. This means that the physical space helps to create a portal and the community is the door, but the linguistic layer of the space acts as the bridge between layers. It is what allows the participants in a classroom environment to form a co-constructed space. The language is the vehicle for meaningmaking in the space.

Although the linguistic landscape was not constructed using billboards or graffiti, as traditional linguistic landscapes, that are studied are, the space that was created using language was no less diverse. The students in a classroom are speakers and writers. Their language trials are what create safety and acceptance in the space. "This shared power of the equality of intelligence links individuals, makes them exchange their intellectual adventures in so far as it keeps them separate from one another, equally capable of using the power everyone has to plot her own path" (Ranciere, 2011, p. 17). And, it is not the perfect use of one language or another, but the act of learning a language that makes the space accessible and balances the power dynamics within the space, allowing for inclusion.

The linguistic space also is integrally tied to the physical space because the spoken language, rather than the written language, was more actively shaping the classroom spaces. Written language is often chosen by an individual who holds power within the space. Spoken language, however, is often interactional in a classroom. Therefore, the use of spoken language creates a linguistic space, where there are many community members who have shaped the space rather than a singular individual within the space. This collaborative use of language is instrumental in forming a community of practice and enabling an access point to shared knowledge. In order for the language to shape the space, interactions need to be possible. Therefore, consideration to the first physical space is necessary to allow a linguistic landscape to form organically in the classroom. In much of the data that shared the participants' past educational experiences, the teacher was the shaper of the linguistic landscape, creating a story that said the target language should only be used for speaking of decontextualized language, but never for the creation of language. However, the classrooms in a new environment define the linguistic landscape through the interactions that took place, often enacting an English space that was not free of error but accepting of the linguistic differences. These language spaces were dramatically different, but nonetheless shaped the experiences of the participants and will continue to shape the experiences of future students.

The language ecology of the space is not noticeable to everyone, but it is always present. The linguistic landscape shapes the space through the inclusion or exclusion of languages but becomes increasingly important as a target language is being taught. The linguistic landscape is what allows the spaces to be bridged in the multi-layered spaces of educational experiences.

How can spaces be shaped to meet the needs of students from their own lived experiences?

Spaces are co-constructed and each individual within a space has an idea of what they would like to see and experience within a space. Rancière (2011) explains this notion the best, "[i]t is the multiplicity of folds and gap in the fabric of common experience that change the cartography of the perceptible, the thinkable and the feasible" (p. 72). Participants in this study could imagine what was possible from education after they had experienced a different educational context. It was through using their lived experiences, past and present, that they

could think through what they would like to see in a space. It was through using their common experiences that the possibilities of what students want, that a possibility could be formulated in this meta-analysis.

For most of the participants and individuals in general, equity is important to how a space is experienced. By this, it could mean a student being able to see the board without their view being obstructed or being able to hear clearly. The participants throughout the study talked about how they wanted access to the knowledge that they privileged in the form of their teacher, but also in the ability to form a community that was supportive and not overly judgmental of their experiences.

The lived experiences of students are what allowed there to be a retrospective look at the past and it "is a reconstruction of the past, shaped by the particular context of its telling" (Mishler, 1990, p. 427). Each participant was able to take their experiences and shape them into a story of their education. Every story was a lived experience and because of its grounding within reality helped to understand the experiences and languages that shaped the spaces of participants' education; the stories were not always happy, nor were they objective in their telling. However, they were all valid and helped to create a narrative of learning English in different countries. The lived experiences do not allow for "traditional notions of reliability simply do not apply to narrative studies, and validity must be radically reconceptualized" (Mishler, 1990, as cited in Kohler Riessman, 1993, p. 65). Therefore, the lived experiences of the participants were about the perceptions and these perceptions are what will shape future spaces if and only if there is attention paid to how students understand their spaces.

205

Conclusion

In answering the research question, it became apparent that the answers were tied to one another but left the opportunity for more questions about what classroom spaces mean to students and teachers and how these spaces are impactful for education as an event. Learning in a space can take many forms, but to not attempt to understand what impact the space may have on the goals of education does not pay respect to the complexity of what it means to experience education and create education as a co-constructed community event. The spaces where students and teachers co-construct knowledge impacts them throughout their journeys through education. The spaces are the backdrop of education, but continue to shape the emotional experience of education, dictating the engagement with materials. Just as the actors of education transact their knowledge (Rosenblatt, 2005), so too does the space transact itself upon the experiences of students; "the institutional stories of school profoundly shape us all" (Clandinin, 2013, p. 319).

The spaces are shaped through their layers, but the access point to the third space, where knowledge is made, is through the understanding of the physical space and how that is expressed through the linguistic landscape. Students will understand their worth through the language wherein they tell their stories as individuals, moving to construct narratives from a collection of stories, moving into a master narrative that allows the experiences to transcend a community. The spaces of education are complicated spaces, not unlike any other space, but they are the spaces where so much time is spent for children, adolescents and adults. Therefore, the spaces are a part of the lived experiences that help to create our stories and education is what bridges what could be done to what can be done (Vygotsky, 1975). The spaces become a part of the story, much like walls become part of a physical space. The space is the frame of the story, separating it from other stories that have formed the storyteller.

Through listening to the perception of spaces and their impact on individuals' views and experiences of education, we may shift attention from solely subject specific focuses to one framed through the goals of education, where the space helps the educational goals to be reached. As further research is done about education, spaces are one area where a solution can be found that is easily enacted at the micro-level, the classroom, but has impacts through the social, cultural, language and temporal realms of individual students. Although the understanding of the perception of spaces can be integral to shaping a classroom, it is not the only aspect of education as an event that is impactful for students and teachers. Space is one area where a possible solution can be enacted without re-designing buildings or starting from scratch. A space can be changed simply through allowing students to select where they sit, giving them respect, trust and cultural capital that may be absent in other aspects of their lives beyond their educational environments.

Bibliography

- Aaen, J., & Dalsgaard, C. (2016). Student Facebook groups as a third space: Between social life and schoolwork. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 41(1), 160–186. http://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2015.1111241
- Agha, A. (2005). Registers of language. In *A Companion to Linguistic Anthropology* (pp. 23–45). Blackwell Publishing Ltd. doi:10.1002/9780470996522.ch2
- Andrews, M. (2014). *Narrative imagination and everyday life*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Atkinson, B. (2009). Teachers Responding to Narrative Inquiry: An Approach to Narrative Inquiry Criticism. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 103(2), 91–102. doi:10.1080/00220670903323461
- Backhaus, P. (2006). Multilingualism in Tokyo: A look into the linguistic landscape. In Gorter,D. (Ed.), *Linguistic landscape: A new approach to multilingualism* (pp. 52-66).Tonawanda, NY: Multilingual Matters Ltd.
- Backhaus, P. (2009). Rules and regulations in linguistic landscaping: A comparative perspective.
 In E. Shohamy & D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic Landscape: Expanding the Scenery* (1st ed., pp. 157-172). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Bakhtin, M. M. (1986). Speech genres and other late essays. (C. Emerson, M. Holquist, & V. W.McGee, Eds.). Austin, TX: University of Texas Press. doi:10.2307/3684926
- Barni, M. & Bagna, C. (2009). A mapping technique and the linguistic landscape. In E. Shohamy
 & D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic Landscape: Expanding the Scenery* (1st ed., pp. 126–140).
 New York, NY: Routledge.

- Behar, R. (1996a). The vulnerable observer. In *The vulnerable observer* (pp. 1–32). Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Behar, R. (1996b). My Mexican friend Marta who lives across the border from me in Detroit. In *The Vulnerable Observer* (pp. 90-103). Boston, MA: Beacon Press.

Bell, A., & Garrett, P. (1998). Approaches to media discourse. Oxford: Blackwell.

- Ben-Rafael, E. (2009). A sociological approach to the study of linguistic landscapes. In E.
 Shohamy & D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic Landscape: Expanding the Scenery* (1st ed., pp. 40–54). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Ben-Rafael, E., Shohamy, E., Hasan Amara, M. & Trumper-Hecht, N. (2006). Linguistic
 landscape as symbolic construction of the public space: The case of Israel. In Gorter, D.
 (Ed.), *Linguistic landscape: A new approach to multilingualism* (pp. 7-30). Tonawanda,
 NY: Multilingual Matters Ltd.
- Benson, S. (2010). "I Don't Know If That'd Be English or Not": Third Space Theory and Literacy Instruction. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 53(7), 555–563. http://doi.org/10.1598/jaal.53.7.3
- Bertaux, D., & Bertaux-Wiame, I. (1981). Life stories in the bakers' trade. *Biography and Society. The Life History Approach in the Social Sciences.*

Bhabha, H. (1994). *The location of culture*. New York, NY: Routledge. Bleakley.

Bheenuck, S. (2010). Interrogating identity and belonging through life history: Expereinces of overseas nurses in post-colonial Britain. In A-M. Bathmaker & P. Hartnett (Eds.), *Exploring learning, identity, and power through life history & narrative research* (pp. 70-83). New York, NY: Routledge.

Biesta, G. (2010). A new logic of emancipation: The methodology of Jacques Rancière. *Educational Theory*, *60*(1), 39–59.

- Biesta, G., Priestley, M., & Robinson, S. (2015). The role of beliefs in teacher agency. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, 21(6), 624–640. http://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2015.1044325
- Bilmes, J. (1988). The Concept of Preference in Conversation Analysis. *Language in Society*, *17*, 161-181.
- Blackledge, A., Creese, A., & Baraç, T. (2008). Contesting "language" as "heritage": Negotiation of identities in late modernity. *Applied Linguistics*, 29(4), 533. doi:10.1093/applin/amn024
- Blevins, B., & Salinas, C. (2014). Critical historical inquiry: How might pre-service teachers confront master historical narratives? *Social Studies Research and Practice*, *9*(3), 35–51.
- Blommaert, J. (2010). *The sociolinguistics of globalization*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Bolton, K. (2012). World Englishes and linguistic landscapes. *World Englishes*, *31*(1), 30–33. doi:10.1111/j.1467-971X.2011.01748.x
- Bourdieu, P. (1986). Distinction: A social critique of the judgement of taste. London: Routledge.
- Bourdieu, P. (1991). Language and symbolic power. In *Language and symbolic power* (pp. 502–513).
- Bourdieu, P. (2003). Social reproduction. In Jarvis, P., & Griffin, C. (Eds.). (2003). Adult and continuing education: Major themes in education. London: Routledge.
- Brown, A. L., Ash, D., Rutherford, M., Nakagawa, K., Gordon, A., Campione, J. (1997).Distributed expertise in the classroom. In Salomon, G. (1997). *Distributed Cognitions:*
Psychological and Educational Considerations. Cambridge University Press. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?id=m8Yna0cjxAgC

- Burns, W. (2009). "PublicandPrivate": The trialectics of public writing on the street, on campus, and in third space. *Composition Studies*, *37*(1), 29–47.
- Cameron, D. (2007). Language endangerment and verbal hygiene: History, morality and politics.
 In A. Duchêne & M. Heller (Eds.), *Discourses of Endangerment: Ideology and Interest in the Defence of Languages* (1st ed., pp. 268–287). New York, NY: A&C Black.
- Canagarajah, S. (2004). Multilingual writers and the struggle for voice in academic discourse. In
 A. Pavlenko & A. Blackledge (Eds.), *Negotiation of Identities in Multilingual Contexts*(pp. 266–289). Tonawanda, NY: Multilingual Matters.
- Canagarajah, S. (2005). Reconstructing local knowledge, reconfiguring language studies. In S.
 Canagarajah (Ed.), *Reclaiming the Local in Language Policy and Practice* (1st ed., pp. 3–21). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Cenoz, J. & Gorter, D. (2006). Linguistic landscape and minority languages. In Gorter, D. (Ed.),
 Linguistic landscape: A new approach to multilingualism (pp. 67-80). Tonawanda, NY:
 Multilingual Matters Ltd.
- Cenoz, J., & Gorter, D. (2009). Language economy and linguistic landscape. In E. Shohamy &D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic Landscape: Expanding the Scenery* (1st ed., pp. 55–69). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Cenoz, J., & Gorter, D. (2011a). A holistic approach to multilingual education: Introduction. *The Modern Language Journal*, 95(3), 339–343. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4781.2011.01204.x
- Cenoz, J., & Gorter, D. (2011b). Focus on multilingualism: A study of trilingual writing. *The Modern Language Journal*, 95(3), 356–369. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4781.2011.01206.x

- Chan, E. A., Jones, A., & Wong, K. (2013). The relationships between communication, care and time are intertwined: A narrative inquiry exploring the impact of time on registered nurses' work. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69(9), 2020–2029. doi:10.1111/jan.12064
- Chen, S. (2016). Linguistic landscape and space: A multimodal analysis of linguistic landscape in Robot Open Space. International Journal of Applied Linguistics and English Literature, 5(6), 90-98. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijalel.v.5n.6p.90
- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (2000). *Narrative inquiry: Experience and story in qualitative research*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Clandinin, D. J., & Huber, J. (2010). Narrative inquiry. *International Encyclopedia of Education*, 26(2), 1–26. doi:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195385793.001.0001
- Conner, J. O. (2010). Learning to unlearn: How a service-learning project can help teacher candidates to reframe urban students. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 26(5), 1170– 1177. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2010.02.001
- Cook, V. (2014). Going beyond the native speaker in language teaching. *TESOL Quarterly*, *33*(2), 185–209. doi:10.2307/3587717
- Coupland, N., & Garrett, P. D. (2010). Linguistic landscapes, discursive frames and metacultural performance: The case of Welsh Patagonia. *International Journal of the Sociology of Language*, 205(205), 7–36. doi:10.1515/ijsl.2010.037
- Dagenais, D., Moore, D., Sabatier, C., Lamarre, P., Armand, F. (2009). Linguistic landscape and language awareness. In E. Shohamy & D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic Landscape: Expanding the Scenery* (1st ed., pp. 253–269). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Dekal, J. (2002). Enriching environments: A study of the physical components of enriched learning environments, factors which impede implementation, and future. Retrieved from

http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Enriching+Environme nts:+A+study+of+the+physical+components+of+enriched+learning+environments,+fact ors+which+impede+implementation,+and+future+strategies+for+success#0

Dewey, J. (1938). Experience and Education. Experience and Education. Simon & Schuster.

- Dornyei, Z. (2003). Attitudes, orientations, and motivations in language learning: Advances in theory, research, and applications. *Language Learning*, 53, 3–32. http://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9922.53222
- Duffy, J. (2007). Recalling the letter: The uses of oral testimony in historical studies of literacy. *Written Communication*. doi:10.1177/0741088306296468
- Dyson, A. H. (1997). Writing superheroes: Contemporary childhood, popular culture, and classroom literacy. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Ecker, U. K. H., Lewandowsky, S., Cheung, C. S. C., & Maybery, M. T. (2015). He did it! She did it! No, she did not! Multiple causal explanations and the continued influence of misinformation. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 85, 101–115. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2015.09.002
- Edelman, L. (2014). The presence of minority languages in linguistic landscapes in Amsterdam and Friesland (the Netherlands). *International Journal of the Sociology of Language*, 228(2010), 7–28. doi:10.1515/ijsl-2014-0003
- Edelman, M., Bourdieu, P., Thompson, J. B., Raymond, G., & Adamson, M. (1992). Language and symbolic power. *Contemporary Sociology*. doi:10.2307/2075589
- Emerson, R., Fretz, R., & Shaw, L. (1995). Processing fieldnotes: Coding and memoing. In Writing ethnographic fieldnotes (pp. 142–168). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

- Endo, H., Reece-Miller, P. C., & Santavicca, N. (2010). Surviving in the trenches: A narrative inquiry into queer teachers' experiences and identity. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 26(4), 1023–1030. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2009.10.045
- Erneling, C. (2010). Piaget and natural learning. In Erneling, C. (Ed.). *Towards Discursive Education: Philosophy, Technology and Modern Education* (pp. 156-181). Cambridge:
 Cambridge University Press.
- Fernandes, A., Huang, J., & Rinaldo, V. (2011). Does where a student sits really matter?-The impact of seating locations on student classroom learning. *International Journal of Applied Educational Studies*, 10(1), 66–78. Retrieved from http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Does+Where+A+Stud ent+Sits+Really+Matter+?+-

+The+Impact+of+Seating+Locations+on+Student+Classroom+Learning#0

- Firth, A., & Wagner, J. (1997). On discourse, communication, and (some) fundamental concepts in SLA research. *The Modern Language Journal*, (1990). Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1540-4781.1997.tb05480.x/abstract
- Flower, L. S., & Hayes, J. R. (1981). A cognitive process theory of writing. *College Composition and Communication*, 32(4), 365–387. doi:10.2307/356600
- Flynn, P., Vermette, P., Mesibov, D., & Smith, R. (2009). *Captivating classes with constructivism*. Postdam, NY: The Institute for Learning Centered Education.
- Ford, C., Fox, B., & Thompson, S. (1996). Practices in the construction of turns: The "TCU" revisited. PRAG Pragmatics Pragmatics Quarterly Publication of the International Pragmatics Association (IPrA), 6(3), 427-454.

- Foucault, M. (1972). Archaeology of Knowledge. (A. Sheridan, Trans.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Foucault, M. (1982). The Subject and Power. *Critical Inquiry*, 8(4), 777. http://doi.org/10.1086/448181
- Foucault, M. (1984). What is an Author? In P. Rabinow (Ed.), *The Foucault Reader* (pp. 101–120). New York, NY: Pantheon Books.
- Foucault, M. (1988). Technologies of the self. In L. H. Martin, H. Gutman, & P. H. Hutton (Eds.), *Technologies of the self* (pp. 16–49). Amherst, MA: The University of Massachusetts Press.
- Foucault, M. (1991). Governmentality. In G. Burchell, C. Gordon, & P. Miller (Eds.), *The Foucault effect: Studies in governmentality* (pp. 87–104). Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Foucault, M. (1991b). Questions of method. In G. Burchell, C. Gordon, & P. Miller (Eds.), *The Foucault effect: Studies in governmentality* (pp. 73–86). Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Foucault, M. (2003). Nietzsche, genealogy, history. In P. Rabinow & N. Rose (Eds.), The Essential Foucault (pp. 351–369). New York, NY: The New Press.
- Foucault, Michel (1975). *Discipline and punish: The birth of the prison*. New York: Vintage Books.
- Franceschini, R. (2011). Multilingualism and multicompetence: A conceptual view. *The Modern Language Journal*, 95(3), 344–355. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4781.2011.01202.x

García, O., & Sylvan, C. E. (2011). Pedagogies and practices in multilingual classrooms:
Singularities in pluralities. *Modern Language Journal*, 95(3), 385–400.
doi:10.1111/j.1540-4781.2011.01208.x

- Garrett, P., & Young, R. F. (2009). Theorizing affect in foreign language learning: An analysis of one learner's responses to a communicative Portuguese course. *Modern Language Journal*, 93(2), 209–226. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4781.2009.00857.x
- Gee, J. P. (1985). The narrativization of experience in the oral style. *Boston University Journal of Education, 167,* 9-35.
- Gee, J. P. (2004). *Situated language and learning: A critique of traditional schooling*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Gee, J. P. (2012). Social linguistics and literacies: Ideology in discourses. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Gee, J. P. (2013). *The Anti-Education era: Creating smarter students through digital learning*. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gee, J. P. (2015). Discourse analysis: Status, solidarity and social identity. In *Social linguistics and literacies* (pp. 90–121). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Goffman, E. (1981). *Forms of talk*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press. ('Replies and responses', pp. 5-77; 'Footing', pp. 124-59)
- Gomez, M. L. (1999). Narrating My Life. In C. A. Grant (Ed.), *Multicultural research: A reflective engagement with race, class, gender and sexual orientation* (pp. 77–88).
 Padstow, Cornwall: Taylor & Francis Group.

- Gomez, M. L. (2010). Talking about ourselves, talking about our mothers: Latina prospective teachers narrate their life experiences. *The Urban Review*, 42(2), 81–101. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-009-0126-1
- Gomez, M. L., & Rodriguez, T. L. (2011). Imagining the knowledge, strengths and skills of Latina prospective teacher. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, *38*(1), 127–146.
- Gomez, M. L., & White, E. (2010). Seeing one another as "other." *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 26(4), 1015–1022. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2009.10.044</u>

Gomez, M. L., Rodriguez, T. L., & Agosto, V. (2008a). Life histories of Latino/a teacher candidates. *Teachers College Record*. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=34641635&site=ehost -live&scope=site

- Gomez, M. L., Rodriguez, T. L., & Agosto, V. (2008b). Who are Latino prospective teachers and what do they bring to US schools? *Race, Ethnicity and Education*, 11(3), 267–283. doi:10.1080/13613320802291165
- Gomez, M. L., Schieble, M., Curwood, J. S., & Hassett, D. (2010). Technology, learning and instruction: Distributed cognition in the secondary English classroom. *Literacy*, 44(1), 20–27. doi:10.1111/j.1741-4369.2010.00541.x
- Goodson, I. (2014). Developing life themes. In I. Goodson & S. Gill (Eds.), *Critical narrative as pedagogy* (pp. 147–164). New York, NY: Bloomsbury Publishing Inc.
- Goodson, I. F. (2013). Developing narrative theory: life histories and personal representations. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Gorter, D. (2006a). Further possibilities for linguistic landscape research. In Gorter, D. (Ed.),
 Linguistic landscape: A new approach to multilingualism (pp. 81-89). Tonawanda, NY:
 Multilingual Matters Ltd.
- Gorter, D. (2006b). Introduction: The study of the linguistic landscape as a new approach to multilingualism. In Gorter, D. (Ed.), *Linguistic landscape: A new approach to multilingualism* (pp. 1-6). Tonawanda, NY: Multilingual Matters Ltd.
- Gorter, D. (2013). Linguistic landscapes in a multilingual world. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, *33*, 190–212. doi:10.1017/S0267190513000020
- Gorter, D., & Cenoz, J. (2011). A multilingual approach: Conclusions and future perspectives: afterword. *Modern Language Journal*, 95(3), 442–445. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4781.2011.01203.x
- Grant, C. A. (2012). Cultivating flourishing lives: A robust social justice vision of education.
 American Educational Research Journal, 49(5), 910–934.
 doi:10.3102/0002831212447977
- Gregg, K. R. (1984). Krashen's Monitor and Occam's Razar. *Applied Linguistics*, 5. Retrieved April 12, 2014, from

http://applij.oxfordjournals.org.ezproxy.library.wisc.edu/content/5/2/79.extract#cited-by.

- Guaïtella, I. (1999). Rhythm in speech: What rhythmic organizations reveal about cognitive processes in spontaneous speech production versus reading aloud. *Journal of Pragmatics*, *31*, 509-523.
- Gutiérrez, K. D. (2008). Developing a sociocritical literacy in the third space. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 43(2), 148–164. <u>http://doi.org/10.1598/RRQ.43.2.3</u>

- Gutierrez, K. D., Baquedano-Idpez, P., & Alvarez, H. H. (1999). Building a culture of collaboration through hybrid language practices. *Theory into Practice*, *38*(2), 87–93.
- Gutiérrez, K. D., Baquedano-López, P., & Tejeda, C. (1999). Rethinking diversity: hybridity and hybrid language practices in the third space. *Mind, Culture, and Activity*, 6(4), (pp. 286–303). doi:10.1080/10749039909524733
- Hanauer, D. I. (2009). Science and the linguistic landscape: A genre analysis of representational wall space in a microbiology laboratory. In E. Shohamy & D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic Landscape: Expanding the Scenery* (1st ed., pp. 287–301). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hassett, D. (2006). Technological difficulties: A theoretical frame for understanding the nonrelativistic permanence of traditional print literacy in elementary education. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *38*(2), 135–159. doi:10.1080/00220270500363703
- He A. W. (2004). CA for SLA: Arguments for the Chinese Language Classroom. *The Modern Language Journal*, 88(4), 568-582.
- Holland, D., Lachiotte Jr., W., Skinner, D., & Cain, C. (1998). *Identity and agency in cultural worlds*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Huebner, T. (2006). Bangkok's linguistic landscapes: Environmental print, codemixing and language change. In D. Gorter, Ed., *Linguistic landscape: A new approach to multilingualism*, (pp. 31-51). Clevedon, UK: Multilingual Matters.
- Huebner, T. (2009). A framework for the linguistic analysis of linguistic landscapes. In E.Shohamy & D. Gorter, (Eds.), *Linguistic landscape: Expanding the scenery*, (pp. 70-87).NY and London: Routledge.

- Hult, Francis M. (2009). Language coology and linguistic landscape analysis. In E. Shohamy & D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic Landscape: Expanding the Scenery* (1st ed., pp. 88–104). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hymes, D. (1964) Introduction. In J. Gumperz and D. Hymes, eds., The ethnography of communication. American Anthropologist 66 (6), pt. 2:1-34.
- Hymes, D. (1972). Modes of the interaction of language and social life. In J.J. Gumperz and D.Hymes (eds) *Directions in Sociolinguistics: The Ethnography of Communication*, New York: Holt, Rhinehart and Winston, (pp. 35-71).
- Ivey, G., & Johnston, P. H. (2013). Engagement with young adult literature: Outcomes and processes. *Reading Research Quarterly*, (2012), n/a-n/a. <u>http://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.46</u>
- Jenkins, J. (2006). Current perspectives on teaching world Englishes and English as a Lingua Franca. *TESOL Quarterly*, 40(1), 157. http://doi.org/10.2307/40264515
- Jick, T., D. (1979). Mixing qualitative and quantitative methods: Triangulation in action. Administrative Science Quarterly. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/2392366?seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents.
- John, V. M. (2016). Transformative learning challenges in a context of trauma and fear: An educator's story. *Australian Journal of Adult Learning*, *56*(2).
- Johnson Lachuk, A., & Gomez, M. L .(2011). Listening carefully to young adolescent youth of color. *Middle School Journal*, 3, 6-14.
- Johnson, K. E. (2006). Teachers of English to speakers of other languages. *TESOL Quarterly*, 40(1), 235–257. doi:10.5054/tq.201

- Kallen, J. (2009). Tourism and representation in the Irish linguistic landscape. In E. Shohamy & D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic Landscape: Expanding the Scenery* (1st ed., pp. 270–283). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Kalua, F. (2009). Homi Bhabha's Third Space and African identity. *Journal of African Cultural Studies*, 21(1), 23–32. http://doi.org/10.1080/13696810902986417
- Kasper, G. (2004). Participant Orientations in German Conversation-for-Learning. *The Modern Language Journal*, 88(4), 551-567.
- Keenan, E. K., & Miehls, D. (2008). Third space activities and change processes: An exploration of ideas from social and psychodynamic theories. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, *36*(2), (pp. 165–175). doi:10.1007/s10615-007-0117-1
- Kohler Riessman, C. (1993). Narrative Analysis. SAGE Publications.
- Kohler Riessman, C. (2008). Narrative Methods for the Human Sciences. SAGE Publications.
- Krajcik, J. S., & Shin, N. (2014). Project-Based Learning. In Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139519526.018
- Kramsch, C., & Whiteside, A. (2008). Language ecology in multilingual settings: Towards a theory of symbolic competence. *Applied Linguistics*, 29(4), (pp. 645–671).
 doi:10.1093/applin/amn022
- Krashen, S. (1984). Writing: Research, theory, and application. New York: Pergamon Press.
- Kress, G. and van Leeuwen, T. (1998). Front page: (The critical) analysis of newspaper layout.In A. Bell and P. Garret (Ed.), Approaches to Media Discourse, Oxford, Blackwell, 1998, (pp. 186-219).

- Labov, W. (1972). The social stratification of (r) in New York city department stores. Krugly-Smolska. In N. Coupland & A. Jaworski (Eds.), Sociolinguistics: A reader and coursebook (pp. 168–178). Hampshire, UK: Macmillan Press.
- Lacinski, T. (2008). A Case Study Investigation of Student Perceptions of Learning in a Redesigned University Classroom Environment. Central Michigan University.
- LaMarre, P. (2003). Growing up trilingual in Montreal: Perceptions of college students. In R.
 Bayley & S. R. Schecter (Eds.), *Language Socialization in Bilingual and Multilingual Societies* (pp. 62–80). Tonawanda, NY: Multilingual Matters Ltd.
- Landry, R. & Bourhis, R. Y. (1997). Linguistic landscape and ethnolinguistic vitality: An empirical study. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, 16(1), (pp. 23-49).
- Lang, D. (2002). Teacher Interactions within the Physical Environment: How Teachers Alter Their Space and/or Routines Because of Classroom Character. *ERIC*. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED472265.pdf

Lantolf, J.P. & Thorne, S.L. (2006). Sociocultural theory and the genesis of second

Lefebvre, H. (1991). The production of space. Oxford, OX, UK: Blackwell.

- Lillis, T. (2008). Ethnography as method, methodology, and "deep theorizing": Closing the gap between text and context in academic writing research. *Written Communication*, 25(3), 353–388.
- Linde, C. (1993a). *Life stories: The creation of coherence*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Liu, Y., & Xu, Y. (2011). Inclusion or exclusion?: A narrative inquiry of a language teacher's identity experience in the "new work order" of competing pedagogies. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27(3), 589–597. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2010.10.013

- Makoni, S., & Pennycook, A. (2007). Disinventing and reconstituting languages. In S. Makoni &
 A. Pennycook (Eds.), *Disinvesting and Reconstituting Languages* (1st ed., pp. 1–41).
 Tonawanda, NY: Multilingual Matters Ltd.
- Malinowski, D. (2009). Authorship in the linguistic landscape: A multimodal-performance view.
 In E. Shohamy & D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic Landscape: Expanding the Scenery* (1st ed., pp. 107-125). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Markee, N. (2004). Zone of interactional transition in ESL classes. *The Modern Language Journal*, 88(4), (pp. 583-596).
- Markee, N., & Kasper, G. (2004). Classroom talks: An introduction. *The Modern Language Journal*, 88(4), 491-500.
- Mason, M. (2010,). Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews. Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 11(3). Retrieved from file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/Owner/My%20Documents/Pat/NCU/Disser tation%20Proposal/Mason%20saturation%20article.htm
- Mathison, S. (1988). Why triangulate. *Educational Researcher*. Retrieved from https://www.kth.se/social/files/56c71040f27654692136b521/why-triangulate.pdf
- Maynes, M. J., Pierce, J. L., & Laslett, B. (2008a). Intersecting stories: Personal narratives in historical context. In *Telling stories: The use of personal narratives in the social sciences* and history (pp. 43–69). Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Mays, N., & Pope, C. (1995). Rigour and qualitative research. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 311(6997), 109–112. <u>http://doi.org/10.1002/job.132</u>
- Mchoul, A. (1978). The organization of turns at formal talk in the classroom. *Language in Society*, *7*, 183-213. Retrieved April 10, 2012, from the Jstor database.

- McKay, S. (2005). Sociolinguistics and second language learning. In E. Hinkel (Ed.), *Handbook* of research in second language teaching and learning (pp. 281–291). Mahwah, N.J: L. Erlbaum Associates.
- McNamara, T. (2011). Multilingualism in education: A poststructuralist critique. *Modern Language Journal*, 95(3), 430–441. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4781.2011.01205.x
- Migayrou, F. (Ed.). (2014). Bernard Tschumi: Architecture: concept and notation. Paris, France: Éditions du Centre Pompidou.
- Mishler, E. G. (1990). Validation in inquiry-guided research: The role of exemplars in narrative studies. *Harvard Educational Review*, 60 (4), 415-442.
- Mishler, E. G. (1999). *Storylines: Craftartists' narrative identity*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Mitton-Kükner, J., Nelson, C., & Desrochers, C. (2010). Narrative inquiry in service learning contexts: Possibilities for learning about diversity in teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 26(5), 1162–1169. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2010.01.001
- Moïse, C. (2008). Protecting French: The view from France. In A. Duchêne & M. Heller (Eds.),
 Discourses of Endangerment: Ideology and Interest in the Defence of Languages (1st ed.,
 pp. 216–237). New York, NY: A&C Black.
- Mondada, L., & Doehler, S. P. (2004). Second language acquisition as situated practice: Task accomplishment in the French second language classroom. *The Modern Language Journal*, 88(4), (pp. 501-518).
- Mori, J. (2004). Negotiating sequential boundaries and learning opportunities: A case from a Japanese language classroom. *The Modern Language Journal*, 88(4), (pp. 536-550).

- Moss, B. (1992). Ethnography and composition: Studying language at home. (Kirsch & Sullivan, Eds.)*Methods and Methodology in Composition Research*. Cambridge University Press.
- Moursund, D. (2003). The case of PBL. In Project-Based Learning Using Information Technology, Second Edition.
- Narrative Inquiry. (2000). *Journal of Interior Design*, 26(1), iv–v. doi:10.1111/j.1939-1668.2000.tb00347.x

Nelson, H. L. (2001). Damaged identity: Narrative repair. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.

- Newman, E. (2010), Becoming a gay male primary teacher. In A-M. Bathmaker & P. Hartnett (Eds.), *Exploring learning, identity, and power through life history & narrative research* (pp. 39-54). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Norton, B. (2013). *Identity and language earning: Extending the conversation* (2nd ed.). Tonawanda, NY: Multilingual Matters. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?id=4dkDAQAAQBAJ
- Norton, B., & Early, M. (2011). Researcher Identity, Narrative Inquiry, and Language Teaching Research. *TESOL Quarterly*, 45(3), 415–439. doi:10.5054/tq.2011.261161
- Office of the Registrar University of Wisconsin-Madison. (2016). *Enrollment facts at a glance by ethnic status*. Retrieved from: https://registrar.wisc.edu/wpcontent/uploads/sites/36/2017/09/report-enrollment-2016-2017spring.pdf

Ortega, L. (2009). Understanding second language acquisition. London: Hodder Education.

Pacheco, M. (2012). Learning in/Through everyday resistance: A cultural-historical perspective on community resources and curriculum. *Educational Researcher*, 41(4), 121–132. http://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X12442982

- Pennington, J. L. (2004). Chapter 1 The figured worlds of schools and standards the figured world of Elena Elementary. *The Colonization of Literacy Education: A Story of Reading in One Elementary School*, 266, 1–24.
- Pennycook (2006). Linguistic landscapes and the transgressive semiotics of graffiti. In E. Shohamy & D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic Landscape: Expanding the Scenery* (1st ed., pp. 238–252). New York, NY.
- Pinar, W. F., Reynolds, W. M., Slattery, P., & Taubman, P. M. (2008). Understanding Curriculum: An Introduction to the Study of Historical and Contemporary Curriculum Discourses. State University of New York Press. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?id=b0H0MrQ3c2QC
- Preece, S. (2008). Multilingual gendered identities: Female undergraduate students in London talk about heritage languages. *Journal of Language, Identity & Education*, 7(1), (pp. 41–60). doi:10.1080/15348450701804706
- Rivlin, L. G., & Weinstein, C. S. (1984a). Education Issues, School Settings, and Environmental Psychology. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 4, 347–364.
- Rohsenow, J. S. (2004). Chinese language use in Chicagoland. In M. Farr (Ed.), *Ethnolinguistic Chicago: Language and Literacy in the City's Neighborhoods* (pp. 321–355). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Rosenblatt, L. (2005). The transactional theory of reading and writing. In *making meaning with texts: Selected essays* (pp. 1–37). Portsmouth, NH: Pearson Education Canada.
- Royster, J. J. (1996). When the first voice you hear is not your own. *College Composition and Communication*, 47(1), 29–40.

- Russ, R. S., Lee, V. R., & Sherin, B. L. (2012). Framing in cognitive clinical interviews about intuitive science knowledge: Dynamic student understandings of the discourse interaction. *Science Education*, 96(4), 573–599. doi:10.1002/sce.21014
- Saudelli, M. (2012). Unveiling third space: A case study of international educators in Dubai, United Arab Emirates. *Canadian Journal of Education*, *3*(2012), 101–116. Retrieved from <u>http://journals.sfu.ca/cje/index.php/cje-rce/article/view/1097</u>
- Schamroth Abrams, S. (2012). Digital narratives by digital natives: Online inquiry and reflective practices in a third space. *Counterpoints*, *411*, 112–133.
- Seedhouse, P. (2004). *The interactional architecture of the language classroom: A conversation analysis perspective*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Shohamy E., & Gorter, D. (2009). Introduction. In Shohamy E. & D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic landscape: Expanding the scenery* (pp. 1–10). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Shohamy E., & Waksman, S. (2009). Linguistic landscape as an ecological arena: Modalities, meanings, negotiations, education. In Shohamy E. & D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic landscape: Expanding the scenery* (pp. 313–332). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Smagorinsky, P. (2001). If meaning is constructed, what is it made from? Toward a cultural theory of reading. *Review of Educational Research*, 71(1), 133–169. doi:10.3102/00346543071001133
- Smagorinsky, P. (2008). The method section as conceptual epicenter in constructing social science research reports. *Written Communication*, 25(3), 389–411. doi:10.1177/0741088308317815

- Spolsky, B. (2009). Prolegomena to a sociolinguistic theory of public signage. In E. Shohamy &
 D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic Landscape: Expanding the Scenery* (1st ed., pp. 25–39). New York, NY: Routledge
- Sztejnberg, A., & Finch, E. F. (2006). Adaptive use patterns of secondary school classroom environments. *Facilities*, 24(13/14), (pp. 490–509). doi:10.1108/02632770610705275
- Thomas, J. W. (2000). A REVIEW OF RESEARCH ON PROJECT-BASED LEARNING. Retrieved from http://www.bie.org/index.php/site/RE/pbl_research/29
- Tm, D. W. T., Moran, J. I., Delong, A. A. J., Brickey, J., Klick, K., Tegano, D., & III, J. M. (1996). Designing classroom spaces: Making the most of time. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 23(3). Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF02364747
- Trumper-Hecht, N. (2009). Constructing national identity in mixed cities in Israel. In E.
 Shohamy & D. Gorter (Eds.), *Linguistic Landscape: Expanding the Scenery* (1st ed., pp. 238–252). New York, NY.
- Tschumi, B. (1996). Architecture and disjunction. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- Tschumi, B., & Migayrou, F. (2014) Bernard Tschumi: Architecture : Concept & notation.
- Vygotsky, L.S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes*. (M. Cole, V. John-Steiner, S. Scribner, & E. Souberman, Eds. & Trans.). Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Wagner, J. (2004). The classroom and beyond. *The Modern Language Journal*, 88(4), (pp. 612–616).

- Wang, C., & Hoffman, D. M. (2016). Are WE the world? A critical reflection on selfhood and global citizenship education. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 24, 56. http://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.24.2152
- Wei, L. (2011). Multilinguality, multimodality, and multicompetence: Code- and mode switching by minority ethnic children in complementary schools. *Modern Language Journal*, 95(3), 370–384. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4781.2011.01209.x
- Xu, S., & Connelly, F. M. (2009). Narrative inquiry for teacher education and development:
 Focus on English as a foreign language in China. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25(2), 219–227. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2008.10.006
- Yashima, T., Zenuk-Nishide, L., & Shimizu, K. (2004). The influence of attitudes and affect on willingness to communicate and second language communication. *Language Learning*, 54(March), 119–152. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9922.2004.00250.x
- Young, A. M. (2014). Introduction: Reclaiming engagement through style. In *Prophets, gurus, and pundits: Rhetorical sytles and public engagement* (pp. 1–18). Carbondale, IL: Southern Illinois University Press.
- Zappavigna, M. (2011). Ambient affiliation: A linguistic perspective on Twitter. *New Media & Society*, *13*(5), 788–806. http://doi.org/10.1177/1461444810385097
- Zandvliet, D. B. (2014). PLACES and SPACES: Case studies in the evaluation of postsecondary, place-based learning environments. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 41, 18–28. doi:10.1016/j.stueduc.2013.09.011
- Zhao, Y. (2018). Reach for greatness: Personalizable education for all children. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin, a SAGE Publishing Company.

Appendix A

Qualtrics Survey Software

2/15/16, 9:27 PM

Default Question Block

Informed Consent Form for Understanding Spaces of Educational Experiences

Title of the Study: Understanding Spaces of Educational Experiences

Principal Investigator: Mary Louise Gomez (phone: (608) 263-6527) (email: mlgomez@wisc.edu) Student Researcher: Lauren Primuth (e-mail: primuth@wisc.edu)

Description of the Research

You are invited to participate in a research study about understanding how students create their educational experiences.

You have been asked to participate because you are currently or have been an ESL student at the University of Wisconsin-Madison.

The purpose of the research is to understand how educational experiences are shaped by ESL students both within and beyond traditional classrooms.

This study will include past and/or current ESL students from the University of Wisconsin-Madison.

Procedures

You will be asked questions about your English as a Second Language learning experiences both within and outside of the classroom. The questionnaire consists of 26 questions and will take approximately 30 minutes or less. Questions are designed to understand your experiences in ESL and EFL settings. This questionnaire will be conducted with an online Qualtrics-created survey.

Risks/Discomforts

Risks are minimal for involvement in this study. Although we do not expect any harm to come upon any participants there is a risk that your confidentiality may be breached.

BenefitsThere are no direct benefits for participants. However, it is hoped that through your participation, researchers will learn more about what students feel in their classrooms to improve ESL experiences for future students.

Confidentiality

All data obtained from participants will be kept confidential using fake names and all information will be kept secure using a locked cabinet or secure servers. All questionnaires will be concealed, and no one other than the primary investigator and assistant researches listed below will have access to them. The data collected will be stored in the HIPPA-compliant, Qualtrics-secure database until it has been deleted by the primary investigator.

Compensation

There is no direct compensation, however, participants will have the chance of winning the \$20 Amazon giftcard (e.g. 1 in 200).

Participation

Participation in this research study is completely voluntary. You have the right to withdraw at anytime or refuse to participate entirely without jeopardy to your academic status, GPA or standing with the university. If you desire to withdraw, please close your internet browser.

Questions about the Research

If you have questions regarding this study, you may contact (Lauren Primuth), primuth@wisc.edu.

Questions about your Rights as Research Participants

If you have questions or you do not feel comfortable asking the researcher, you may contact (Dr. Mary Louise Gomez) at 608-263-6527 or mlgomez@wisc.edu. If you are not satisfied with the responses of the research term, have more questions, or want to talk with someone about your rights as a research participant, you should contact the Education and Social/Behavioral Science IRB office at 608-263-2320.

By selecting this answer, I consent to participate in this survey. (Please provide your name (first and family names).)

By selecting this answer, I do not consent to participating in this survey.

With what gender do you identify?

https://uwmadison.co1.qualtrics.com/CP/Ajax.php?action=GetSurveyPrintPreview

2/15/16, 9:27 PM

2/15/16, 9:27 PM

Qualtrics Survey Software

Male

Female

Other

Are you a UW-Madison student?

Yes

No

What level in school are you?

1st year undergraduate/ Freshman 2nd year undergraduate/ Sophomore 3rd year undergraduate/ Junior 4th year undergraduate/ Senior 5th year or more undergraduate Graduate student

What is your ethnicity?

African American or Black American Indian or Alaska Native Hispanic or Latino/a Native Hawaiian/ Pacific Islander Hmong Laotian Vietnamese Other Asian

https://uwmadison.co1.qualtrics.com/CP/Ajax.php?action=GetSurveyPrintPreview

Page 3 of 11

2/15/16, 9:27 PM

Qualtrics Survey Software

White

What is your mother language/ native language?

What is your home country?

How many languages do you speak?

 1 language (please specify)

 2 languages (please specify)

 3 or more languages (please specify)

What languages did you learn in a traditional educational setting (school or classroom)?

What is your major?

https://uwmadison.co1.qualtrics.com/CP/Ajax.php?action=GetSurveyPrintPreview

Page 4 of 11

Qualtrics Survey Software

Have you taken any English as a Second Language (ESL) courses at the University of Wisconsin-Madison?

Yes

No

What English as a Second Language (ESL) classes did you take at the University of Wisconsin-Madison? (Check all that apply)

ESL 110 ESL 114 ESL 115 ESL 116 ESL 117 ESL 118

Other (please specify)

How many semesters of English have you studied at the University of Wisconsin-Madison?

- 1 semester
- 2 semesters
- 3 semesters
- 4 or more semesters

Did you study English in your home country?

Yes

2/15/16, 9:27 PM

Qualtrics Survey Software

No

How many years of English have you studied total?

1-2 years

3-4 years

5-6 years

7-8 years

9-10 years

11 or more years

Where did you first begin studying English?

My home country (where English is not the dominant language) In a country where English is the dominant language

Did you learn English in a classroom, when you first started learning?

Yes No

Please describe your first English learning experience:

What did your classroom look like? (You may want to talk about the desks, other students, the teacher, the books and the wall decorations. Any and all details will be helpful.)

https://uw madison.col.qualtrics.com/CP/Ajax.php?action=GetSurveyPrintPreview

Page 6 of 11

Please describe your English classrooms at the University of Wisconsin-Madison. (You may want to talk about the desks, other students, the teacher, the books and the wall decorations. Any and all details will be helpful.)

Have you enjoyed learning English?

Yes

No

Please explain why you have liked learning English?

Please explain why you have disliked learning English?

Please describe your English learning experiences:

How much listening or speaking was done in your classrooms?

	Teacher did most of the talking	More teacher than student talking	Equal teacher and student talking	More student talking than teacher talking	Students did most of the talking
In your home country	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
At the University of Wisconsin-Madison	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

Where do you feel most comfortable learning English?

In a classroom in my home country

In a classroom in at the University of Wisconsin-Madison

In an English speaking environment (on the streets in an English speaking country, making friends with native English speakers)

2/15/16, 9:27 PM

What makes is easiest for you to learn in a classroom in your home country?

What makes is easiest for you to learn in a classroom at the University of Wisconsin-Madison?

What makes it easiest for you to learn in an English speaking environment (on the streets in an English speaking country, making friends with native English speakers)?

In your home country, did you ever notice any signs or posters in your classroom?

Yes

https://uw madison.co1.qualtrics.com/CP/Ajax.php?action=GetSurveyPrintPreview

Page 9 of 11

2/15/16, 9:27 PM

Qualtrics Survey Software

No

What languages were the signs or posters in?

Only my native language Only in English In both my native language and English

At the University of Wisconsin-Madison, have you ever noticed signs or posters in your English classroom?

Yes No

What languages were the signs or posters in?

Languages other than English Only in English In multiple languages

Would you like to talk more about your English learning experiences? (Compensation will be provided for follow-up interviews) If yes, please provide your e-mail address so an interview can be scheduled.

	 	 	Yes
No			_

https://uw madison.col.qual trics.com/CP/A jax.php?action=GetSurveyPrintPreview

Page 10 of 11

Qualtrics Survey Software

2/15/16, 9:27 PM

Would you like to be entered to win a \$20 Amazon gift card? Please provide your email address and a selection of yes.

Yes

No

Thank you for your participation in this survey

Powered by Qualtrics

https://uw madison.col.qual trics.com/CP/A jax.php?action=GetSurveyPrintPreview

Page 11 of 11

Appendix B

Serena Drawings

Middle School Classroom:



High School Classroom:



Ideal Classroom:



Meg

Home Country Classroom:



Home Country School:



Lake City University Classroom:



Ellen

Home Country Classroom:

chinese 40

Ideal Classroom:

June

Home Country Classroom (Japan):



Home Country Classroom (China):



Ideal Classroom:



Sun

Home Country Classrooms:

Elementary School



High School



University Classrooms:



Ideal Classroom:

